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TYPHOID OUTBREAK IN DADE COUNTY, FLA.

APRIL 86, 1973

House oF REPRESENTATIVES,
SuscoMMITTEE ON AcgrTCULTURAL LiABOR
or Tar CommrTTeEs oN EpucaTioN AND LaBOR,
Miomi, Fla.

The subcommittee met at 9 a.m., pursuant to notice, in the Dade
County Commission Auditorium, Miami, Fla., Hon. William D. Ford
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present : Representatives Ford, Lehman, and Landgrebe. ]

Also present: Thomas R. Jolly, counsel ; William H. Cable, legisla-
tive assistant: Mrs. Meredith Branson, clerk; and Miss Edith Baum,

minority counsel.
PRESS RELEASE
Date: March 30, 1973

WasuINeTOoN, D.C.—Congressman William D. Ford (D-Mich), Chairman of
the Fouse Subcommittee on Agricultural Labor, announced today that field
hearings will be conducted by the Subcommittee in Miami, Florida, beginning
on Friday, April 6.

The hearings were prompted by 'the recent typhoid outbreak at South Dade
Labor Camp and reports of widespread exploitation of farm and migrant
workers., They will be conducted to determine whether Federal laws have been
violated and how Federal programs affecting migrant and farm workers are be-
ing administered.

Congressman Ford referred to the typhoid outbreak, in which nearly 200
cases of typhoid have been confirmed, ag the largest such outbreak in our Na-
tion’s recent history. He expressed shock and anger over reports of intolerable
working and living conditions, and of workers being held in virtual captivity
in the Dade County area.

Congressman Ford said, “Evidence presently before the Subcommittee indi-
cates that workers are living in sub-human conditions, that very serious health
hazards continue to exist, and that some Federal laws and regulations are not
being complied with, The Subcommittee intends to inquire into the entire area
of migrant programs and to determine whether or not there is a need for
strengthening existing laws or enacting new ones.”

The Congressman hinted that one proposal presently being considered is the
establishment of an Agricultural and Migrant Workers’ Commission—modeled
after the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights—to oversee and coordinate Federal
laws and programs affecting agricultural employees.

“It is obvious that something is very seriously wrong when a typhoid outbreak
of the dimension which has recently occured in South Dade County can take
place in this country, and it is even more shocking 'to read newspaper reports
of workers in this day and age living in virtual captivity.”

The hearings were scheduled at the urging of three Florida Congressmen—
Representatives Claude Pepper (D-Miami), Dante Fascell (D-Miami) and Wil-
liam Lehman (D-North Miami).

‘Congressman Lehman, a member of the Agricultural Labor Subcommittee,
was singled out for praise by the Chairman for his special efforts in providing
the Subcommittee with information concerning the present crisis.

“Congressman Lehman was instrumental in keeping the Subcommittee in-
formed of the developments in Dade County, and it was through hig efforts in
conducting a preliminary investigation for the Subcommittee, that we were
able to determine the seriousness of the situation,” stated Congressman Ford.

(1)
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The hearings, which are open to the public, are scheduled to begin at 9:00
a.m. on Friday, April 6, in the Chamber of the Dade County Commissioners, in
the Dade County Court House,

Mr. Forn. We will call the hearing to order.,

As chalrman of the Agrieultural Labor Subcommittee of the House
Committee on Education and Labor, T am pleased to have the oppor-
tunity to be here in Dade County this morning with my colleague from
the State of Indiana, Mr. Farl Landgrebe. We expect to be joined
Iater by another member of the committee, Congressman Lehman, who
is doing double duty this weekend because there is another hearing on
ecducation in Miami. Mr. Lehman is helping to make a quorum there
anc will join us later.

We are hearing this on rather short notice to people who have re-
sponded and indicated their willingness to assist us by testifying today
and tomorow, because there is some pressure on us to be addressing
ourselves to the problems that we came here to learn something about
now, rather than at some other time of the year.

‘Some of these migrant workers and some of these problems will
move from Florida very soon, and they won’t be back until next
season.

Of ecourse, throughout the United States, people have read of the
typhoid outhreak. People in many States are concerned about what
it means to them. The subsequent newspaper disclosures of problems
involving living conditions in some of the migrant workers’ camps
have brought a lot of attention to this particular area of the country
at this particular time, although from my own several years of experi-
ence on the Education and Labor Committee’s Subcommittee on A gri-
cultural Labor, none of the things we’ve heard or read about so far
are really unique. The typhoid epidemie, I suppose, is unique. The
conditions that probably led up to it are not, unfortunately, unique.

Our principal concern at the moment is in three areas. The Federal
iaws that are in existence, and whether or not they are being enforced ;
whether they mean anything in this part of the world.

Second, the possibility of solving some of the problems here, and
as they move to other parts of the country, with new Federal legisla-
tion that is pending before our committee.

In addition to that, consideration of a proposal that has come to us
from a number of people for a commission at the Federal level, pat-
terned after the Civil Rights Commission, that concerned itself spe-
cifically with the problems of the migrant workers.

It is not the intention, my intention as chairman, or that of any
member of this committee, to be here to participate in any loecal politi-
cal battle or to point fingers at anybody down here, public official or
not. We are here to learn. It is my intention, unless something happens
to prevent it, to start the hearings now and proceed on through the day
without a break unless it is an emergency so that we can accommodate
all the people who have agreed to come, some from great distances, to
be here today.

With that T'd like to call on the gentleman to my right, Mr, Earl
Landgrebe, representing the Republican side here in the hearings—
Farl, do you have any comments you'd like to make before we start?

Ay, Lavoerere. Thank vou, Mr. Chairman,.

Let me state that I am happy to be in Florida on this very pleasant
morning, And, while T am a new member on the Agricultural Labor
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Subcommittee, having been named ranking minority member of this
committee within the last few weeks, I wish to assure those present
of my deep and sincere interest in the welfare of the migrant workers.

In fact, my Second District of Indiana has a need for a large number
of dependable migrant workers, and has had throughout the year.

Therefore, I am particularly interested in the problems that have
prompted this visit of the committee to Miami, and I am anxious to
hear the testimony of Mr. Medina and all the people who will be
testifying for us today.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I am ready to proceed.

Mr. Forp. Thank you. ]
For the benefit of the observers here and so there are no mysterious

people sitting up here, the lady to our right here is the minority coun-

sel, Miss Edith Banm. ) .
Thomas R. Jolly is the counsel to the subcommittee, and William

Cable isa counsel from the full committee. o
This is Jeffrey Doranz, special counsel to the Senate Committée on
Labor and Public Welfare. Mr. Doranz is here so he can go back and
tell our colleagues in the other body what we have learned.
Fliseo Medina.

STATEMENT OF ELISE0O MEDINA, FLORIDA STATE DIRECTOR,
UNITED FARMWORKERS NATIONAL UNION, AFL-CI0, ACCOMPA-
NIED BY WALTER WILLIAMS, MIGRANT WORKER; HAZEL HALL,
AND BROOKS HALL, RESIDENTS OF SOUTH DADE LABOR CAMFP,
HOMESTEAD, FLA, A PANEL

Mr. MepiNa. Mr. Chairman and Mr. Landgrebe, we very much
appreciate the opportunity to come and discuss with you some of the
problems that are being faced by the farm workers here in the State
of Florida.

As you know, most farmworkers are excluded from most of the
protective legislation passed within the last 35 years to protect the
American working man. We are still excluded from the National
Labor Relations Act, and, from unemployment insurance. o

Our minimum wage is still $1.30, where for industrial workers it s
$1.60. We have a very minimum social security coverage. And, in most
cases, where farmworkers do get social security deducted, there is
some chance it won’t get reported.

But, we have several areas which have been of most concern the last
couple of months, and I would like to discuss that with you.

Mr. Forp. Let me say, Eliseo, that we are grateful that you have
presented a formal written statement. And, without objection, that
will appear in the transcript of the hearings. .

So, when talking to us and so you can understand when this Record
is completed, everything in here will be there. So, you can add to it
whatever you would like.

Mr. Mepiva. Thank you, sir.

[ The material referred to follows:]

STATEMENT BY ELISE0O MEDINA, FLORIDA DIRECTOR, UNITED FARM WORKERS

My name is Eliseo Medina. I am the Florida Director for the United Farm
Workers. I appreciate the opportunity to discuss with you somg of the problems
being faced by Florida farm workers.
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Farm workers in this state are facing a severe housing and health erisis. In
this state, a crew chief or grower who decides to open a farm labor camp is
supposed to notify the health department so that the camp can be inspected and
4 permit issned, if it meets certain health regulations. If a grower does not
notify the health department there is no way that the camp will ever be in-
spected. There is no safeguard to insure that the camp owner will respect the
most basic housing regulations.

The result is that throughout Florida, the going rate for one small room in a
harracks-like building with no running water is $17.50 a week. Generally the oc-
cupants must provide their own stove and refrigerator. Many families are forced
to share unsanitary toilets and showers, Farm workers’ complaints to camp
owners go unheard, or else a worker is told to move out if he does not like the
way things are. No steps are taken by the owner or the state to improve condi-
tions and make the camps suitable for human beings. A clear example is in
Alachna County. It is common knowledge that there are nine labor camps in that
county, but the Health Department has always denied the existence of these
camps hecause they have not applied for registration. It is bad enough that these
camps violate housing and sanitary regulations, but in cases where the health
department is inspecting camps, regulations are not being enforced. The United
Farm Workers conducted a survey of the camps housing Jamaican sugar cane
cutters in Belle Glade and found 192 different violations of state and Federal
housing codes. The Palm Beach County Health Department told us that they
check the camps once a month and give the operator a slip of paper telling
him to correct the violations. There is no follow-up to assure that the operator
makes the necessary repairs. The violations uncovered by our survey ranged from
pools of stagnant dirty water, torn screen doors, and windows to plugged up
unsanitary toilets. In this case the workers in Palm Beach County can take little
consolation from the faet that health department checks the housing since
nothing is being done.

In a letter dated January 9, 1973 the health department ordered the Homestead
Housing Authority to keep records of the chlorination level in the water supply
and to install an extra chlorine injector to assure proper chlorination. Neither
recommendation was followed. But Dr. Milton Saslow, Director of the Dade Public
Health Department said that they did not take the housing authority to court
hecause “it would have taken them too long.” The state housing code provides
for second degree misdemeanor for violators, but, to my knowledge, no camp
operator has ever been charged by the Health Department for ignoring the law.
The result is that the operators have no reason to comply with the law.

When it was announced that the Miami Beach water supply was contaminated,
Dr. Saslow immediately went on television to instruct Beach residents to boil all
water before drinking and arrangements were made for two chlorinators from
Alabama, so that the 150,000 beach residents would have safe drinking water.
Today, a month and a half after the outbreak of the epidemie, the South Dade
Camp water supply for the 2,000 residents consists of horrible tasting over-
chlorinated water from the eamp well that is still contaminated, and a single out-
door pipe with two little faucets bringing water from the Rex Utilities Company
of Homestead.

The Health Department was aware of the history of bad water at South Dade
dating to January of 1971 and knew the results of a January 9, 1978 test indicat-
ing that the water was unfit for human consumption. Amidst a rash of intestinal
illnesses during that month, the first typhoid case was confirmed on January 29,
1973. Knowing the background of the water situation and knowing that nothing
had been done to correct the situation, it is inconceivable that the Health Depart-
ment did not immediately prepare for an emergency when that first case of
typhoid was confirmed. Instead we find that as late as March 2 more than forty
Suspected typhoid patients had been refused admission to Jackson Memorial for
lack of bed space. Yet the Health Department didn’t make any provisions for
alternate hospital space. As late as March 4, 1973 some residents of the camp
still did not know there was an epidemic and that they should be boiling their
water. .

This kind of callous irresponsible treatment of farm workers by the Home-
stead Housing Authority and Public Health officials is unforgiveable. The worst
typhoid epidemic of the century was not, as Dr. Saslow has stated, “just one of
those unfortunate happenings.” It was a tragedy that would have been avoided
had the health department and the housing authority been properly carrying out
their responsibilities,
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We must not only examine the agencies and officials at fault in the Homestead
typhoid epidemie, but steps must be taken to assure that such a tragedy will
never occur again. Recently union representatives went to the Hillsborough
County Health Department and to the Collier County Health Department re-
questing information about the reports of contaminated water in labor camps
in those areas. They were refused any information or access to public records.
If the water in those camps was indeed contaminated, how can we be sure that
appropriate action was taken to correct the situation? How can we be sure that
the same inaction and irresponsibility that preceded the Homestead epidemie
will not be repeated in other Labor Camps in Florida?

Miserable living conditions facing farm workers off-the-job are just part of
the problem. Farm workers in the State of Florida have the worst wages and
working conditions that I have ever seen in any part of this country.

Most farm workers in Florida must get jobs through crew chiefs, a middleman
used by companies to hire and supervise field workers.

In Belle Glade, Florida, for example, farm workers go to the loading ramp
around 6:00 a.m. each morning and go from bus to bus looking for a job. If
there is a surplus of labor, the crew chiefs hire only the youngest and the
strongest of the workers. On days like this, older men and women never get a
job unless they are willing to work cheaper than the other workers. The only
standards for hiring that crew chiefs have is workers will work the most for
the least money. Job protection and the right to work for a decent wage is un-
heard of in the loading ramps of Florida. It is illegal for a crew chief to operate
unless he has registered with the state pursuant to the crew chief registration
act, Chapter 71-234 Laws of Florida. There are an estimated 2,000 crew chiefs
in Florida. As of March 81, 1973, only 37 of these had registered, in compliance
with the law.

In Belle Glade there are between 125 and 150 crew leaders and only one (1)
is registered. Hvery morning, the Department of Commerce Farm Labor Office
charged with enforeing the erew chief registration act, operates a farm labor
referral office out of a trailer at the loading ramp. They refer farm workers to
these very same unregistered crew chiefs who are in violation of the law. The
State Department of Commerce has become a party to violation of the laws
that they all pledged to enforce. )

The crew chief registration act states that it is a misdemeanor of the second
degree for a grower to employ a crew chief who is not registered. Why aren't the
hundreds of Florida growers who hire these unregistered crew chiefs being pros-
ecuted? The growers, crew chiefs and the farm labor offices have made a cruel
mockery of the lawand turned it into a worthless piece of paper.

Crew chiefs are not only operating illegally; they are also committing many
other serious crimes ‘daily. Recently two erew chiefs were arrested for allegedly
having kept their crew members in virtual slavery, giving them only a pittance
with which to buy food, and keeping them prisoners with threats of violence and
actual beatings.

These are not isolated incidents. In J une, 1972, crew chief Walter Taylor and
five of his foremen were indicted by a federal grand jury in Tampa for enslaving/
beating workers to keep them in his employ. A Jacksonville grower also pleaded
guilty last year to having kept his workers in bondage. In the spring of 1972, six
men filed a class action law suit against Florida grower A. Duda and two of his
foremen for keeping them in involuntary servitude. And in California, Crew
Chief Juan Corona was convieted of having killed over 25 farm workers,

Daily less spectacular, but nonetheless serious, crimes are committed by crew
chiefs who do not pay promised wages, report social security, or provide decent
transportation. In February a worker came into our Belle Glade union office with
a check stub from a crew chief contracted by A. Duda. He had been promised
$1.80 per hour, but was given only $15.72 for a 12 hour day. When the worker
went to Duda’s office to complain about his pay, the company official crossed out
the 12 hours in the pay stub, inserted a ‘9’ and told the man to get out of his office.
I am enclosing a copy of his pay stub with the statement for your information.
Another worker came in to our office to ask how the crew chief he was working
for could take out for social security, which he was doing, if he had not even asked
for the worker's social security number.

This season a woman working with a crew chief in Pahokee, Florida became ill
on the job. She requested that the crew chief take her to a doctor. He told her
instead to go sit on the bus. When the crew returned to the bus to leave for the
day, they found the woman lying dead in the field beside the bus.
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The grim tales of suffering and injustice that farm workers endure everyday
are not meant to evoke pity, and rather to demonstrate how totally ineffective
the state and federal government have been in enforcing the few laws that
exist for the protection of farm workers. The crew chief registration act, the
health codes for migrant housing, the requirement for farm labor buses are just
a few examples of laws that are not being enforced to the detriment of the farm
worker. If the existing laws are not immediately enforced then the only pos-
sible outcome will be more typhoid epidemics, more Joe Browns, and more misery
for farm workers.

These problems of farm workers are not easily solved beecause at the root of
it is the fact that farm workers are powerless. The laws are not being enforced
because we haven’'t had the power to enforce them. We are convinced that the
only way things are ever going to change for farm workers is if we are orga-
nized into a strong union of our own. We recognize that the corrupt crew chief
system must be ended once and for all. This is why the union insists on includ-
ing a hiring hall provision in all our contraects. In the hiring hall, workers receive
jobs on the basis of seniority with the company irregardless of sex, age, creed,
color, religion, langunage spoken, national origin or political belief, ‘This demo-
cratie, nondiseriminatory system will not only end the crew chief system, but
also assures the worker a job with dignity and a decent wage.

I urge you to do everything in your power to thoroughly investigate and make
public the circumstances surrounding the typhoid epidemic so that steps can be
taken to prevent any future outbreaks of this nature. We call upon the secre-
tary of the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services to send
out every available health worker to check all the labor camps in the state.
Where water is found to be contaminated, the wells should be immediately shut
down and arrangements made to bring in clean drinking water. All camp
operators that refuse to comply, must be prosecuted as prescribed by law. To do
less would be gambling with the lives and health of the farm workers. We hope
you'll use your offices to secure enforcement of the crew leader registration act
by the Fla. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of Labor. Growers
illegally hiring unregistered crew leaders must be made liable for their actions.
It must be made clear that the state of Florida and the federal government
will not stand by as its citizens are enslaved by unserupulous growers and
crew chiefs.

For too long farm workers have been condemned to second class citizenship
in our society. With your help we can end the “harvest of shame” and give farm
workers the right to live and work as free men and women.

Thank you.
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OVIEDO, FLORIDA, 32765
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Proposed Budget

UFW Farm Labor Housing Project

Budget (Revised 6/2/72)
100 Units

Assume costs of:

Land $  50,000,00
Costs: Improvements 1,282,500,00
Total Coat 1,332,500,00
Debt Repayment (1% of $133,250.) $ L,797.00
Utilities (Water, sewer, no elsctric) 14,1400,00
Ixterior Lawn and Building Maintenance 2,500,00
Expenses: Interior Maintenance, Repair 10,000,00
Management ™
Office Supplies & Expenses, Legal Fgss, Ltc, 2,000.00,
Manager's Salary, S.S. 8,000,00¢
Bookkeeping 1,500,00
Property Taxes (20 mils on 1,2 million) 2l4,,000,00
Insurance (Fire & Liability $55.00/Unit) . 5550000
Reserve (10% over 10 years on 1,282,500) 12,825.00
Total Expenges 85,522.00
Expenses Per Unit (100 Units) 855,22
Incoms Estimate (Based on Budget)
Assume B5% Occ. Rate
Income Units Size Unit Monthly Rent Monthly Income
15 Eff, $ 65.00 § 975.00
31 2 BR 75,00 2,325,00
L6 3 BR 9,00 k,32l4,00
8 L BR 100,00 800,00
$8,424.00
Monthly Income $ 8,424 .00
x 12 months
Summary = WMMDS@ 12 Months 101,088,.00
x
@ 85,924 ,80
v8, Expenass 85,522,00

Je

* This management budget does little more than collect rents -

No funds are available to deal with the human problems that
must be met.
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Mer. MEpiNa. We have two problems that we feel are most concerned
for the farmworkers of this State. They are presently facing a severe
housing and health crisis. We have a registration act in the State of
Florida, and it is supposed to regulate the type of housing farmwork-
ers are supposed to live in, the type of conditions. But, the way that
law reads makes it very difficult to obtain enforcement of it.

For instance, if a crew chief or a grower wants to open up & labor
camp, he must first give notice to the health department 15 days be-
fore he’s due to open the labor camp. The labor department then has
to go down to inspect the labor camp to make sure it comes up to
standards and then after the inspection, they look to see if they are
going to extend the registration. Tt is against the law for a grower or
crew chief to operate a Jabor camp unless it is registered. )

The problem being that most of the growers never give any kind of
notice, so as a result of that, the labor camps are never checked. They
are never enforced. The situation we have today is for one-room shacks,
and the going rate is about $17.50 a week without any running water,
with outside communal toilets for the families living there. They are
rat-infested with roaches, very cold during the winter and very hot
during the summer. '

And, if a family complains about the type of housing, then they are
just told that they can either move out or just shut up and not say
anything.

We have the example in Alachua County, where Gainesville is,
there is 9 or 10 labor camps in the county, but the county health
department always says there is no labor camps in Alachua County.
And, the reason is they are not registered, so they don’t exist. .

And, the so-called labor camps range from buildings where people
are living to shacks that are not even fit for human beings.

In this State many times animals get better housing and better treat-
ment than farmworkers.

Then we run into the problem where the county health depart-
ment does check the labor camps, like in Palm Beach County, where
they go out as they told us, once a month. And if they find anything
wrong, they give a little slip of paper that tells the camp operator
to correct the problem. But there is never any follow-up to make sure
those corrections are made. In Palm Beach County, the United Farm
Workers conducted its own survey. And we found 192 different vio-
lations of State and Federal health codes—192. These range from
stagnant dirty water to torn screen windows, to plugged up toilets,
to showers you can’t even be in, for the smell of it. And, we brought
this to the attention of the health department. And, as far as we know
there’s absolutely nothing being done so far to correct the situation.

The problem in Dade County has been documented many times.
And, I’d like to add just a little bit more myself. But, Dade County
Health Department knew that the water in South Dade labor camp
had been contaminated since January of 1971.So, over a 2-year period
they had always obtained bad samples of water and apparently all
they ever did was to tell the Homestead Housing Authority they
should make sure and add enough chlorine to purify the water for the
camp residents.

Then, in a letter dated January 9, 1978, the health department final-
ly ordered the Homestead Housing Authority to add an extra chlorine
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injector in case one of them died, and the other one automatically
lncked in.

But, the Homestead Housing Authority never followed the rec-
ommendations.

And, when Dr. Saslow, the director of the Dade County Public
Health Department, was asked why nothing was done to insure that
recommendations were followed, they said it would have taken too
long to takethem to court.

To my knowledge there has never been any growers, any camp oper-
ators, any crew chiefs, ever been taken to court to assure that the basic
housing and health codes are being respected. So, what kind of mo-
tivation do these people have to respect the law? There’s absolutely
none.

But, we have a situation where the county health department now
for a couple of years knew that the water was contaminated and
didn’t even tell the people they should boil the drinking water. But,
on the contrary, in this same chamber, Dr. Saslow announced that
the water in Miami Beach was contaminated and within minutes
they had a press conference to tell all the beach residents they should
boil the water and take all kinds of precautions. And, within 12 hours
they flew two chlorine injectors from Alabama in an Air Force plane
to purify the water for 150,000 residents of Miami Beach.

It’s been almost 2 months now in South Dade Labor Camp, and
the residents there are still drinking overchlorinated water, which
tastes more like swimming pool water. And, the only clean water
that was available to them was a little pipeline from Rex Utilities
Co. in Homestead with two little faucets that were supposed to serve
2,000 people.

It would seem that farmworkers should have the same rights to
health like the Miami Beach people have, but because it was farm-
workers, the health department wasn’t in too big of a hurry.

We also have the situation once the typhoid epidemic broke out
that no precautions were taken to assure that it was handled quickly.

On March 2 we find Jackson Memorial Hospital turning people
away because they said they did not have enough beds available for
people. There was nothing done to declare an emergency and to open
up beds in private hospitals. So, people were being sent home with
aspirins and a drink of water. And, we feel this kind of irresponsible
treatment of people, farmworkers by the Homstead Housing Au-
thority and public health officials is unforgiveable.

This was the worst typhoid epidemic since 1908 in the United
States, and it’s not as Dr. Saslow says, one of these things that just
happened.

It could have been avoided had the health department been doing
their job. But, the problem is how to assure that the same situation
is not happening in the rest of Florida.

TUnion officials went recently to both Hillshorough County and Col-
lier County Health Departments to try to investigate reports of con-
taminated water in camps in those counties, and they were refused
access to public records and refused any kind of information. How
can we be sure we are not facing the same type of situation as the
Homestead farmworkers?

i1

We have the situation where a family that got sick with typhoid
are in Collier County and the children are told that they can’t go to
school, but they could work in the fields. Most of the migrant children
going up to Hillsborough County are being kept out of school until
they can prove they don’t have typhoid. But, this kind of situation
with the health and the housing is a problem that is being repeated
throughout the State of Florida every day. The law is there, but it is
simply not being enforced. It’s nothing but a piece of paper.

Buf, the housing is just one of the problems the farmworkers face.
The living and working conditions are worse here than any other
place that I have seen in this country. )

In Belle Glade, for example, the way the farmworkers get a job is
that they get up at 6 in the morning going from bus to bus looking
for a job, talking to the crew chiefs for jobs available. And, if there
is a surplus of labor, only the youngest and strongest get jobs. You
don’t know much you’re going to make. It isn’t until you get out on
the field and finish a day you find out how much you earned.

The going rate is from $11 to $18 for a 9-hour day, and the only
way that women and older workers can get a job is if they are willing
to work cheaper than the younger people.

There’s no job protection. These things are unheard of in the camps
in Florida.

And, we also have crew leader registration acts, both Federal and
State, which says crew chiefs must be registered with the State and
Federal Government before they can begin to take workers to the
fields. But, this is not being enforced

Mr. Forp. Let me interrupt you there. )

You ave the Florida Director, and State Director of the United
Farm Workers.

Mr. MepINa. Yes. i

Mr. Foro. How long have you been in that position in Florida?

Mr. Mepina. About a year now.

Mr. Forp. Have you been in contact with anyone from the U.S.
Department of Labor who has been identified to you, or, been in any
way apparent to you, that he’s there for the purpose of enforcing
the Federal Farm Labor Registration Act?

Mr. Mepina. No, sir.

Mr. Forp. Have you ever seen anybody purporting to be an inspector
from the U.S. Labor Department?

My, Mepina. Never. )

Mr. Forp. Has anybody from the U.S. Government representing
the enforcement of the Occupational Health and Safety Act ever
been around where you are?

Mr. Mrpina. Never. )

And, as a result, for instance, we have 2,000 crew chiefs in the State
of Florida as of March 31, 1973, and only 37 are registered.

Mr. Forp. I'd like to invite you to provide the committee with a
list in as much detail as available to you, and don’t wait until you
get the whole 2,000, but as many of these unregistered crew leaders
and uninspected and unregistered camps as you could get for us. And,
I promise now—and if they have representatives here, I hope they
will take this message back—as soon as we get back to Washington,
I'm going to insist on an explanation why Federal officials have not
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been around to see them, and when they’ll get around to seeing them.
So, if you can, hefore the weekend is out, give us such a list. It might
be helpful.

Mr. Mrpiva. Well, te do that T must add something to that.

In discussions with some of the people in the State level about why
the law is not being enforced, one of the things they raise is they say
the U.S. Department of Labor won’t let them use the local people in
the Farm Labor Offices to enforce the law. As you know, most of the
Farm Labor Offices’ people are funded from the grants of the Man-
power Administration. And, they were told these people can’t be used
to enforce the law of the State of Florida.

So, we have a situation where in Belle Glade, where every morning
two people from the Department of Commerce are referring workers
to the same crew leaders who are unregistered, violating the law, both
State and Federal. And, in fact, they become a party to the violation
of the law.

The crew chiefs and the growers and the U.S. Department of Labor
and the Florida Department of Commerce all make a mockery of the
crew leader Registration Act. To them it’s nothing but a worthless
piece of paper, because they are the ones charged with enforcing the
law and they are not doing it.

And, finally, Mr. Chairman, we believe that the problems the farm-
workers face, basically the root of it, is the fact that farmworkers are
powerless. They have never been able to organize effectively and have
the power to make sure that the laws are enforced.

It’s not an accident that the laws are not being enforced. It's not
an accident that the housing laws are not being enforced. There is
many incidents about crew leaders and others holding workers in
bondage and some very clear examples are the two within the last 2
months. But, that’s not the only one. Last June a crew chief by the
name of Walter Taylor was indicted by a Federal grand jury in Tampa
for holding workers in peonage.

There is a grower in Jacksonville-who pleaded guilty to holding
five workers in enslavement. And, so on as in here.

So, these things have been going on and on. And we feel it is un-
fortunate that the situations have to come up before they start to de-
cide enforcing the law.

T have some people that came with me today to talk about some of
the other conditions they are facing. And, we would like you to hear
them. But, before they come up I'd like to. know if you have any more
questions.

Mr. Forn. T want to thank you for the cooperation that you have
offered the committee here today and in helping us prepare for the
hearing down here.

We will have some other people later in the day, as I see it on the
schedule, maybe more appropriate people for me to ask the questions
that occurred to me as I go through your testimony here—and par-
ticularly when you make reference to contacts that you've had with
health authorities, and their indication that they feel powerless to have
done something.

If T understood you correctly, notwithstanding the fact some 200 or
more cases of typhoid have now been officially diagnosed and traced
to this camp at Homestead—Homestead is it ?
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Mr. Meprxva. Homestead. )

Mr. Forp. For all practical purposes, there is nothing being done
now to give us any assurance that additional carriers of typhoid are
being treated, or that the source of the typhoid infection is being
cleared up. .

As one coming from the State of Michigan, we expect this year
about 50,000 migrant workers to come to our State. Without them,
we would see my own State, where agriculture is second only to the
automobile industry in its importance in terms of jobs and the wealth
of our State, really fall off the chart because of the nature of the
cash crops that we have in Michigan. Without the annual flow of
viable workers, migrant workers who come from other areas—ifrankly,
the dollar producing agri-industry in Michigan couldn’t exist. If we
looked at this from a purely selfish point of view, it is in our interest
as citizens of Michigan to find out what happens to that work force
here in Florida, because this is the source of a large number of people
we have to depend on later in Michigan.,

And, I really wonder if people in Michigan are fully aware of how
they would feel about the fact there are hundreds of potential typhoid
carriers headed toward Michigan who would be arriving about the
same time the tourist industry would hit its peak. And, it happens
that the cherry orchards and the pickle fields and the grapes are in
the same areas that are very desirable for the tourist and for the
fisherman.

I, frankly, as one citizen, am concerned that there doesn’t seem to be
here yet an understanding of the seriousness of the problem, or an
indication that the problem would be intercepted before it could get to
the people I represent.

I think you make a very telling point when you draw the con-
trast with the difference in being able to recognize the danger of
not having good drinking water in the hotels like the one I'm staying
in while I’m here, and not being able to realize there’s no way to
build a wall around the people they care about and the people walking
around here carrying a very deadly and very contagious disease be-
cause health facilities are not being opened up to diagnose or treat
them. On that specific point, is there any assistance being rendered
by the Federal (Government to make available medical personnel to
do the diagnostic work that would be necessary to find out who is at
this point infected with typhoid? Do you know of any project
underway ?

Mr. Mepina. We know, for instance, they are asking people to stay
in Homestead. But, since it is the tail end of the harvest season, who is
going to feed them ¢ Some of the workers are being evicted

Mr. Forp. They are asking this of people identified as having
typhoid, or potential carriers?

Mr. Mepiva. Yes.

But, there is the added problem that the incubation period of ty-
phoid is 2 or 8 weeks from the time they drink the water. So, we have
thousands of people coming to South Dade labor camp before the
epidemic even started

Mr. Forp. It’s my understanding from the preparation we had
that you have some medical opinions to the effect that during the
month of January and February of this year the water was con-
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taminated to the level where it was likely to produce typhoid. Is that
correct ?

Mr. Mepiva. That’s true.

Mr. Forn. How many people would have passed through that camp
and been using that water during December, January and February ¢

Mr. Mepiwa. Several thousand at least.

Mr. Forp. Several thousand at least.

Mr. Meprva. Yes.

Mr, Forp. Please go on.

Mr. Mepina. And we have some of the people from the camp here
that can give you a better idea exactly what the situation was.

We had, for instance

Mr. Forp. Where have they been going?

Mr. Mepina. They go to’ Ammolokee, they go to Ruskin, they go
close to Tampa, then they spread out to Texas, to the Midwest, and
just keep going north, There is no way that I know about that the
public health department can put one person to follow each worker
up the stream as they go up. And, as far as I know, they are not mak-
ing any effort at all to do anything about it. And, the public health
department is inefficient. They couldn’t even do a job of adequately
protecting the workers here in Dade County or in the State, and we
can’t see how they are going to take any kind of precautions to be
able to give adequate protection to the workers when they leave here.
And. we are not aware of any kind of plan that they laid down other
than saying, “Sure, sure. We're going to take care of it.” .

Mr. Fawpereee. Mr. Medina, how long have you been the Florida
Director of the United Farm Workers?

Mr. Mept~a. About a year.

Mr. Lanoerese. And about how many members do you have a year
in this State? )

Mr. Mrprva. We have about a thousand dues-paying members.

Mr. Tanperese. Y ou normally would represent the people in Florida
who work on farms on a regular basis? )

Mr. Mrpina. We represent farmworkers in the State of Florida,
whether they are migrants or working here all year round. As long
as they work in the fields of Florida, they are eligible for entrance in
our organization. o

Mr. Lannareee. So, you do try to organize or gain membership in
the migrant workers as well as more permanent workers in the State?

Mr. Mepiva. Yes, sir. )

Mr. La~nareee. Where is the most typical area of origin of migrant
workers in Florida?

Mr. Mepiva. Most of them are based here in Florida. They are
citizens of the State of Florida.

And, what they do, from here they migrate up the stream. And,
some go up the east coast, and some up the area to the Midwest. But,
these—this is their home base.

Mr. Lanpcrese. They are citizens of America, residents of Florida,
and just fan out through the seasons, then returning here again.

Mr. Meprya. When harvest season begins here.

Mr. Lanpcrese. For my own information, when would this sequence
begin? They go up and pick cherries in Mr. Ford’s area and pick up
potatoes in my district—but, when? What time of year does this
sequence start here?
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Mr. Mepina. The season is ending right now.

Mr. Lanperese. So, it would have started maybe in February ?

Mr. Mepiva. No. The season begins, for most of the workers, they
begin returning to Florida in October and November. And they stay
for around 4 or 5, and some up to 6 months here in this area.

Mr. Lawoerese. Do they work immediately or have a sort of rest
period ? Are there crops to harvest when they start coming back?

Mr. MepiNa. When they come back, there is work, but not enough for
all the farmworkers. So, it is a forced rest period without any com-
pensation and without any kind of protection, because for them to
lose 1 day very well means whether you eat that day or not.

Mr. Lanperese. You've certainly given me some enlightenment on
the whole matter.

In returning to the subject of this outbreak of typhoid, as I under-
stand it, there have been no deaths. The work here was sufficient to
avoid any fatalities so far as you know?

Mr. Mepina. We feel, Congressman, there were no fatalities, and it
was thanks to God, and no thanks to the public health department.

Mr. Lawoereee. This camp where this tragedy occurred, wasn’t
this run by a municipal corporation? Do you know whether or not
it is true that they received most of their funding from Federal sources?

Mr. Mepina. The way the camp was set up, was they got 50 per-
cent of all their money as an outright grant from the Farmers Home
Administration, and the other 50 percent has been loaned to them over
a long period as a loan without interest.

Yes, sir.

Mr. Lanpcrese. So, the South Dade labor camp, run by the Home-
stead Housing Authority under the direction of George Eicher was
basically a federally operated installation.

Mr. Mepina. Federally funded but run by the Homestead Hous-
ing Authority, which incidentally is controlled by growers. Four of
the five on the board are growers. And, anyone that wants to get in has
to get a letter from the crew chiefs they are employed by, to get into
the housing.

Mzr. LanpereBe. Do you know how many people live in that hous-
ing project?

Mr. MEepina. About 2,000,

Mr. Lanpocerese. Two thousand ¢

Mr. MepiNa. Yes.

Mr. Lawperese. The situation here, as I understand it then, still
hasn’t been totally remedied. The water is being heavily treated so it
is unpleasant to drink, for example.

Mr. Mepina. Yes.

Mr. Lanperese. Just a couple of questions more.

In your testimony you state there are 37 crew chiefs who are
registered ? 4

Mr. MEpINA. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lanporese. They admit to that requirement. So, do you know if
those 37 legitimate operators are informing the workers of the wage
rates? If these operators manage and supervise and control housing,
do they clearly state the terms and conditions of occupancy? Do you
think the 87 are pretty much in compliance? Or, as they should be, in
total compliance ?
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Mr. Mepi~a. I think all they have complied with is the registering.
Registering themselves.

But, for instance, there is many other laws they violate, not just
simply the registration.

They deduct social security and never report it. And, many occa-
sions, we've had workers coming in to the office, and the workers have
said, “How can they deduct money from my check? They never asked
for my social security number.” And, on occasions they transport
people in open trucks.

There is a copy of a paycheck from A. Duda and Sons Co. in Oviedo.
This worker had gotten a job from a crew chief in Alabama. And,
he’d been promised $1.80 an hour. And, he worked 12 hours.

When he got paid, his gross pay was only $15.75. And, he went to
Duda’s office and complained about the fact he got so little pay.
And finally the company official just crossed out the 12 hours in the
pay stub and put in a 9 for it, so it looks like he made the $1.80 and
told him to get out of the office.

Mr. Forpn. That is the most unique pay raise I've ever heard of.

Mr. Mepi~na. But, this man was lucky, Congressman. Most people
never get anything. They don’t get no statement, no paycheck. They
get paid in cash so they have no proof they ever made any money.

There are cases of members coming into our service center, men who
have reached retirement age. And, they ask, how do I apply for
m%nmi security ? And, it comes back they don’t have enough money in
there,

Mr. LawpereBe. They are paid by the crew chief in cash?

Mr. Meprva. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lannorese. All right. T have no more questions at this time.
Thank yon.

Mr. Forp. Do you have any other people with you that you want to
speak at this moment?

Mr. Mepi~va. Yes. T'll introduce them.

T wonld like to introduce three workers that came to testify and tell
you a little more about the work. And, I'd like to introduce Walter
Williams, a fruitpicker from the area.

Mr. Wrrriams. My name is Walter Williams. I am a migrant work-
er. T have been a migrant worker all my life. I am the third generation
of migrant workers.

It gives me great pleasure to be here this morning to be able to
voice some of the things that have been wrong for so long. And, it’s
just at this time that it finally got to where we can have a voice and be
able to say something about our problems.

For just a moment I'd like to talk about the things that T remember
and the things that are predominant in the migrant way of life. The
main thing being that nobody has ever cared, you know, nobody has
ever cared enough to even talk to them.

The newspapers would come out when there was a crisis or some-
thing, and they’d ask you how many people slept in a bed or how
many dogs you had. but nobody cared enough to do anything about
anv of the problems that were exposed.

So we've gone this far without anvbody taking notice of our prob-
lems at all, and as a result of it. it just brought home lessons among
the people that nobody cares. And when your problems and when your
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life seems like there is not any brighter future to it, you just get com-
pletely hopeless and lose sight of tomorrow.

Poverty becomes a way of life. And, if you move up one year model
in a car, that is progress. It’s not whether or not you can buy a new
car or whether or not you can have really the things that you need to
eat. Tt’s just a matter of how far you came since yesterday and whether
you have meat on the table today when you didn’t have it yesterday.

The houses that we live in—for instance, some friends of mine live
in a place and there is a $20—it cost $20 a week to live there. And, if
you use more than $10 a month in electricity, then you have to pay
the bill. But, they do pay the electricity and water bills and things.
But, the houses are two rooms, no screens on the windows. One of the
houses don’t even have a window in the entire house. And, the ceiling
and the roof all fall in. And this is not, you know, this is not just an
isolated case. But it is common. The rats and roaches and everything
imaginable. You sleep, and when you wake up in the night, the roaches
fall off the root and on your face. o

And, those things, because people have lost hope, they exist in the
kind of poverty because there is no other recourse.

T worked for a man in 1970, and he charged us 50 cents a day to
ride the bus, 50 cents a day for water, 50 cents a day for signing on.
He had a camp that he charged $3 a day to park my trailer in. And,
there was sewer and water and electricity just right next to me, but I
couldn’t hook up to it. I never understood why. But, I couldn’t hook
up to the sewer and utilities, so I had to park my trailer without any
of these things. And, that made a total of $5 a day that he took from
my pay. The wife and I and three children, one Saturday went out
and worked, and we made $12, but he only gave us $7. And, you have
to pay this whether or not—if you take your own water or drive your
own car, you still have to pay that, you see, because that’s the rules
of the company.

And, in the camp there is a big high wire fence that circles the
camp. And, you can go in and out during the day, but at 8 o’clock at
night there is no way you can go in or out in case of sickness or emer-
gency. You couldn’t get in or out of the camp. You’re just stuck there
after closing hours.

He takes social security out of your check, but he doesn’t get a social
security card, because you never get any kind of statement back from
the Government—that 1t’s been paid in or anything.

The bathroom—thers is one community building with two shower
stalls and two commodes. He opens the building at 15 minutes after
the people get in from work, and it stays open 15 minutes and then
closes. There is no other facilities anywhere around. So, obviously if
you go, you’ve got to go—you just have to find a place out back of the
house or something.

So, this kind of hopelessness is what T wanted to talk to you about,
because never before have we been able to speak or say anything to
anyone.

But, the situation is changing now. There is a big difference, espe-
cially since T have been with the United Farm Workers Union. Be-
cause, this is the first time that people have ever been together to try
to do anything. Never before have they even considered the next-door
neighbors before, or tried to do anything, because they had too much
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to think about in their own life. But, now they have an organization
that they can unite with, and the difference that this has made is
tremendous with people connected with the United Farm Workers.

For instance, the hiring hall that we have, nobody is going to take
away a job because you don’t work long enough hours. Nobody is
going to take your job from you because you complained about the
pay checks. Nobody will give you any kind of a down-the-road signal
hecause you bring up a problem to the company or the people you
work for because you're injured in your job or anything else. Or com-
plained.

There is no competition for the jobs and no competition for better
jobs, because each is run by seniority. And, the sanitary conditions
in the field for the first time, we have bathrooms in the field. We have
a certain number, one bathroom to a certain number of pickers. And
we have water in the fields furnished by the company. Cold water,
too. And cups, paper cups. That is sanitary. So, these things are
changing.

And, then, you know, they have sick pay if you get sick, you get
paid. And, vacation and holiday pay you get. We have a medical plan
and a life insurance coverage. And, through this, it’s brought about
security. A feeling of security among the people, because they’ve never
had these things before.

And, at this time in Florida, the people who work under the Union
contract, they are buying more new appliances, washing machines
and new refrigerators, and things they’ve always needed and never
were able to have. They are buying these things.

And, some even buy new cars because they are secure in the knowl-
edge they have a job and a future. And their future does look brighter
than it ever looked before. And, the banks will loan better because of
the people’s stability and taking an active interest in the community
and in their affairs, trying to help themselves, where always before
they depended on somebody else trying to help and do something about
their problems.

And, now they arve banding together to try to do something to
alleviate the problems in the past. So, the banks in turn feel their
stability and they will loan money to buy things they need, and have
new houses and transportation, and so on and so forth, that they
needed so badly.

And, they are all getting interested in politics. They are registering
to vote. And this means a whole lot to me, because I've been concerned
about these things for years. And, if these people can see a ray of hope,
vou know, and when they demonstrate enough faith to start to register
to vote and take a part in the community affairs and activities of the
community. then they can come up in their social structure and in their
life hecause they do have some hope.

And, you know, they are not looking to the past. And, I have talked
about the past and what is—what is happened in the past. But, they
are not looking to the past anymore. Always before they have looked
to the past. But, now they’re looking to the future and seeing what
the future holds. And, the looking to the future and making plans for
the future and trying to do something about the future generations
that come after us.

May we make better citizens for the United States of America. 1
thank you.
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Mr. Forp. I want to thank you for the privilege of coming here to
hear you.

Walter, you say you are a third-generation migrant worker?

Mr. Wicriams. Yes.

Mr. Forp. My first experience with migrants goes to my first sum-
mers of working in the cherry orchards in Michigan in the 1940’s when
I was absolutely fascinated by seeing them. I've never seen anybody
work so hard and so fast as some of the families I saw there, with three
generations at one time, piling into the orchards and working from
the time that the dew was enough off the cherries so they would not
spoil. And, I always compared my poor production with the pro-
duction of the grandmothers or the children who were half my age.

Ever since, I have been fascinated by something. Well, you fascinate
me. Why does a migrant worker continue to pursue a type of work far
from any kind of a home base as you do, instead of just settling down
and joining one of the other Government programs like welfare? Why
doyoudoit?

Mr. Wirriams. Because these are very independent sort of people.
They like to be in charge of their own lives, and they like to feel that
they are going to support their families. And, it is them that is sup-
porting their family. And, maybe they would be better off on welfare.
D’ve been told that a lot of times. But, where is my dignity and my
pride, and where do I look in the future for my dignity and pride if I
submit myself to the welfare programs?

We do appreciate welfare, very much. And there’s times in my life
when my life would be impossible without them—but, to why people
migrate—it’s because they have to feel like they are men and women
that supply the basic needs of their family. Their own selves.

Mr. Forp. How does a parent manage to pass this on to a child, when
the welfare case has access to public hospitals and has some kind of
regular support coming for a house and some kind of regular support
for food ? And, in the dignity you describe, it’s worth the hardship that
it entails to maintain. How does one pass that on in your situation to
your children ? How do you stack it up against a kid who looks at you
and says, well, dad, these kids have got it better than me because their
dad is not willing to look for a job?

Mr. Wirriams. See, the welfare programs have not been in existence
all that many years. And, a generation hasn’t passed as yet. And, pos-
sibly we won’t pass that feeling to our offspring.

Mr. Forp. That is very important, because President Nixon and
others are continually drawing our attention to the problem of the ever-
increasing incentives for unemployment and unemployed people to
select welfare as a way of life as an alternative to this way of life.

Are you now saying to me that perhaps in another generation in-
stead of having a work force of migrants that are willing to look for
jobs, the children of these migrants might figure they are better off to
just drop off and quit?

Mr. Witriams, Yes; I think that is what I am saying. Because, you
know, unless some drastic steps are taken to relieve some problems as
I have mentioned with the United Farm Workers of which I am a
member—through that, you know, people can retain their dignity and
still be the kind of human being that they think they should be.

Mr. Forp. Where will you go when you leave for your work ¢
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Mr., Winnians. Maybe I'11 just give you a general picture of the area.
T work the west coast and go to California or to Washington and
Montana on. T go to Idaho and Nevada and Arizona and New Mexico,
Texas.

Mr. Forp. How many children do you have?

Mr. WiLriams. Six.

Mr. Forp. And you have some children who are of school age?

Mr. Wrnniams. Yes.

Mr. Forp. Are they in school here now?

Mr. WrLriams. Yes.

Mr. Forn. When will you leave here?

Mr. WiLniams. I'll leave here just about the time that school gets
out. They may miss a week right on the tail end.

Mr. Forn. Where will you go?

Mr. Wrnniams. California.

Mr. Forn. Where will you be at the beginning of September ¢

Mr. Wirniams. Il be in the State of Washington.

Mr. Forp. What will you be doing there ¢

Mr. Wririams. Picking apples. ) i

Mr. Forp. And how many children of school age will you have with
you at that time?

Mr. Wiriams. I will have five.

Mr, Forp. You travel with a trailer?

Mr. WiLriams. Yes.

Mr. Forp. A housetrailer?

Mr. WiLLtams. Yes.

Mr. Forp. Seven of you live in that housetrailer?

Mr. WirLrams. Eight.

Mr. Forp. Eight?

Mr. Wiirtams. Yes. ) )

Mr. Forp. In September you will be picking apples in the State
of Washington?

Mr. WiLniams, Yes.

Mr. Forp. Will your children be working or going to school ¢

Mr. Witriams, They will be going to school during school hours,
and it’s probable they’{l work on weekends. But, they do sometimes and
sometimes they don’t. Most of the times they do.

Mr. Forn. When will your work run out up North ? o

Mr. WrLriams. About the time it starts here. That will be about
November 15. .

Mr. Forn. And, then in September you will be in Washington ?

Mr. Wrnrtams. Yes.

AMr. Forp. How long will you be there? N

Mr. Writniams. Dl be in Washington until I come to Florida.

Mr. Forp. So you will stay till sometime in November ?

Mr. WiLLiams. Yes, sir.

Mr. Forn. And your children will go to school ?

Mr. Wiriawms. Yes. They change schools one time a year. They move
from Washington down to here, but being three-generation migrants,
T have a pattern that we follow year after year. And, they go to the
same school in Washington that they go to in previous years. And when
they come down here, it's the same thing.
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Mr. Forp. And you and your wife and yourself have maintained a
kind of stability of that pattern to your childhood and for your
children ?

Mr, Wrrriams. Yes, sir.

Mr. Forp. You take into account the type of education and the time
it is available in deciding where you go and where you look for work?

Mr. Wirriams. Yes.

Mr. Forp. Do you know as parents whether either the schools in
Washington or the schools where the children go in Florida identify
your children as children of a migrant worker and receive Federal
funds because of that ?

Mr. Witriams. I don’t know whether they receive special funds,
but they are identified as farmworkers, migrant workers.

Mr. Forp. Your children are in the school computer in Little Rock,
Ark. Do they have the school records going with them ?

Mr. Wirriams, No, I don’t think so.

Mr. Forp. Are you ever asked to fill out any kind of a form or
anything for school people to indicate that your occupation is a
migrant farmworkers rather than something else ?

Mr. Wrriams. Yes.

Mr. Forp. And is that done both in Florida and in Washington ?

Mr. Wiriams. In almost every place.

Mcr. Forp. What school district do your children attend in Florida ?

Mr. Wirriams. It’s Jesse King Elementary School in Lakeland.

Mr. Forp. In Lakeland ?

Mr. Wriiams. Yes.

Mr. Forp. Do you know where they go to school in Washington ?

Mr. Wirriams. They go in Wenatchee, Wash. But, I don’t know the
name of the school.

Mr. Forp. I don’t want to put you on the spot, and I’m not trying to
pick on your children, but I have another interest than this committee
does in the migrant education program. We can go into Federal law
on it. About 1967, a special provision was put in there to provide money
to school districts to make a special effort to see that children like
your children were not just ignored as they came through. We
are sending Federal money out to do it, and we would like to see if
there are specific ways to get out there and see if it’s doing anything.
T wonder if you would take a moment when you finish here to talk to
Mrs. Branson on the end there, and give us the names of your
children and your permission to ask for their school records from
Little Rock, Ark., to see if they are getting over there and what they
tell us they’re doing with that Federal money.

Mr. Wirriams. Yes, sir.

Mr. Forp. And I want to assure you that we in no way would
embarrass your children, but we want to find real children and find
msﬁ what happens to these programs. You could be helpful on that
or us.

Mr. Wmurtams. I’d be glad to. But, I'd like to say that there are
places we’ve gone in the past, 3 years ago, for instance, in Stockton.
We got there 2 weeks early, you know, before the school season was
out. And we tried to register the children for school. And went to three
different schools, and they would not register the kids for school.

So, I contacted the school beard. And, I can’t recall the name of the
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office. But, he was in charge of the school board. And, T had a meeting
with him in Stockton. And he did get the children enrolled in school,
although they didn’t like to go to school there.

And, T don’t have any children that is old enough to know what edu-
cation is about that doesn’t have a deep desire to go to college. I have
tried to instill that in them.

And, their education up to now has been, you know, very good. They
have received good grades in school, and they try very hard. And, they
want to have an education so they can do things other than poverty
work.

Mr. Forp. You believe that if your children have an opportunity for
access to education, they’ll have a better life than you have?

Mr. Wrniams. Yes. I certainly do.

Mr. Forp. You think that education will do that for them ? .

Mr. Witriams. Well, my aim is if I can get my children educated,
it is not that they go out and be a professional man to do things for
money like an attorney, you know. I wouldn’t really care about him
doing that. But, if he could turn that same learning and ability into
doing something for his fellow man to try to relieve the problems that
exist, then my life has meant something, whereas if I give him an edu-
eation, you know. so that he goes out and makes enough money to buy a
grove, to treat the people the way they've always been treated, then 1
have heen a failure.

But., on the other hand, if he can gain the education and responsibil-
ity to go out and try to relieve these problems throngh this education
and working on them, then T and he both have been a success.

Mr. Forn, You have a better grasp of meaningful goals in life than
many of us sitting in Congress trying to solve the problems you’re liv-
ing with.

Mr. Lanperees. Walter, T think you should put a “C.C.C.” behind
vour name. Walter Williams, cool, calm and eollected.

You have certainly made an extremely fine presentation. You have
to make apologies to no one. And, rather than ask any question, I would
like to compound my own feelings with your spirit of independence
and self-reliance. Your spirit is a challenge to all of us. It 1s certainly
the kind of spirit that bronght our forefathers across the prairies and
made this a truly great Nation. But doesn’t it bother you, as a work-
ing man, to see so many able-bodied people across this country getting
a free ride in the Federal programs?

Mr. Wirianms. Really they are not getting a free ride. What bothers
me more than anything else about it, is the fact of degeneration of
character that these free rides do to the individual.

Mr. Lanncrese. The demoralizing effects seem even more important
than getting some of your money ?

Mr. Wrnniams. Yes. That is my main concern.

See. T think that a person should have the opportunity and should
have the ability to go out and earn a living and be able to afford his
family the things they need. And most of these people think that, too,
although it's like vou say. there are some that do get a free ride.

And. T look at these cases and the person that was very highly
productive just a few vears back and working very hard for self-
determination, after being on welfare a few years or a few months, the

way the welfare system is set up, he can’t afford to work anymore.
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And by that T mean that, you know, the way it's set up, if he comes
to the place that he can buy a decent car for transportation for going
from one place to the other, he’s cut off of welfare, just because he
bought himself a better car.

And, by the same token, if he works through the summer and then
gets on welfare in the winter, when the spring starts again, if he works,
he doesn’t get on it that winter. So he’ll stay on it rather than take the
big chance of being forever without it and facing the winter without
any income.

Mr. Lanporese. You're not only a migrant worker, but you move
to places where work is waiting for you?

Mr. WiLriams. Yes.

Mr. Lanperese. You move with the work?

Mr. Wirrtams. Yes.

Mr. Laxpcesg. Just one more question: What do you do if your
children become ill1? Are there places where you know a doctor you can
call and then you personally pay for his services? Or are there some
omB@w that have doctors? Or, is it a different situation in different
areas?

Mr. WirLians. There is a vast difference in each area you go into.

Mr. LanpereBE. But, you have learned the situation and your family
gets, generally speaking, good medical care ?

Mr. Wirriams. Yes. Part of the time. That can’t be said generally.
But, it is obvious when people don’t have enough money—maybe I
should tell you this. That transportation is the overriding issue of any
farmworker that I have ever known. Because, they make as many as
20,000 or 30,000 or 35,000 miles a year on an automobile. And, banks
won’t loan momney on a car because the income is too low. And, they
have an older car, and they put money into these older cars just to
keep them going. And, so they don’t ever have money. Really.

And, if a child in Miami, for instance, if he becomes ill with a cold,
you can say, I'll go to see a doctor, but a migrant worker thinks that
the doctor can probably wait until the situation becomes more serious
so he can buy a new battery for the car. And, so we do have medical
centers and medical clinics set up in some areas, but they are so very
understaffed. And, if you make an appointment for 2-o’clock in the
afternoon, it means from 2 o’clock to dark. 1f you make it at 9 o’clock
in the morning, it means from 9 o’clock to dark. Because, you lose the
day then when you go. So, naturally when you lose a day’s work, you
are reluctant to go to the clinic unless it’s pretty serious.

Mr. Lanperese. Thank you, Walter. I liave no more questions.

Mr. Forp. Thank you very much.

We have Mr. Brooks Hall and Mrs. Hazel Hall. I understand you've
been residents of South Dade Labor Camp at Homestead. And you
live there now ¢

Mr. Harr. Yes.

Mrs. Harx. Yes.

Mr. Foro. Do you have work at the present time?

Mrs. Harw. It’s been about a year and a half, T went in welfare. And
I had to go be operated on. And, my leg hasn’t healed back. And, T
go back to the doctor’s on Monday again. So, I'm working for a Mr.
Liggett at the camp, running a coin laundry.

Mr. Forp. You’re employed by the camp owner?
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Mos. Hann, No. This is privately owned business. He has this coin
laundry. He rents the building from the camp people.

And. I worked there. But, T can't go there, can’t go in the fields
anymore. The doctor won't let me go in the fields anymore because I'm
not able to.

Mr. Forp, How many children do you have?

Mrs, TTanc. 1 have seven. Five boys and two girls. And T have five
grands. 1 have four in the hospital with typhoid. I have had one son—
he was sick 3 weeks before they took them

Mr. Forp. Four of your grandechildren are in the hospital with
typheid ?

Mrs. Harp, Yes.

Mr. Forp. Who is providing the medical care for them?

Mre. Hann, Well, we were given the understanding that the county
was supposed to.

Mr. Forn. Dade County?

Mrs, Hann. Yes.

Mr. Forn. Let’s get more specific with this.

How old are these children?

Mrs. Harr. T have got one that's three and a half and I got one that’s
two and a half
Mr. Forp. We're talking about the children with typhoid now?

Mrs, Havn, Yes.

Mr. Forn. They have been diagnosed and hospitalized for typhoid?

Mrs. Haon. Yes; they have.

Mr. Forp. When did the first one get this diagnosed ?

Mrs. Havi. The baby. which is 8 months old, she’s been in 2 weeks—
going on 3. And. the little girl, she’s been about in 2 weeks, ['ve got two
grandboys. not quite 2 weeks,

Mr. Forp. When did you first suspect. there was something wrong
with the children? )

Mrs. Havr. The beginning was my son, my 14-year-old. He had it
real bad. And it was on the fourth week before they sent him to the
hospital. And he was down where he couldn’t hardly walk. They sent
him to Homestead Clinie—they sent him to Goulds Clinic, and Gould
Clinic said that he didn’t have anything but a bad cold or the flu.

Well, they gave him aspirin and sent him back home.

Mr. Forn. When?

Mrs. Harw. This was around in February.

ATr. Foro. And when did some doctor finally see him and decide he
had tvphoid?

Vrs., Hawr. The third week they finally took some more tests, and
a1l of n sudden they said on the fourth week—they sent for me and
said to get him in Jackson right away. And, he was in a conditlon
where he can just barely make it. And, when I took him to Goulds
Clinic. the last time, they put him in a wheelchair, and then 1n a van,
anel said that he couldn’t walk. And, on the fourth week they said to
take him to Jackson. And, he was delirious. He had a temperature of
105.+4.

T took him to Jackson. The first time I took him over there, they gave
him a cold bath, got his fever down, and sent him back home. Then,
when they did send for him, I had to sit up with him all night long
hefore getting a bed for him.
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Mr. Forp. You're describing the family situation now.

Mrs. Harr. Yes.

Mr. Forp. How many people live together in that family?

Mrs. Harr. I have eight counting myself and the grands.

Mr. Forp. And four of the wmowm in the household now are hos-
pitalized with typhoid?

Mrs. Harr. Yes.

Mr. Forp. Are the rest of you people been subjected to medical tests
to see if you're carrying typhoid?

Mrs. Harr. Yes.

Mr. Forp. When did that happent?

Mrs. Harr. O, it’s been the last month, I think it was, when we
had our test.

Mr. Forp. Soon after your first child was diagnosed?

Mrs. Harr. Yes. The test came back saying it was OK. And, just
before the week was out I sent my daughter, my oldest daughter had to
go.

Mr. Forp. Was any attempt made to check any of the people with
whom you had close contact?

Mrs. Harr. Well, they're still taking tests, but it seems like the
tests don’t do much good. .

Mr. Forp. Do you boil your water before you use it now ?

Mrs. Hair. I have been buying water.

Mr. Forp. You’ve been buying water?

Mrs. Harr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Forp. Where do you buy water?

Mrs. HarLr. 7-11, or any of the big stores.

Mr. Forp. Do you use that for drinking and cooking ¢

Mrs. Harr. I use that for drinking and cooking.

Mr. Forp. That is a substantial expense, isn’t it?

Mrs. Harw. It sure is.

Mr. Forp. Why do you do that?

Mrs. Haro. T would rather do that than see another member of my
family come down sick again. But, still there is no guarantee.

Mr. LanpcresE. They could have a test today that is negative, and
tomorrow you could come down with it?

Mrs. Harn. Yes.

Mr. LANDGREBE. Are these children normally in school ?

Mrs. Harr. T have one in school. That is, my 14-year-old. I have a
daughter 20 years old.

Mr. Forp. The grandchildren are too small for school %

Mrs. Harr. They are too small for school.

Mr. Forp. You are the sole support for this family?

?ﬁ.m. Hart. No, my daughter works. I have two daughters that
works.

Mr. Forp. Any questions for thislady now?

_Mr. Lanporese. 1 don’t think so. I think that you’ve gotten the
situation.

Mr. Forp. Any shots or inoculations?

Mrs. Harw. They won’t give shots. They say it doesn’t do any good,
because I asked them, “Wasn’t there any preventing?” And, they said
no.
Mr. Foro. How many people live in this camp now ?
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Mrs. Harr. I don’t know. There’s so many.

Mr. Forp. Dozens, hundreds ¢

Mrs. Harr. Thousands of people live there.

Mr. Forp. Somebody said 2,000%

Mrs. Havrw. Just about.

Mr. Foro. And it also has been alleged here in the previous state-
ment that there are many people there that still don’t know if they
ought to boil the water. Is that true?

Mrs. Harr, Yes.

Mr. Foro. Is there any kind of a program underway because of all
the publicity that came out about the conditions there, to bring the
people in on a systematic basis to test them for typhoid?

Mrs. Harr. They have been going from house to house. The nurses
have been going from house to house taking tests. That’s all.

Mr. Forp. Has there been any program offered to provide inocula-
tionsatall?

Mrs. HaLr. No. Tl tell you one thing. Those that have been in the
hospital are going back to the hospital. A lot of them. A lot of them go
back to the hospital with typhoid.

A little boy went back this week. He was unconscious. A little, small
child. Why, I don’t know. But, that is true.

Mr. Ford. Well, we're going to have an opportunity to get down
there and talk to some of these people before leaving Florida.

Mr. LanparEE. Just briefly describe your housing arrangement—
eight of you and three adults and five children.

Mrs. Hacw. That’s right.

Mr. Laxpareee. How many rooms do you have?

Mrs. Hair. I have a four-bedroom apartment.

Mr. Lanparese. So there are six or seven rooms?

Mrs. HaLL. Yes.

Mr. LanpereBe. So, you have fairly spacious living quarters.

Mrs, HavLr. Yes.

Mr. Lanperese. This is a fairly modern building ?

Mrs. Harw. Yes, it is.

Mr. LaxporEBE. So, things have been satisfactory until the water
situation developed?

Mrs. Harr. No, but the plumbing isn’t what 1t should be. They
haven’t put the plumbing in right, or it’s cheap plumbing, because it
comes apart.

Several times I've had to call them in because it—to fix the plumbing
in the house, because it leaked. I’ve had the bathroom back up into my
tub, and they had to dig a hole or drain it out in the back of my house.
And, the hole is still there. So, the plumbing is really not what it should
be.

Mr. Lanporeee. All right. No further questions.

Mr. Forp. Thank you.

Now, Mr. Brooks——

Mrs. Harr. May T ask one thing. On our camp, we get bills from the
electric company that is enormous. I got one in January for $26.18. T
got one in February for $34.66. T got one in March for $20.66. And
nothing but refrigerator and TV.

In February T run the heater 2 days because my son was having
chills, but yet my bill is $34.66. And, T know there is a lot of people
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complaining about high bills. And, if we don’t pay the light bills on
time, we have to pay w,m extra for the man to come out and turn it on,
because they turn it off.

Mr. Forp. You submitted here an electric bill dated March 14 from
the city of Homestead in the amount of $34.66.

Mrs. Harr. I think that was February.

Mr. Forp. Well, it’s for 1 month or longer?

Mrs. Harr. For 1 month.

Mr. Forp. Well

Mrs. Harr. That was March 14, you’re right.

Mr. Forp. What do you have in your house that uses electricity be-
sides the lights?

Mrs. Harr. Refrigerator and the TV. And a hot water heater.

Mr. Forp. All right. How do you cook ?

Mrs. Harn. Gas.

Mr. Forp. You pay for that, too, separately ¢

Mrs. Hari. We pay for the gas, yes.

Mr. Forp. You don’t use electricity for heating ?

Mrs. Harr. Yes, we do. We have a heater there and we use it.

Mr. Forp. That is a supplemental heater? It’s not a part of the
heating system?

Mrs. Harr. Yes, it’s part of, you know, it’s just one heater in the
house. Hooked up to the electric.

Mr. Forp. That’s what I mean.

If my wife presented me with an electricity bill like this, I'd go
through the roof. We’d like to ask some other people some questions
about that. That is an interesting problem.

Mrs. Harr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Foro. Now, Mr. Hall, do you want to add something to what
she’s had to say.

Mr. Hara. Yes, I do, sir.

. Now, they say that at that camp, that’s a nice camp, which to them
it probably is. But, to us it isn’t. And, you have to keep the grass cut.
Well, you see a snake there sometimes. My wife has killed a snake
laying up on the front there. Laying right up there. And, if you go
out there, telling them about coming down and fixing your bathtub
or your water or something, they say that they’ll send somebody down
Iater maybe.

Mp. Forp. How much do you pay per week or month ?

Mr. Harr. $19 a week.

Mr. Forp. Youpav $19 a week for that?

Mr. Harw. That’s right.

Mrs. Havs. Yes.

Mr. Forp. How many people are in your family ¢

Mr. Harz. Seven,

Mr. Forp. Seven ?

Mr. Havw, Yes.

Mr. Forp. Are your people going toschool ¢

Mr. Harr. Not now. They’re going to work. They can’t go to school
until they get a paper stating they’re clear from the disease.

Mr. Forp. Well, are you quarantined ?

Mr. Hacrr. They are.

Mr. Forp. Have you been checked for typhoid ?
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Mr. HaLt. Sure, everybody. I had it in the hospital. My wife Is In
the hospital. T carry her to the hospital yesterday with her arm—
where they put that stuff in the arm—and they kept the needle there
so long she’s lost the use of her hand.

Mr. Forp. $19 a month rent. It'sa week ?

Mr. HarL, Yes.

Mr. Forp. You pay

Mr. Havo. Sure.

Mr. Forp. And how much does that run a month now ¢

Mr. Haww. Well, mine don’t run too high. Ten or thirty dollars.
Sometimes it’s $9.20. It varies one way or the other.

Mr. Forp. $10 a month ?

Mr. Harnn, Right.

Mr. Forp. And how much for gas?

Mr. Harw, It's $12.50 every 2 months, according to how you use
it

Mr. Forp. And altogether you run between $100 and $120 a month
for housing ?

Mr. Havi. Yes. That’s right.

Mr. Forp., And how much money do you make—how much money
did vou make last year?

Mr. Hann. How do I know? T have no idea. I make $4 or $5 a day.
And next dav $3. Next day T go out and make nothing. T can’t hardly
keep count, of it.

Mr. Forp. Are you current with your rent?

Mr. Hanr. No.

Mr. Foro. Are you behind ?

Mr. HaLr. Yes.

Mr. Forp. Do you work for or through a crew leader?

Mr. Harp. Yes.

Mr. Forp. And what is his name?

Mr. Hart. A1l T know is Tony.

Mr. Forp. Are vou paid directly by a person that you work for,
or are vou paid by the crew leader?

Mr. Harr. T am paid by the person I work for, but the crew leader
tells me how much I make.

Mr. Forp. Are you paid by cash?

Mr. Hacw. By cash.

Mr. Forp. Are you paying social security ?

Mr. HarL. Yes. But, he never gets no number.

Mr. Forp. Do you get a slip with your cash to show how much of
your social security you paid?

Mr. Harr. Sure don't.

Mr. Forn, Would you give us a little note that Mrs. Branson can
use authorizing us to ask the Social Security Administration in Balti-
more to tell us what the condition of your social security account is?

Mr. Hani.. Right.

Mr. Forp. Do you know your social security number?

Mr. Hani. Sure. )

%r. Forp. If you'll step over when you're through, they can write
out a little note on that. You don’t have to do this. but T have to have
vour authorization in order for them to open your file.

Mr. Havr. T will do anvthing to help.

~electricity bill?
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Mr. Forp. I'd like to ask the Social Security Administration how
much money has been paid into your account in recent years and have
them contact you and see how that agrees with your recollection of
what has been taken from you for social security.

Mr. Harr. All right.

Mr. Forp. And I might say to you without any attempt to intimidate
anybody, there is a simple little card that can be obtained from the post
office that is already addressed. All you have.to do is put your name
and social security number on it, and a return address, and drop it in
the mail. And, the Social Security Administration is obliged to check
your account and tell you what is there. So, you might encourage some
of your neighbors to do that and let us know what comes out of it.

Thank you very much, Mr. Hall.

Mr. Harr. Oné more thing, sir. They come to us and say that we do
too fast driving. So, they put a hump in the road so high, about half
of this, or so. But, anyhow, after you get over that hump, you're drag-
ging your muffler off, or something. But, after you get over that hump,
you can still pick up your speed. And, also, they have one way in and
one way out. And they have one of the two gates closed, so you have
to go out only one way. They see you when you go out and when you
come in.

Mr. Forp. Is the camp locked at night?

Mr. Hacr. That is one gate that’s never open. And one stays open
all the time.

Mr. Forn. You can go and come as you please ?

Mr. Harr, That’s right. Well, you live on this side of the camp, and
it I live on the other side, you have to pass one gate and come all the
way around to get out, when you could easily come along a block and
a half to the highway.

Mr. Forp. Who do you understand to be your landlord ?

Mr. Harz, Watkins.

Mr. Foro. Watkins?
| Mr. Havr. Watkins, That’s the man that is head of the camp out
there.

Mr. Forp. But, you don’t know who gets the money out at the camp ¢
: Mr. Harr. We pay it to him. We don’t know where it goes from
there.

MTr. Forp. Do you have any more questions$

Mr. Laxoereee. I don’t believe I have any questions.

Mr. Forp. We're running a little behind here, and we certainly don’t
want to cut anybody off, and we don’ want to prevent anybody from
having a chance to appear, so we're going to try to move a little faster.

Rudy Juarez, please.

STATEMENT OF RODOLFO JUAREZ, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
ORGANIZED MIGRANTS IN COMMUNITY ACTION, INC. (OMICA),
ACCOMPANIED BY FRED DIAZ AND STEPHEN MAINSTER

Mr. Juarsz. I have this for you.

Mr. Forp. Could we have order, please.

Mr. Juarez has been kind enough to supply us with a formal state-
ment with sufficient copies to all of the interested parties here, so they
can have them.

27-830—74——38
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Without objection, the statement of Mr. Juarez will be set forth in
the hearing record in full at this point. And, you may proceed to ex-
plain it or proceed as you feel best, sir.

[ The statement referred to follows:]

STATEMENT OF RoODOLFO JUAREZ, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, ORGANIZED MMIGRANTS IN
COMMUNITY ACTION

My name is Rodolfo Jyarez, Hxecutive Director of O.w.mmbwsmm wﬁmﬁmbﬁm in
Community Action. On behalf of those beside me I would like to thank Congress-
man Lehman for this opportunity. We want to ask the Congressman first of mﬁ to
take into consideration the fact that since we ourselves are involved in delivering
services to our people, we are not fully prepared with a statistical .}y_SnmEmﬁf
but everyone of us here today will try to be as specific as GOmmMEm in relaying
to you the situation as we saw it. We ask that you be patient with us and we
will try to answer as many questions as we can. We would like to cmm&.c mwmﬁc%
giving you a brief description of how we first becamne aware of a situation which
we had no knowledge of or experience in. .

Farmworkers began coming to our office telling us that Eu,mwm was moEme:m
going on in the camp; what exactly, they did not know, but felt that onmgz.pm
should be done, Their statements were as follows: There are many wowmen, chil-
dren, and men in the camp who are sick with diarrhea and other me@SEmu who
are going to both clinics, Goulds and Homestead, but are not being taken care
of because the clinics are over-crowded and under staffed. All they were given
was a bottle of medicine which is not helping at all. ) .

On February 26, 1973, we received a call from the Miami office of the Migrant
Services Foundation in reference to a patient who had been trying to get ad-
mitted into Liarking Iospital and was being refused because he did not ._,Sﬁw
the money required. He finally managed to borrow $200.00 and was umﬁﬂﬁmm.
Later Dr. Saslaw defermined his illness as being typhoid. Keeping in _EE@ @m
statemvents of the people and information provided to us by the @m@ﬁ.wm of wﬁm
camp, out of curiosity, we called Dr. Saslaw to ask him what ,Jdbcﬁ. was. He
informed us that typheid was nothing to worry about, and that a few cases
were reported in Dade County every year. . .

Not getbing any further with him or not knowing ﬁ&mw. else to ask, Eﬂ ﬁbnz
called a meeting with Mr. Fred Diaz, Director of the Migrant H.»Hmﬁﬁp F,E:m.,
Martin Luther King, in Homestead, and found that he too was making immediate
plans with bis personnel to investigate the problems in the South Dade Labor
Camp. The following day, February 27, late in the afternoon, an emergency
mreeting was called Ly My, Diaz and we were invited to attend. We found out
that there was definitely a typhoid epidemic at the camp and O@EO% Was re-
quested to provide some assistance in informing the people of the situation.

TWe were informed by Mr. Diaz that doctors and nurses would be present at
§:00 PM at the recreation hall of the South Dade Labor Camp and that we
should assist them in informing the people so that examinations could he made.
However, when we got to the camp, after having informed the people that every-
one who felt sick should zo to the recreation hall to be examined, we found that
1o doctors or nurses had come. Mr. Diaz was there to explain that doctors and
nurses could not come because they were unable to bring the equipment. He ex-
plained that they would be available the following miorning, February 28, at
9:00 AN

The next morning, after the doctors and nurses were set up for the examina-
tions, the recreation hall was tremendously over-crowded. There were at Mmmmm
200 people needing to see a doctor. When we saw that the sick people were being
sent back home, we then confronted Mr. Diaz and the doctors as to why these
people, as sick as they were, were not being hospitalized. Very few of those seen
on that particular day were hospitalized ; to be exact, about two or three.

The following day the same thing happened. Now the people were angry and
many of them refused to come to be examined, claiming nothing would be done
and they would end up being sent home anyway. When we again Eumwomoﬁmm
the doctors and Mr. Diaz as to why they were not being hospitalized, Mr. Diaz
commented that he was trying to do everything within his power to get them
into the hospital but there were no beds available. The following day, a Satur-
day, Mr. Diaz’ statement to me was as follows: “Rudy, I have been QE:W
everything that I can possibly do and still I have not been able to convince

these people that there is an emergency in this camp; therefore, they have not
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made any hospital beds available to us.” I asked Mr. Diaz why we couldn't
get hospital beds or more doctors and his answer was that he had not been
able to get assistance during the week, much less on a weekend, when Dr.
Saslaw and others could be reached. It was up to Dr. Saslaw to declare an
emergency so that hospital beds could be made available.

On Sunday, when Dr. Saslaw was finally reached and finally decided to
make arrangements for hospital beds at Jackson Memorial Hospital, we were
faced with the tremendous problem of getting the people to come hack to be
examined and admitted to the hospital.

iWhile all this and many more problems were going on in the camp, there was
yet no effort on behalf of the Homestead Housing Authority or any other ageucy
to provide an adequate supply of water to the labor camp, even though the water
at the camp was found to be the cause of the typhoid. Mr. David Salazar, sta-
tioned at the Homestead Air Force Base, with the assistance of the Red Cross,
was able to assist us with water to be distributed by OMICA to the camp resi-
dents. Outside of that, there was no other water supply available, until two
weeks later when the City of Homestead finally installed a water line with two
faucets to service 2,000 people.

Once hospital beds were made available at Jackson Memorial Hospital, other
broblems arose, mainly lack of communieation between patients and hospital
bersonnel, fear of contamination among hospital personnel, and insufficient medi-
cal staff. Prior to and during this period, we in OMICA had been criticizing the
lack of response on the part of the County officials and irresponsibility of the
Homestead Housing Authority. Becaunse of our criticisms and demands, the
various agencies in the community began to fully respond to the people’s needs.
It was then the Manager of Dade County called a meeting among the different
surrounding agencies and appointed Mr. Rollason, of the Redland Christian
Migrant Association, and OMICA, to be responsible for the coordination of all
county, state, and volunteer agencies, since these two particular organizations
had been fully involved since the beginning of the outbreak. At the request of
OMICA, 25 people were made available to the ROMA organization and OMICA
to deal with the children which were left home alone due to the hospitalization
of their parents. Also, two vehicles and drivers were provided and nine people
which would be hired by the County and supervised by OMICA. to serve as liai-
sons between the hospital and OMICA. to deal with the problems of those
hospitalized.

Since then, Organized Migrants in Community Action and the Redland Chrig-
tian Migrant Association, have been dealing with additional problems not rec-
ognized or attended by the state and county agencies in an efort to assist the
farmworkers of that particular labor camp. Hven though commitments were
made by all agencies involved to assist our pecple until there was no further
need, many of them have led themselves to helieve that the situation is under
control and that all the problems have been solved. Thus, treating our people,
especially those directly affected, as they would treat o normal and regular
problem in the community. '

We would like to go on record as publicly commending the staff of the Martin
Luther King Clinica Campesina in Homestead, the staff of the South Dade Clinic
at Goulds, Mr. David Salazar, the RCMA staff, especially Mr. Rollason, the Red
Cross, and those farmworkers who voluntarily and without any compensation
worked long hours with the above mentioned people, for their tremendous will-
ingness and cooperation rendered to our people.

Also, we would like to commend Mr. Ray Goode, County Manager, for the
assistance provided, especially in transportation, liaisons between hogpitalg and
OMICA, and for the 25 people provided for daycare,

Also, the Homestead Air Force Base for providing water and trans
to the hospitals. )

We sincerely appreciate the assistance provided by County Welfare, United
Fund, Food Stamp Office, and Comumunity Action MMigrant Program, for provid-
ing food vouchers, and a most unique service provided by a group of nurses,
directed by Miss Ruelman of the Hesalth Department. We would also like to
remind all these agencies that the situation is not over and that their services
must continue to be provided.

I wounld also like to go on record as saying that the South Dade community
should feel disgraced that a situation like this was allowed to occur because of

crtation
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an irresponsible Flomestead Housing Authority and an inactive County health
official,

We would also like to request that this committee give special attention to the
fact that while local and federal agencies have provided assistance to those af-
fected, the local Homestead Housing Authority continues to operate as nothing
has happened, demanding back rent, while no money is available and refusing
to jerate with their tenants. Further, the housing authority personnel have
gotten worse in terms of their attitudes towards the tenants, by making state-
ments such as: we don't give a damn about what has happened, and refusing to
accept ongoing rvent money provided by the County Weltare Departments; thus
demanding that the back rent be paid as well.

We demand that the Homestead Housing Authority be instructed by this com-
mittee and by the Farmers’ Home Administration, to put a freeze on the rent
of at least a month until those directly affected are able to get back on their feek

BELOW IS AN EXAMPLE OF A TYPICAL CASE

Keeping in mind that for the month of February these people were unemployed
because of lack of work, and that County Welfare does not assist with back rent.

Francisco Moreno, South Dade Camp No. 158, wife and four children.

Moreno was hospitalized on 2/28/73; discharged 3/15/73; re-admitted
, . digscharged 3/23/73; re-admitted 4/2/73; presently hospitalized.

Mrs. Moreno and two children were also hospitalized for one week.

Jefore she was hospitalized, Mrs. Moreno applied to the County Welfare
for stance: her husband was in the hospital. She received $174.00 for the
month of March, and $20.00 from OMICA.

Out of this money $43.00 went to food stamps; $65.00 went to rent; $80.00
medical bills, incurred by the typhoid; leaving her $6.00. She is still two weeks
Lehind in her rent to the Housing Authority, two car payments of $30.00 each.
Meanwhile, the rent continues to accumulate and their main means of support,
their vehicles, will be repossessed.

Further, we wish to emphasize the fact that Organized Migrants in Com-
munity Action has long been fighting for and demanding that the farmworkers
Le given the opportunity to participate in the implementation and development of
programs geared to assist them. We feel that only because of the close relation-
ahip hetween the migrant farmworkers’ organization. OMICA, RCMA, the
migrant clinie, and the CHI we were able to rapidly assist in the typhoid emer-
sency, and immediately coordinate ourselves to deal with the situation.

We feel that because of the migrant seasonal farmworker problems faced in the
comnmunity of Dade County, there will be those agencies that will be seeking ad-
ditional funds for additional programs to provide services and assistance to the
migrant and seasonal farmworkers of this county.

We wonld like to request that conditions be established to guarantee that the
input of migrant and seasonal farmworkers be developed. Only when we are
directly involved with these particular programs can we, the migrant workers,
assure ourselves that these programs will be effective. We feel that an example
can be made out of the typhoid situation where a grass-roots organization, RCMA,
and a federally funded migrant clinie, which farmworkers are part of, were able
to immediately get together and face the emergency.

1f these groups had not been working so closely together and if we had depended
upon the County Health Department and the Homestead Housing Authority, to
react, we wonld have been loading corpses instead of serving sick people.

May we mention that outside of the labor camp there were people also affected
with typhoid. This again proves one more of OMICA's criticism against the
crew-leader system. The poor methods of providing water and sanitary conditions
in the fields for farmworkers. Surely, when farmworkers are forced to drink out
of the same cup, the spread of disease cannot be avoided.

We in OMICA would also like to go on record as saying that President Nixon's
methods of dealing with the nation’s economie problems is certainly ridiculous.
While we agree with the fact that there are some federally funded programs
which deserve to be diminished, this committee should direct itself to the Presi-
dent and demand that housing programs which provide housing for farmworkers
he continued so that we can bring about the creation of housing, so badly needed
in this community, and throughout the state. Further, these housing projects
should not he administered by such irresponsible housing authorities.

3
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The closing of migrant labor camps certainly is not going to solve our problems;
on the contrary, it will force our people into crowded, unsanitary living condi-
tions which already exist.

Thank you.

. Mr. Juarez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

First I want to thank all of you for giving us the opportunity to be
here. And, realizing that you are behind schedule, as you said before,
Tl try to go through this statement as briefly as possible.

I brought some people with me who will also be telling you about
some of the problems they’re faced with. And we thought it might be
worth while to enlighten you or give you a little description as to what
happened as we saw the situation with the typhoid at the South Dade
Labor Camp.

Farmworkers began coming to our office telling us that there was
something going on in the camp, that there were men and women and
children sick at the camp with diarrhea and lots of fever. And, they
were going to both clinics at Goulds and Homestead, but they were
just being sent home with some medicine. And, this medicine was not
doing any good. And, they were standing in a long line because the
clinics were crowded and, of course, these clinics are very understaffed.
And, these people try to do the best possible, but there is a tremendous
number of people in south Dade in need of these services.

On February 26 we received a call from the Miami office of the
Migrant Services Foundation, and we were told that we might be
helpful in assisting a man who was trying to get into Larkin Hospital
but was being refused because he didn’t have the funds necessary or
required forthem to be admitted into the hospital.

1 found out later this man had been able to borrow $200 from here
and there from various persons that were able to bring up this amount,
and was admitted to that particular hospital, and he was later found to
be—he was found to be stricken by typhoid.

Because of this we found Dr. Saslow at the county health depart-
ment, and we asked him what typhoid was, because I myself didn’
know what it was all about. He told us that it was something, not to
worry about it, a few cases were here every year. He said it was not
something to worry about. He said they had in past years reported
some typhoid cases in Dade County. But, keeping in mind the state-
ments from the people who were coming to our office and telling us
there were a lot of sick people, we still went on to the migrant health
clinie, the Martin Luther King Clinic in Homestead, and we asked
the director of that clinie, and found out that he, too, was concerned.
And, he was trying to prepare himself to go into the labor camp and
try to find out about this type of disease.

And we were told that we might be faced with a typhoid epidemic
at the South Dade Labor Camp. And I think it was on the 27th that
Mr. Fred Diaz called an emergency meeting, and we were asked to
attend that meeting. And we were informed there was definitely a
typhoid epidemic. And we were asked to assist him in informing the
people to go to the recreation hall at South Dade Labor Camp and
doctors and nurses would be there so they could be examined and
everybody feeling sick and having a fever should come. And, we should
inform the people or people with sick children, and doctors and nurses
would be there Iater that day.
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t, after doing this, we found that doctors and nurses hadn’t come
there. And, the explanation was because of not being able to get any
cquipment down, so they were not able to bring their doctors down.

S0, on the 28th, the next day, I believe, that doctors came in and
nurses. And, by 10 o’clock they were ready to begin examining the peo-
ple. Bat, by that time the recreation hall was heavily crowded. There
must have been 200 people there sick with children lying on the floor,
wid some women were being placed on this bed or cot or whatever you
call them. And we found out even though these people were very sick,
and the women were very worried about the children—in fact, there

cre very small children, 4-, 5-, 6-month-old babies that were sick. And
we found out people were being sent back home with just aspirin or
whatever it was that were given them.

And we kept asking those doctors and Mr. Fred Diaz why our peo-
ple were being sent back home and not being treated. And their
response was they had not been able to get anyone to provide hospital
beds. And there were no hospital beds available for our people. And
{his was one of the problems.

So. I think it was on a Saturday when finally Mr. Diaz and others
were there, and these people were angry. They threw their hands in
the air saying, you know, we've done everything we could and didn’t
get any assistance during the week, much less the weekend. And these
people don’t seem to understand we're faced with an epidemic here and
don’t want to make any hospital beds available.

And, finally, T think it was Sunday, even though there were some—
there was some confusion whether or not hospital beds were avail-
able, some people were sent to the hospital by these doctors. And they
J n sending people to the hospital to Jackson Memorial, and to Chil-
dren’s Variety Hospital. And by this time people were very angry.
They knew that since it’s always been the experience of migrant sea-
sonal farmworkers, the fact they go to the hospitals or to the doctors
and don’t get treated, or they're turned away—they didn’t want to
come, because the days before they had been standing there crowded
all day without any food or water. And, they were worried about their
children. So it was hard for us to get them to come back.

So finally we were able to convince them to come, and they could
come. And it was hard. Because in one way you had the doctors that
were there, and Mr, Fred Diaz and his staff, trying to do the best
they could to treat these people and to examine them. And on the other
side you had people angry. And therefore you had 2 days trying to get
attention and nothing. When Dr. Saslow was finally reached, they did
make arrangements to send the people to the hospital. And yet there
s no effort by the Homestead Housing Authority or other agencies
tosupply any water to the camp.

Mr. David Salazar from Homestead Air Force Base, with the as-
istance of the Red Cross, did help us get some water from local dairies,
and water was distributed to the camp residents.

And, lack of communication between patients and the hospital at
Juckson was seen because personnel had fear of touching our people,
or fear of getting close to them because of being contaminated by
tvphoid. But, we are grateful to them.

And, it was then that the county manager called a meeting among
the different county agencies and asked Mr. Rollason and many others
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to coordinate the county, State and volunteer welfare agencies who
came into the camp. Through OMICA, 25 people were made avail-
able to the RCMA organization and OMICA for the children who
lived without any care since their parents had been hospitalized, plus
nine people who were hired as liaisons between the wwo.mwumﬂ and
OMICA. and these other people. And, people in OMICA didn’t know
English and don’t know how to talk to the nurses there. And, they
saw the children being left alone because the nurses were scared of
them, and the children were given a tray. And, if these kids were able
to eat from the tray, all right. But, otherwise they were left unfed. So,
the liaisons that were put in the hospital. .

And, finally things began to get a little better for our people. Since
then, OMICA. and others have been dealing with additional problems
that have not been recognized by the county and Federal agencies, and
have been unattended by them. And, we tried to assist our people in
these problems. )

,H,rmmm particular agencies, for example, have been led to believe that
the situation is over with, that the typhoid thing is controlled, and,
therefore, they’re beginning to handle ourpeople as if nothing has hap-
pened. So we are faced with a tremendous problem in the community
m that particular labor camp. ) .

We have people, for example, with both parents and children are
hospitalized and their rent continues to accumulate, and if they get
assistance from the county welfare for rent or other things, the Home-
stead Housing Authority, even though the county welfare does not
provide assistance for back rent—and keep in mind that also for the
month of February most of our people were unemployed n _.mﬁmw Dade
so, many didn’t work—on top of being stricken by typhoid, it’s hard
for our people. And, they began getting assistance from the county
welfare department, and most of that assistance is going to the Home-
stead Housing Authority, which is the main cause of our problems.
And, yet they continue to go as though nothing had happened. And
they’re asking people, even though money is not available for back rent,
most of our money we receive goes for back rent. ) )

You take, for example, if there is a farmworker family who is 3 or
4 weels behind in rent, and got behind there because of the typhoid
and because they were unable to work, if they got $85 or a hundred
dollars from the county welfare department to assist them, most of
this money would go to the housing authority. )

And, one of the things that we can’t understand is how can the
Homestead Housing Authority do this. Nobody seems to care or try
to do anything about the Homestead Housing Authority, since they
were responsible for this happening, plus the health department along
with them, they’re still getting paid for their rent. And, we feel some
effort should be made to require that the Homestead Housing Au-
thority at least put a freeze on the rent so those directly stricken by
the typhoid at least be given an opportunity to get back on ﬁwﬁﬁ. feet.

And, nobody is assisting them with their car payments. You’ve heard
one man say how important it was for having a vehicle to travel with
to go to the different parts of the country to find jobs.

Now, what are our people going to do when their vehicles are re-
possessed because they are unable to work and pay for these vehicles?
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1 have an example here. Mr. Francis Morino at South Dade Camp.
He received $174 and twenty from OMICA., I believe. And, paid $43
for food stamps, paid $65 for back rent. Paid $80 in medical bills
accumulated because they were unable to be hospitalized, and no medi-
cal services were available in the beginning. And, they went around
scared with their children.

And, wives and hushands were trying to find some medical assist-
ance. And this is where some of the people accumulated some bills that
the county might not be able to cover.

This particular person accumulated $80 there. So by the time he paid
everything, he had $6 left for the whole month, plus his rent will con-
tinue to accumulate. His car will be repossessed.

And, this is—we are not talking about one particular family. Here’s
just one example, but most of our people are {aced with the situation
1n South Dade Labor Camp.

T guess all of us appreciate the assistance that the county has been
able to provide. And we are certainly grateful after the wheels began
rolling and assistance came to the South Dade Labor Camp. We are
grateful to Ray Goode, and those programs listed in my statement for
having provided these services.

But. I think that we feel, because of the migrant seasonal farm-
worker problems in Dade County that there will be agencies like
hefore in years past, who will be seeking additional funds to bring
additional programs into our community. And, one of the things that
we have been emphasizing on and demanding for farmworkers, 1s that
farmworkers be given the opportunity to participate in these pro-
arams, be part of the policymaking board, part of their planning and
part of the development of this program. So, the migrant and seasonal
farmworkers can be a part of these programs and assure themselves
that these programs will be effective for themselves.

In the past there have been programs established, and our people
are not even aware of what these programs consist of. And, this is one
of the reasons why we are asking that community participation on
these programs be established.

We have a manpower program, for example, in Dade County, that
we went through a lot of hassle to gain. And that is the manpower
training program that was implemented here by the State. Those
people at the State level have refused to meet with us or refused to
provide any opportunity for farmworkers or other organizations to
have any input on these programs. And as a result of this, we have a
lat of harassment on these plans. There is a lot of difference in the
way it is operated here compared to Broward or Palm Beach. And
everything there is nice and dandy. Reimbursements are fine and on
time. There is no problem for the farmworkers or those enrolled in
the program, and they’re being paid. They’re not having as many
problems as we are. Even though the State claims it’s part of a
State mstitution now, which is FIU, Florida International University,
but now they're talking about cutting this off, teo. There is no
assurance or no guarantee that this program is going to continue.
And this program has helped a lot, because some of those people
ielren in south Dade and now are people who have been unemployved,
thev're dependent on this program. Because at least they’re learning
hasic education. They're being taught how to speak English. They
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are being informed about resources in the community. And I think
these are programs that should continue.

T don’t agree at all with the methods that President Nixon is using
to deal with the problems of the Nation. I don’t agree with the way
that has been presented or talked about that they are going to deal
with the labor camps. I think that measures should be taken or perhaps
should continue, to provide housing for the migrant farmworkers
the State, or in any other State where migrant farmworkers go to
work. We don’t seek anything for free. We want to be able to support
our own families. I myself was raised as a migrant farmworker. All
my life until 5 or 6 years ago, then I got out of it. I was lucky to stay
in one place, and I began to organize an association which would
have an opportunity to talk to you and deal with situations and local
problems in the community. But there are many others who are still
in the migrant stream, living in pigpens provided by the farmers. And
these are being used as a lever to force people to work for different
contractors.

And Homestead Housing Authority, for example, gets half their
money as grants free. Federal money given to them. Yet they cannot
afford to at least freeze the rents so our peonle can get on their feet.

And you have Homestead Housing Authority requiring they be
supervised by the State and by the very nature of the farmers that
they work for—and this, too, is a leverage for the contractors. And if
this particular worker goes to the Housing Authority and applies for
a house, he’s asked to go to the farmowner or to the contractor and say
that he works for them. And all the contractor has to do is call the
Housing Authority if he quits, and he harasses them, and finally he
makes them move, because he is harassed continuously and told he can
no longer live there. So he has to move to another county. And, he
can’t find any housing here, so he’s forced to work for certain contrac-
tors in this way. .

And T have been in Dade County and in Florida for a great many
years. I have been in Florida for close to about 13 years on and off,
and now in Dade County for about 4 years. And everywhere 1 went
to with migrants, everywhere I have lived, it’s the same thing.

And now I don’t know what to feel, mainly because we have gone
and presented statements such as the one I'm presenting here to you—
we've gone and declared the type of problems that our people are
faced with, and yet committees such as this fail to make much of a
change. The contractor regulations are not enforced. The county
health department fails to enforce the code of the country. The truant
officers are not there to insure our children going to school. Qur people
are constantly being held in peonage. Social security is sometimes de-
ducted and not reported. There are no toilet facilities out in the fields.
There is nothing. The farmworker in general is excluded from the
National Labor Relations Act. He doesn’t have any workmen’s com-
pensation, There is no unemployment insurance and no medical bene-
fits. Nothing.

If we try to speak up, if we try to point a finger at a certain con-
tractor—TI know how it feels to have to stand up and say that par-
ticular contractor has cheated me out of this, or cheated me out of that,
when I know nothing is going to happen. There’s no protection pro-
vided to myself, and I know I'm going to end up in that community



38

probably beaten up by that same contractor, or probably beaten up
by the people he hires to do that.

So how can people have the courage or the will to stand before peo-
ple like yourselves or law enforcement officers of the community and
1

"

y these things. And so this is why I wrote this last paragraph when
asked from this committee that at least once this is over and you all
have returned to Washington or wherever you all came from that we
be provided with a statement or something to show what it is you
did. What did you make? What did you enforce? This I’d like to
know. Otherwise, you know, it enrages me also to have a person like
this man, for example, who asks in this day and age whether our
people are American citizens.

This is why—1I never went to school, but T am glad I didn’t, becanse
if the school has not taught our people that the United States is com-
posed of various types of people—blacks, Chinese, Italians, and every-
thing else—then 1t hasn’t done its job. Because if you have to stand
here and find out whether we are American citizens, then education
don’t do much to you.

Mr. Forp. Let’s try not to put this on a personal basis, because you
misunderstood that. All of us here could very well be Serving our own
selfish interests by being somewhere else, and it is not without consider-
able amount of readjusting our own priorities that we are here.

Whether you agree with any one of us or not, the very fact that we
are here indicates that we are willing to make some effort to try to
determine the nature of the problem and how to solve it.

But, let’s not point the finger in this direction. Let’s point the finger
in the other direction. You give me a list of the names and the best
cleseription you ean give of all the labor contractors that are currently
being recognized by this county labor camp, and I'll see to it that the
list 1s checked by both the State and Federal Government to see if
they are registered and if they are complying with the laws and re-
quirements with regard to reporting. You get together the social
security cards with social security numbers on them, and if you can’t
get them from the Post Office, my office will supply them to VOu.
You submit them to me in a batch, and I will send them directly to
Baltimore and get back to you as soon as possible what each social
security account is.

I will guarantee you, if you have people that will malke specific
statements to investigators that they know money was held for social
security and it does not show up on their accounts, there will be a
representative of the Federal Government with authority to enforce
that law that they can report it to.

I realize the difficulty of following up on any kind of complaint
where the complainants are mobile and are not going to be in one
long enongh to see what happens. We're all painfully aware
how difficult it is to maintain a system that fairness requires, an oppor-
tunity to defend themselves, and all the other basic rights that we
don’t take away from anyone, no matter what side of the question they
twre on, It doesn’t mean much to anyone who doesn’t have access to re-
sources to defend their rights.

And T told there are things underway with regard to the people
at feel there is some direct responsibility on the part of some people
manthority, for neglecting these conditions that led to this. There are
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remedies. I am told they are being pursued. But that’s not some-
thing I can judge. You make a valid charge to us and we are here to
hear it. )

This is a valid charge against the Congress that one of our czwmmi-
tions, after we pass a law, is to oversee it, to conduct oversight w@E-
ings, such as this to determine whether or not the people under Em
Constitution, who are appointed by and work for the President, are
enforcing the law. We no more want to see anyone winking at these
laws and not enforcing them than you would want to watch a police-
man not do anything about traflic violations.

You give us specifics and yow’ll get specific answers to them.

Mr. Juarez. Mr. Chairman

Mr. Forp. Let me finish, now. ] .

You have given us a very challenging statement pw&. a very good
statement. I’m not trying to talk you out of that. You stay tough.
But, you’re talking to people who want to see something .F%@mb.. 1
can’t deal with this. You have to have something I can nail down so
T can then in turn direct questions to a responsible person who can tell
me he is either not doing his job or give a reason why the problem
cannot be solved. )

You give me the specifies T ask for and you can be sure the comumittes
will respond and get these things answered. ity for

The people in the Labor Department who have responsibility or
enforcing the Federal law will have an opportunity to appear before
the committee in Washington. ]

Our normal procedure would be to request the migrant workers to
come to Washington and look into the situation that we already have.
We didn’t have time to do that before we came. Shortly atter this,
in Washington, we’ll call a hearing to follow up. ] .

So, if you have specific questions, you get them quickly to us and
we'll have these people in Washington respond to specific questions
and cases. )

Mr. Juarez. You asked the young man that was here if he was
willing to sign a little paper, or Mr. Williams ) o

Mr. Forp. T asked two people. I asked one to give me permission
to look at his children’s school record ]

Mr. Juarez. One of the things, since you asked that, and since we
are with the people in the labor camp—we could very well get a lot
of people to do this for you, especially people working directly with
contractors and crew leaders in this camp or any other camp. And, we
could get these small papers to you, and that would give you the Em.r.m
to investigate social security, and you would find out that many of
these people’s social security is not being deducted. And, also you
might find out where, if social security is deducted, it might not ever
be registered.

Mr. Forp. I take note in your formal statement toward the end that
you caution against any action that might lead to the closing of these
camps because that would only lead to.worsening of the conditions
under which these people are expected to serve.

Mr. Juarez. Yes. . ]

Mr. Forp. We are mindful of that, too. It’s not our intention to put
these people out of business and tearing down these houses. Partic-
ularly in the case here, since the taxpayers in my district have an
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investment in this camp, we want to see how the Federal money is used.
You can be assured that both Mr. Landgrebe and I share a very serious
concern about finding out how the Federal dollars are spent. We will
pursue this beyond the perimeters of this hearing today.

We have people today who might be able to give us further in-
formation, and I invite you to continue giving information to our staf.
Any specific information you have that might help us get to the facts
as they relate to enforcement of present Federal laws and the issues
involving changing those Federal laws.

I don’t see why it should be very difficult for the Federal Govern-
ment to enforce a law with no teeth in it, like this crew leader law—

i have been written by a crew leader. I hate to admit this, but it
lools to me like it would be almost impossible to get a conviction
unless vou had a confession.

But, first T have to find out whether anybody has tried to enforce
it. We haven’t seen evidence of that yet.

One final thing. Does your organization receive OEO funds?

Mr. Juarez, No, sir. This organization has been in existence for 4
years, and only depended on private funds and fundraising cam-
paigns ourselves.

Me. Forp. You have no public funds.

Mr. Joarez. No, sir. Public funds, no. This year we were able to
contract with others for supportive services.

Mr. Forn. You have been directly involved with people in typhoid
epidemiecs such asthose T've already talked to?

Ar Jorarez. Yes.

3r. Foro. This committee also has for years tried to hold together
what is left of the poverty program. Although almost all of the med-
ical assistance funds in that program have disappeared from the bud-
eet. there is still a provision being made for medical programs for
migrant workers and Indians.

Are you aware of any Federal funds that have been made available
throngh the Office of Fconomic Opportunity for medical assistance
in this eurrent emergency and typhoid emergency ?

Mr. Tuarez. Not that I know of ; no sir.

Mr. Forn. So far what you have described to me ig a situation where
the only public help you have is from Mr. Goode, who I might at this
point thank for the cooperation to this committee and for furnishing
this room as well. You had cooperation from him and from Dade
County ?

K v

-

ez, Well, the Federal Government does have funds for the

niorant funds in those cities.

Mr. Forn. Are they providing funds so yonur people can go to those
clinies and eet attention and be hospitalized if the tests are positive
and ner have to come up with their own money?

My, Juarez. Yes; yes.

Mr. Forn. Al right. T understand we have someone from the clinie.

AMr. Diaz. wonld yon like to comment on that?

My, Diaz, Yes, sir.

Mr, Forp. Then we are going to have you in a moment.
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But, just in context with this, is any Federal money coming in to
assist in providing diagnosis or treatment of the typhoid cases?

Mr. Diaz. At the time, community health felt Dade, Inc., has got-
ten a mandate to participate as much as possible in the health care
of these vietims. And, also we have received @ grant approximately
of $676,000 for migrant use. C.H.L. was the one with Rudy Juarez,
and his group was the one actually helping in this epidemic with
very slight cooperation at the start from the regular public officials
who had the responsibility in their health department in the county
and so forth. And, we did this ourselves. But, we did run into a lot of
circumstances that made it quite worse as far as being able to give the
care. We do give follow-up care where the public health department
misses some of these people who do not actually get caught at home.
And, in our clinics we try to catch as many of them as we can.

We are submitting before you also a complete record of what has
happened and how we saw it and some of the problems we had in this
epidemic, and also to give an idea of the epidemic handling.

Mr. Forp. We will get into this later.

Did you want to add something?

Mr. Juarez. Yes. I mentioned in my statement, also, that the com-
munity did make available 25 people to provide day care for the chil-
dren who were left without parents because their parents were
hospitalized.

One of the things I want to point out is that in this particular camp
in South Dade, we do have a day care program there administered by
the Migrant Workers Association. And I think Mr. Rollason is here.
And, these programs are being cut back, too. And, these are programs
we definitely need, because migrant farmworkers here in these camps,
this is the only way to keep these children in the camp. That is, so the
parents can go into the fields. They will not have to leave children with
a 12- or 18-year-old to take care of their children. That 12- or 13-year-
old child can then go to school.

But, if the day care program and these other programs are cut off,
that means the 12- or 13-year-old children have to take care of the
children at home, they have to stay home because of this situation.

Mr. Lanpereee. Thank you very much, Mr. Juarez. I am sorry you
misconstrued my ignorance tobe prejudice.

As a Congressman coming down here, we get the same pay as if we
hadn’t come down here at all. It is pleasant, but it does take time away
from our Washington duties. But, this is how I find out really what
is going on. When I asked you about aliens, it was a serious question.
In Indiana for many years we’ve had Mexican farm fieldworkers. And
I don’t think they were bad people; we needed them. They harvested
there. And as far as I know, they were law-abiding people and went
back to Mexieco after the work was done. ‘

So, I am getting a little education today on the migrant worker
and the cycle he goes through in a year’s time.

So, with that very brief apology, I'd like to ask you, are there aliens
in Florida working in the fields, and does your organization represent
any of them?

Mr. Juarez. No, we do not. There is, like in every other State, aliens
being brought from Mexico and there are aliens being brought into
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the State of Florida by contractors. In fact, we ourselves have been
involved sometimes in contacting the Immigration Department to try
to help. One of the problems is when they do come, they use these
people to keep the wages down. And, they use these people to force the
people to work for less and not to complain about the way the people
are treated.

Mr. La~nerese. The competition for jobs? .

Mr. Juarez. Yes. And at the same time they exploit these people
from Mexico, because continuously they are told that you are illegal.
Tt vou don't like it, I'll report you and you’re just going to be deported.
And so they do all kinds of things to them. o

Mr. Lanperebe. Are there legal aliens brought into Florida in the
peak seasons to do any of the harvesting?

Mr. Juarez. Not really.

MMr. Lanperese. Is there such a thing as a legal alien?

Mr. Forp. Like you have people coming here for sugar?

Mvr. Juarez. Sure. I guess it depends what it is. Citrus, sugar, and
the vegetable belts, those are different things in the State. And, with
the sugar, with the Jamaicans coming from Jamaica, this is hurting
our neople in Belle Glade and around that area.

One year the employment office, the sugar offices—1 year we com-
plained that they put out advertisements for employing workers m
the sugar fields. And, we found out when we asked them that sure, they
had one poster out for all these counties around. It was one poster ask-
ing for local workers to work in the sugar cane fields. And also the
majority of the people in that area, they’re not going to work for the
wages these people pay the Jamaicans. It is hard work and it is dirty.
It’s very hot. You have to be there all day. I tried it a few days myself,
and I didn’t like it.

Mr. Lanporese. Let’s quickly get back on the track. You point out
that on February 27 an emergency meeting was held. Returning to
the first page of testimony, you said “Farmworkers began coming to

office telling us that there was something going on in the camp.”
There was something wrong with the camp. But, finally on February
27 there was an emergency meeting called by Mr. Diaz.
ITow long do you suppose it was after this emergency meeting was
called that the first report came to you that there were sick people
in this camp? Was this a week or 2 days or what?

Mr. Juarez. No,this was 2 days before it.

Mr. LanporeBe. There was an emergency meeting held. We found
out there was a definite typhoid epidemic at the camp, and OMICA
was requested to provide some assistance in informing the people of
the situation.

Now, Mr. Diaz, is the camp clinic a federally operated migrant
health elinie?

Mr. Juarez., Yes, sir.

Mr. LanpareBE. And obviously that federally operated health clinic
along with your organization was not able to cope at all with this
situation?

Mr. Jvarrz. No.

Mr. Lawnereee. It was just too big a problem?

Mr. Juarez, We did our best. It was just the Redland Christian
Migrant Association, the Christian Migrant Workers Association, and
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the staff of volunteers from the labor camp, and two doctors or three
doctors that the migrant clinic has. And, the clinic was, you know,
doing its best.

Mr. Lanoerese. Just for my own enlightenment—and you’ll prob-
ably shoot me down for being so plain ignorant—but were any of
these organizations considering setting up an emergency-type treat-
ment center away from the hospital?

Mr. Juarez. That is what happened.

Mr. Lanperese. Where you could set up a special type of treatment
for these people?

Mzr. Juarez, This is what happened at that particular labor camp.

When we all went in, the Martin Luther King Clinic, under the
direction of Mr. Diaz, set up an emergency clinic to begin treating the
people and examining them. But, when they got no support from the
local hospitals or the county hospitals at that time, there was nothing
they could do. They were screaming and doing everything on the
phone and all that, trying to get hospital beds, and they couldn’t get
any.

Mr. Lanporese. Well, is typhoid the type of illness that requires
all of the expensive outlay of a regular hospital, or was it possible
to set up an emergency-type hospital with cots and the things that it
takes specifically to treat typhoid patients? And then could you get
doctors to come from the neighboring hospitals to direct that
operation ?

Uwﬁ.. Juarez. I think those questions could be best answered by Fred
iaz.

But, one of the things is, a few months before this, there was a
plane crash. And when that plane crashed, immediately there were
many hospital beds made available for those people. And, you know,
I would think and assume with a typhoid epidemic and children
being exposed to typhoid and all this, as sick as they were, the county
offices should have recognized it as an emergency situation and should
have been making hospitals available for these people to be hospital-
ized so not the whole family was stricken.

Sometimes you'd have three or four children stricken, and the other
children were there with them, and if we didn’t separate the children
or put them in the hospital, the others would get sick also. Then, this
has happened.

Mr. Lanperese. Do you know how much money Dade County has
received in revenue sharing to date?

Mr. Juarez. I don’t know.

Mr. Lanpereer. It is a substantial amount of money. Have you
found out what they decided to do with their revenue share?

Mr. Juarez. No.

Mr. Lanperese. I am going to conclude with a brief statement.

I have a real compassion, particularly for children, and if a child
has typhoid, he is obviously very ill, with 105 fever. And, it’s difficult
for me to understand why the local county and Federal and State
agencies didn’t move together fast and set up some kind of tem-
porary facility. If the hospital beds were full, then temporary facil-
ities should have been set up to relieve these people, whether they were
migratory workers or people on the Gold Coast.
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Mr. Juarez, Well, migrant workers, even though they want to move
to other countles, have been asked to stay in this camp. But, how can
they stay there? Their rent keeps accumulating, and even though they
feel sick, they know they have to worlk, because nobody helps them to
meet the other responsibilities they have.

They have never been subject to welfare or any of that stuff. so
they're not used to it. They’d rather move and migrate, plus the bad
treatment they received at the Jackson Memorial Hospital.

Mr. Lavporere. That is all the more reason they ought to be taken
care of. They are not leeches. When they have a problem, they need
to be given some help. This isan epidemie.

Thank you.

Mr. Forp. This is Mr. Jolly, who is arranging to meet with your
people.

We're running very far behind, and I do want to get some of the
loeal officials in to find out about this.

Mr. MarxstER. I work with OMICA on the OMICA staff, and also
the migrant manpower program, and also on the service contract. And,
we're just now on the topic of treating these people and making sure
they get adequate treatment and malking sure about it if they leave
the area—and adequate funds to do the job, a tremendous amount is
needed. I have here some papers given to me. Gentlemen, this is a
release of quarantine for three children in a family for which the
Public Health Service performed their followup studies. There were
three consecutive rectal swab cultures taken, and they were proven
free from typhold and give a release from quarantine, which means
they are no longer on the list of these needing the services and need-
ing aid from public health or other officials. Yet, these three children
are back in the hospital now. So, what would happen if this family
was released from quarantine and they left the area, and they go to a
new area where there is no public health facilities for them and
there are no migrant clinie funds with Federal funds, and they’re in
an area where they have to pay for their own medical services and
they might have typhoid and they might need a tremendous amount
of helpt

One suggestion might be that anybody who has any typhoid be
glven some type of card they could carry with them saying this person
is cleared of typhoid. But 1f he comes to a private doctor or private
hospital, don’t worry who pays for this, set up some type of billing
to the health services in Washington or to have Federal funds avail-
able to take care of this person. We have a family right now with
which the wife is pregnant and is to deliver her baby next Monday,
and they paid a private doctor $250 for private doctors rather than go
to Jackson Memorial Hospital. They paid $150 before—a day before
the man went to a hospital. So, he missed a week before he went in and
9 weeks after, and a week after he was out. And the private bill
is $400 for his wife. So, to deliver a baby at a private hospital, James
Archer Smith Hospital, this was incurred.

And, from what T understand, many private hospitals will find it
very difficult to take medicare patients. So, here is a person that is
on welfare right now. He’s a typhoid victim, and way behind in his
bills. And, I helieve some of his welfare payments are to go to pay
his back car payments to avoid repossession. And, now he faces the
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medical factor that if his wife is to deliver her baby in James Archer
Smith Hospital, it’s very possible they would charge them the entire
$400 for the baby. And, he’s not qualified for medicaid.

I want to bring these facts to your attention because they are im-
portant.

If a person needs the help and qualifies for help, and yet private
health establishments and private local hospitals are not willing to
take migrant farmworkers and not willing to work with some of the
poor people that qualify for medical programs, this is something to
also look 1ntoe.

Mr. Forp. Are you preparing any followup yourself to see about
these people later?

Mr. Marnster. Well, we work very closely with the clinic staff. And,
we have a list of every single one of the patients that was hospitalized
and the date they were discharged, and the house number. And, we
thought we could use the social workers in the camp. And, they are
camp workers and they live in the camp themselves. They live with
these people that we’re trying to follow up. We’re trying to follow up
these 150 families and trying to advise them and help them and try
to get them into the community agencies that can help them.

Mr. Forp. It appears that this epidemic could very well turn out to
be an expense to Dade County and to the Federal Government many
times the expense of some pretty sophisticated medical attention neces-
sary at the moment. Because as I see the picture develop, we have
examples that Mr. Juarez gave us and from what you're telling us of
people who, under normal circumstances, leave here with bills paid
up in a short time and go some place else to work. But, because he’s
been ill, his bills have fallen behind and he will lose his transporta-
tion. When he finally does get physically on his feet, he probably is
going to have to stay here because he’s immobile and he may end up
being a strain on the public as a welfare case for a long period to
come.

In effect, this is fighting a permanent obligation that may not be
fulfilled, but it is a problem that exists in the community in any
event. I hope we can get the attention of some people who will under-
stand that the people involved here now are valuable and pay divi-
dends here and elsewhere. T am concerned with how the Public Health
people can follow up on this without prejudicing the future of these
workers.

If they fan out to various parts of the country, and if the word
gets out, by the time they get to Michigan, there’s going to be a temp-
tation on the part of some people operating camps to exclude these
people because of the fear they may be bringing something with them
that might turn out to be a local problem. We don’t want to stigma-
tize these people because they happen to be in this camp. It is posing a
dilemma.

Mr. Marwster. Yes. And yet if the children are really sick or the
parents, and they go to another area and they need help, we need to
try to find out how to help them without stigmatizing them.

‘And, also if we can find out how to help these people and treat the
patients in their own area, there also would be benefits.

Mr. Forp. Thank you. ) )

Mr. Segor, executive director of the Migrant Services Foundation.
Without objection, a prepared statement Mr. Segor has been kind
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enough to send us in advance will be put in the record. And, you may
proceed to comment on it. You may amplify and explain it.

STATEMENT OF JOSEPH SEGOR, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, MIGRANT
SERVICES FOUNDATION

Mr. Secor. Thank you very much. I appreciate the invitation of
the Chair and the committee that allows me to speak today.
[ The statement referred to follows:]

STATEMENT oF JosEPH C. SEcor, BEXEcuTivi DIRECTOR, MIGRANT SERVICES
FouNpAaTION, INC.

Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, my name is Joseph C. Segor. I
am the BExecutive Director of the Migrant Services Foundation, Inc. In that
capacity I provide legal and other technical services to farmworkers, primarily
through their organizations.

I have worked with farmworkers and studied their problems since mid-1966
when I helped prepare the proposal that led to the creation of Florida Rural
Legal Services, Inc, From the beginning of my interset in this field I became
aware of two salient facts, that more than any other, characterize the situation
of farmworkers.

The first fact is their powerlessness, Farmworkers, until only very recently,
have been almost totally without political or economic power. This has been true
not oniy in relation to their employers, but also relative to nearly every other
group in our society. With the advent of the United Farm Workers Union and a
siall iumber of commnnity groups, the balance has recently begun to shift. Never-

s, the imbalance still remains extremely large.

The second fact that dominates the agricultural labor scene is the exemption
of agribusiness from the responsibilities that our society normally places upon
employers, I know of no other industry that has been able to isolate itself so
stecessfully from the main trends in labor welfare and labor relations as has
agribusiness, There can be little doubt that the success of this flight from respon-
ibility has been the direct result of the power imbalance of which I previously
spoke.

Much has been said today and on previous occasions about farmworker power-
lessness ' and I am sure you will hear even more about it from subsequent wit-
nesses. Therefore, the remainder of my remarks will be limited to a brief analysis
of the means by which agribusiness irresponsibility has been institutionalized into
the law, with particular emphasis on how the crew leader or labor contractor has
heen the major instrumentality through which this abdication of responsibility
has taken place.

For the most part, crew leaders® are farmworkers grown large. They are
generally of the same ethniec background as their crews and usually started out
as ordinary farm laborers, Through some complex of circumstances they have
been ahle to achieve leadership positions and thereby become the spokesmen.
leader and father-figure for a group of workers. Important factors in the rise of
crew leaders are family ties and the accumulation of capital. Provision of trans-
portation and of loans to tide workers over rough times are two of the most
important services provided by crew leaders aside from their primary function
of arranging for jobs. They therefore require funds to purchase trucks and
huses and to use as loan capital.

! Sep, Migrant and Seasonal Farmworker Powerlessness, Hearings before the Subcom-

mittee on Migratory Labor of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, United States
ate, 81st Congress, Pirst and Second Sessions, parts 1 through 8e.
21 will throughout these remarks use the term crew leader, rather than labor contractor.
In Florida, such usage is common. Common understanding is that a labor contractor is a
person who contracts with the owner of crops to supply harvest or other types of needed
lahor. A crew leader is a person who has a crew on behalf of whom he may contract. The
crew leader becomes a labor contractor if he contracts with the owner of the erops. He is a
crew leader if he contracts with a labor contractor. A labor contractor would not be a
crew leader if he does not bave a crew of his own. Both the Federal, 7 U.8.C, §§ 2041,
et seq. and the Florida, 450 F.S. Part III, Farm Labor Contractor Laws make “Labor
Contractor’” the generic term.

4 or a description of different types of black ecrew leaders in the Rastern Migrant
Stream see, W. Friedlapd and D. Nelkin, Migrant Labor as a Form of Intermitfent Social
Organization and as a Channel of Geographical Mobility, New York State School of Indus-
trial and Labor Relations, Cornell University, Ithaca, N.Y., May 1967.

47

Not every crew leader abuses his workers or his position, but violations of law
and of fair dealing are common. Crew leaders have on a fairly wide-spread scale,
embezzled funds, manipulated payreoll records, taken unauthorized deductions
trom workers’ pay, failed to forward Social Security money to the government,
violated Child Labor Laws, solicited for prostitution, illegally sold alcoholic
beverages, transported workers in unsafe and uninsured vehicles, knowingly
hired and in some cases imported illegal aliens, misinformed their crews about
the terms of their employment contract, concealed their own profit from their
crews and held their workers in bondage.

Attempts to reform the crew leader system, when made at all, have been
anaemic and have met with virtually no success. Yet, it is the crew leader upon
whom legislative reformers focus their attention. This is no accident.

Recently, Walter Kautz, President of the Florida Farm Bureau Federation,
was quoted * as saying that the Bureau deplores, *. . . any and all violationg
of the law by crew leaders . . .” He said that the farmer’s image was harmed
by reports of slavery at a South Dade migrant camp.

Kautz further stated: “. . . we cannot condone the lack of law -enforcement
to allow the negation of law enforcement responsibility to make farmers look
like the culprit.”

It is my belief that agribusiness not only looks like the culprif, but is the
culprit. Agribusiness has used its very considerable economic and political power
to insure that farmworkers remain powerless, to deny them the benefits of social
legislation and to establish the crew leader as the scapegoat for the harm their
actions cause to agricultural workers.

1t is a perversity of our institutions that the law, which is supposed to guar-
antee the rights of the poor and weak, is so often the means by which those rights
are denied. No group has been the vietim of this perversity more than farm-
workers.

Basically, the laws that injure farmworkers fall into three categories, Those
that exclude agricultural workers, together: those that exclude agribusiness or
some part thereof, but cover crew leaders: and those that place all or most of the
burden on the crew leader. I will briefly deal with each of these categories.

1. Laws that exclude agribusiness workers altogether.®

(@) National Labor Relations Act, 29 U.8.C. §§ 151, et seq.

The NLRA was one of the major products of “New Deal” attempts to regulate
and control social and economic conflicts through national legislation. As orig-
inally introduced it would have applied to agriculture as well as any other
industry in interstate commerce, However, when the bill was reported out of the
Senate Committee on Education and Labor, the definition of “employee’” had been
redrafted to exclude “agricultural laborers”. The legislative history does not
explain the exclusion but Senator Wagner, the Bill’s sponsor, admitted in private
that the opposition of the farm block made farmworker coverage impossible.®
This political reality also led to farmworkers being excluded from the Social
Security Act of 19357

(b.) Unemployment Tax Act, 26 U.S.C. §3306(c) (1).

For the purpose of the Unemployment Tax Act, “‘employment” does not include
an “agricultural laborer”. Although it would be permissible for Florida to pro-
vide nnemployment compensation to farmworkers, it has not done so. As does
the Federal law, the Florida Unemployment Compensation Statute states that
the term “employment” shall not include “agricultural labor”. ® The law contains
a definition of “agriecultural labor” that in its attempt to be all-encompassing
includes, “. . . clearing land or brush and other debris left by a hurricane, if
the major part of such service is performed on a farm.”

(e.) Child Labor, F.8. 450, et seq.

F.S. 450.011 provides that, “. .. except as provided in §450.061,° no pro-
vision of this chapter shall apply to a minor employed or engaged in . . . farm
work during the hours when the public schools are not in session.” The result

<+ Miami News, March 29, 1973,

5In citing statutes I will refer only to the laws of the Dnited States and of Florida.
In the time allowed to prepare this testimony it was lmpossible to study the laws of other
States. For a discussion of many State laws see, Legal Problems of Agricultural Labor,
2 U. Cal. of Davis L. Rev. (1970).

% See, Hearings Before the Subcommittee on Migratory Labor of the Senate Committee
on Labor and Public Welfare on S1864, S1865, S1866, S1877, S1868, 89th Cong., 1st and
2nd Sess. 463 (1966) (Testimony of Benjamin Aaron, Professor of Law and Director of
the Institute of Industrial Relations, University of California at Los Angeles).

M Wﬁ msw,w mu&nwﬁmwwm 1956 that farmworkers achieved limited coverage under the Act.

.S, .08(g). . :
. "Minors under sixteen cannot be employed in such hazardous occupations as working
in connection with power-driven machinery and spraying pesticides,
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of this exclusion is that farmworker children under the age of twelve can be
employed,’ their hours of work are not limited or regulated,™ they are not
guaranteed adequate restrooms and toilet facilities,” and their employers are
not required to obtain an employment certificate.’

2. Laws that exclude agribusiness, or some part thereof, but cover crew
leaders.”

(a) Social Security Act, 42 U.8.C. § 801, et seq..

§410(n) defines a crew leader as, . .. an individual who furnishes individuals
to perform agricultural labor for another person, if suech individual pays (either
on his own behalf or on behalf of such person) the individuals so furnished by
him for the agricultural labor performed by them and if such individual has
not entered into a written agreement with such person whereby such individual
has been designated as an employee of such person; and such individuals fur-
nished by the crew leader to perform agricultural labor for another person shall
be deemed to be employees of such crew leader. A crew leader shall, with respect
to services performed in furnishing individuals to perform agricultural labor for
another person and service performed as a member of the crew, be deemed not
to be an employee of such other person,

The result of this definition is that absent a written contract to the contrary,
the crew leader is responsible for the collection and payment of the Social Secu-
rity tax and not the agribusiness employer. This is true no matter what the real-
ities of the business situation may be and is exactly the opposite of the result
that obtains under the Fair Labor Standards Act.®

(h) Insurance Contributions Act, 26 U.S8.C. § 3121(0).

The same definition of “crew leader” applies as under the Social Security Act.

(¢) Florida Workmen's Compensation Act, F.S. 440,

Under this Act the word “employment” means, “all private employment in
which three or more employees are employed by the same employer.” ** However,
there is a complicated exemption formula that pertains to “agricultural labor
pertormed on a farm in the employ of a bona fide farmer or association of
farmers . . .” having a certain number of permanent employees or seasonal
employees who work for certain periods of time. The exemption does not apply
to crew leaders. They are covered by the standard definition of employment.
Most crew leaders do not know that they are covered by the law and very few
carry workmen's compensation insurance.” Very little effort has been made
to inform the crew leaders about their responsibility under the statute or ¢o
advise them that if they do not buy the insurance they become personally re-
sponsible for the payment of benefits *® or, if sued in tort, they lose their common
law defenses, including the defense of contributory negligence.’

(d) Florida Motor Vehicle Code, F.S. 316.

This statute provides that every carrier of migrant farmworkers maintain
all motor vehicles and accessories in accordance with enumerated standards.

A carrier of migrant farmworkers is defined as . . . Any person who trans-
ports or who contracts or arranges for the transportation for migrant farm-
workers to or from their employment by motor vehicle other than a passenger
automobile or station wagon, except a migrant farmworker transporting himgelf
or his Immediate family, and ewxcept the owner, the manager or « full-time
employee of the owner or manager of the crops where such migrant farmavorker
is employed.

The result of this definition is that growers are completely exempted from
the safety provisions of the code. This allows the giant sugar producers, who

WES 450.021.

11 P8 450.081.

2F.5. 450.091.

WE.8 450111,

1 Many statutes discriminate against farmworkers by establishing levels of coverage
that differ from those of other workers. Examples are, Insurance Contribution Act, 26
U.8.C. §3121(a)(8)(B); (amount of wages and days of employment); Fair Labor
Standards Act, 29 U.8.C, § 213(a) (8), (minimum wage_does not apply to certain farmers
or farmworkers, lower minimum wage, maximum hours do not apply, child labor similar to
Florida) ; Florida Workmen’s Compensation Aect, F.S. 440.02(1), (definition of employ-
ment different).

1629 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. See, Hodgson v. Griffen and Brand of McAllen, Inec., 471 F.
2d 235 (CA 5th 1973), where an enlightened court examined the employment situation
and upheld the finding of the Distriet Court that the grower was a joint employer, An
Injunction prohibiting the grower from violating the minimum wage record-keeping snd
child labor provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act was also affirmed.

10 F.8. 440.02(b)2. .

Y7 Certainly less than 59 and guite possibly less than 19 carry the insurance.

1BF.8.440.10(1) and F.8. 440.11,

1 F.8. 440.06 and F.8. 440.11.
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employ over 8,000 nonresident alien sugar cane cutters to cart their indentured
servants around packed together standing up in open trucks or in ¢losed vans
designed for the transportation of cattle and horses.

While agribusiness escapes the statute by means of an exemption the crew
leaders escape it because of non-enforcement. Even if the law were enforced
against the crew leaders reason cries out against a situation whereby the life
or health of a farmworker might depend on who owns the vehicle that transports
him,

3. Statuies that place the burden on the crew leader.

A. Federal Farm Labor Contractor Registration Law, 7 U.S.C. § 2041, et seq.

The Congress has solemnly declared that . .. the channels and instrumental-
ities of interstate commerce are being used by certain irresponsible contractors
for the services of the migrant agricultural laborers who exploit producers of
agricultural products, migrant agricultural laborers, and the public generally,
and that, as a result of the use of the channels and instrumentalities of interstate
commerce by such irresponsible contractors, the flow of interstate commerce has
been impeded, obstructed, and restrained.”

Under this statute crew leaders must register with the U.S. Department of
Labor and must comply with certain requirements including informing workers
in writing of the terms of the contract with the grower and the maintenance
of certain financial records. Laudable as this may seem, it is no more than a
ritnalistic bow in the direction of good conscience. It places the burden of
good labor practices on the person in the system that is least likely to be able
to comply. Responsibility ought to be given to those who have the ability to
shoulder it. In this case the agribusinesses that require agricultural labor should
be the instrumentalities for carrying out the social policies embodied in the Act.

If the Congress is serious about the enforcement of its policy, this considera-
tion alone requires that the burden be shifted. Crew leaders move about the
country, they are often hard to find. Agribusiness is tied to the land, it can be
easily located and it has the human and financial resources necessary to protect
the workers.

The maximum penalty under the Act is a paltry $500.00. In many instances
such a fine would be no more than a license to violate the Act.

(b) Florida Farm Labor Registration Law, F.S. 450 Part I11,

This statute is very similar to the Federal Registration Law but contains
one notable improvement, It is unlawful for any person to contract with a crew
leader until the crew leader displays to him a current certificate of registration.

The Florida law also provides, in addition to a $500,00 fine. a possible maxi-
mum penalty of 60 days imprisonment. Despite the improvement over the Fed-
eral Act contained in Florida’s prohibition against contracting with unregis-
tered crew leaders, the legislative emphasis is still in the wrong place. A regis-
tered crew leader can cheat his workers without the true agribusiness employer
incurring liability. The crew leader has the burden of maintaining finaneial
records and giving wage receipts. These responsibilities properly belong to agri-
business. The system will not work and the workers will continue to suffer so
long as this responsibility is evaded.

4. Suggested legislative changes.

Since the thrust of my remarks has been to criticize the avoidance of re-
sponsibility by agribusiness, it is only fair that I suggest a remedy.

My colleagues at Florida Rural Legal Services, Inc. have prepared the fol-
lowing rough language for a proposed statute that would place the burden of
social legislation as it pertains to farmworkers where it rightly belongs.

For purposes of the Fair Labor Standards Act, Internal Revenue Act, Social
Security Act (add other Acts) any person who contracts with any farm labor
contractor as defined in 7 U.S.C. § 2042(b) for the employment of agricultural
labor shall be primarily responsible for compliance with the provisions of
those Acts as they relate to agricultural labor.

Nothing herein is intended to relieve any farm labor confractor from his re-
sponsibilities under the above enumerated Acts.

I have not had the opportunity to determine whether the Federal govern-
ment can impose upon the States a similar requirement with regard to their
social legislation. I urge that this question be studied and, if the answer is in
the affirmative, an appropriate statute should be drafted and enacted.

T also suggest that crew leaders and their employers be required to post bond
to secure the payment of wages and other financial obligations to workers re-
quired by law.

07 0.8.C. § 2041(a).
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Thank you for allowing me to appear before the Subcommitiee today. I hope,
though frankly I do not expect, that something more will come of the testimony
that is heard today than has resulted from the volumes of testimony presented
to various committees of the Congress in the past. I know that the wheels of
Congress grind slowly, unfortunately for farmworkers they do not grind ex-
ceedingly fine,

As a lawyer T thought T would try to concentrate my remarks on
an analysis of the Federal and State laws that affect the farmworker.
And, T have been working with farmworkers for a number of years
now. and, pretty much from the beginning of that association with
the farmworkers, I have noticed salient facts that stand out in my
nind.

Ome is their relative powerlessness in society, both in relation to
their employers, and even in relation to other civil groups in our
society. And the result of that powerlessness is the other fact, which
has been the ability of agribusiness to avoid the responsibility of
other businessmen in other fields. I don’t know of any other industry
that’s been able to isolate itself from these responsibilities to the same
extent as businessmen in other fields have been required to shoulder
them in our society. And, avoidance of responsibility has been built
mto the law, both the laws passed by the Congress, and the laws passed
by the various State legislatures.

And, T think there was a very big statement that appeared in the
Miami News, our evening newspaper, back a week or so ago. and the
president of the Farm Bureau Federation and the president of the
Florida Farm Bureau Federation was quoted as saying that the Bu-
reau deplores “any and all violations of the law by crew leaders.” He
said that the farmers’ image was harmed by reports of slavery at a
South Dade migrant camp.

Mr. Walter Kautz further stated :

We cannot condone the lack of law enforcement to allow the negation of law
enforcement responsibility to make farmers look like the culprit.

And, T have to say that it is my belief that agribusiness is the
enlprit. And, ultimately the responsibility for much that happens to
the farmworkers in this country is the result of active policies that
have been carried out by agribusiness for more than 30 years.

Basically we can analyze the laws injuring farmworkers into three
types: Those that exelude agricultural workers altogether; those that
put responsibility on the crew leaders; and, those that put the entire
responsibility upon the erew leader. And, I'd like to go quickly
through and analyze some of these laws.

The classic law that excluded farmworkers altogether is the National
Labor Relations Act. And, that act has that exclusion built into it, as
Senator Wagner said in private, the reason farmworkers were ex-
cluded is the opposition of the farm bloc which had the votes in those
States, made that exclusion necessary.

And, we have also their exclusion from the Social Security Act.

Further, we have the Unemployment Tax Act which provides for
unemployment insurance. This is a key piece of legislation, and yet
agricultural workers are excluded from unemployment compensation
and the States are not required by Congress to exclude agricultural
workers, but, I think except for Hawalii, if my memory is correct, all
the States have chosen to exclude agrieultural workers.
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The Florida Legislature was so intent upon making sure that
agricultural workers were excluded that its law includes “clearing land
or brush and other debris left by a hurricane, if the major part of such
service is performed on a farm.”

Then we have the child labor law and the provision is there that
the law shall not apply to a minor employed or engaged in farmwork
during the hours when the public schools are not in session. The result
of this law is it is the only law applying in the State involving the
school attendance law. So, they don’t have the protection other children
have in regard to age at which other children work. Farmworker chil-
dren under the age of 12 can be employed. Their hours of work are
not limited or regulated and they are not guaranteed adequate rest-
rooms or toilet facilities.

They theoretically can work from 3:30 when they get out of school
to 6 o’clock the next morning.

This does not necessarily happen that they work throughout the
night, but it is a theoretical possibility.

Now, we can take a look at the laws that cover the crew leaders.

One of the prime offenders there is the National Social Security
Act. That act defines in chapter 410,

A crew leader as an individual who furnishes individuals to perform agri-
cultural labor for another person, if such individual pays—either on his own
behalf or on behalf of such person—the individual so furnished by him the
agricultural labor performed by them and if such individual has not entered
into a written agreement with such person whereby such individual has been
designated as an employee of such person; and such individuals furnished by
the crew leader to perform agricultural labor for another person shall be
deemed to be employees of such crew leader.

So that means that the crew leader is one responsible for the social
security.

I know of no contract to the contrary other than union contracts.

So the businessman who really has facilities and the ability, the
financial ability, and who furthermore is tied to the land, must find
crew leaders for work. But, the people who can be held responsible
can legally avoid that responsibility.

We have the same with the Insurance Contribution Act, which
handles the social security fund.

Again getting back to the State, and I'm using only Florida be-
cause I’m most familiar with those laws, but what I say about Florida
applies to other States of the Union, that the Florida Workmen'’s
Compensation Act excludes employment by or with a bona fide farmer
organization or farmer.

Then there is a definition as to the size, having to do with the
number of employees. Yet the Florida workmen’s compensation law
is very simple. Everyone must be covered where there are three or
more employees.

So, we have an anomalous situation with a farmer who has a million
dollar credit at the bank being able to avoid workmen’s compensation
coverage, whereas the crew leader is held responsible. According to
this law, the crew leader if he doesn’t have the insurance, becomes per-
sonally responsible for paying benefits, or, if sued intort, they lose
their common law defenses including that defense of contributory
negligence.

One of the worst ones on the State level is the Florida Motor
Vehicle Code. And, there they have a provision that says that any
person who transports or who contracts or arranges for the transporta-
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tion for migrant farmworkers to or from their employment by motor
vehicle other than a passenger automobile or station wagon, except a
migrant farmworker transporting himself or his immediate family,
and except the owner, the manager or a full-time employee of the
owner or manager of the ecrops where such migrant farmworker is
employed—in other words, the owners of crops are exempt from the
motor vehicle safety act.

That means the life or the health of a migrant farmworker can
very well be determined by who owns the vehicle he’s in.

You have heard before about the sugar industry. Well, there are
some sugar producers employing over 8,000 nonresident alien sugar-
cane cutters carting their indentured servants as close as you can
get them packed in an open truck, and driven around on U.S. 27,
which is known as the, or one of the most dangerous highways in the
country. And, others have transported them driven in vans designed
for horses and cattle with no seats in them, although if they were
covered by the code, they would have seats in the inside.

Mr. Forp. Let me tell you some personal experiences.

When the hracero program was in operation, there were some mini-
mum standards required in such things as safety of transportation for
aliens who are here under the bracero program during the time they
were going to and coming from employment.

And, in my State of Michigan as a young and ambitious State sen-
ator, T introduced a piece of legislation to put the same safety stand-
ards for our State into effect for American citizens who are migrant
workers. I discovered I was called a Socialist and other things that I
hawve since become used to. If the farmer or crew leader attempts to
transport a Mexican citizen on an open, flatbed truck on the highway,
he would be promptly subjected to arrest and prosecution. If the
farmworker was a third or fourth or fifth generation American and
he fell off that truck, there was no responsibility.

It is very difficult for me to understand how we can go so long with-
ont heing able to feel any conscience pangs about this, and correct
those situations where we treat those who are not American citizens
better than those who are.

Mayhe the problem now is going to come into focus with some addi-
tional protagonists on these 1ssues, and the agribusiness, as you have
described it, will start to think of the migrant workers as I think the
antomobile industry has finally gotten to think of its workers, as a
resource to be protected and nurtured so it is always available for sap-
povt of the industry.

[ visualize what you are describing here with these exclusions as a
series of policies at the Federal and State level that is dictating to us
at we are going to transfer one very large number of highly moti-
vated job seekers into not very highly motivated welfare cases.

[ wanted to interrupt you to say that this is a little different
approach we've had from witnesses in the past, and T appreciate this
kind of perspective on it. One of the legislative directions that I per-
sonally hope we can take in this committee is a commission similar to
the 10.8. Civil Rights Commission that could provide a forum for
representing, in a way that will become understandable to the Ameri-
can people, these problems as they are applied to the whole country.

Tt would be easy for some of us to point a finger at Florida saying
vou are a backward State because you don’t do these things, if we were
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w% painfully aware of the fact that other States aren’t doing any
etter.

While T know of people who really get turned off when you say
that only the Federal Government can solve the problem, the Presi-
dent 1s saying that the Federal Government can’t solve problems, it
has to be State and local. I think what you’re doing here is mak-
ing a very strong case for the fact it is not reasonable for the State and
local government to answer these problems. It is going to have to be
a Federal answer,

Mr. Srcor. I think that the retreat of the Federal Government from
responsibility is tragic, and I think also that the Federal Government
has, as I’ve been pointing out, been quite irresponsible for these
activitlies.

And, I have been analyzing what is on the books. I haven’t talked

about how these laws that are on the books haven’ been enforced by
the State and the Federal Government. But I have been through as
many hassles with the Federal Government people as with the State
government.
. From the point of view of the State governmeut, and as a lawyer
in my work, I think I would like to hassle more with the Federal
Government area than with 67 local governments. And, that is, if I
want to deal with a problem, at least I have one agency that I can yell
and scream at and sue. And it becomes almost impossible to focus re-
sponsibility in local areas without a Federal presence.

But I’d like to see the farmworkers getting together themselves
and trying to work out through contractual relationships their own
destinies, ,

If I have a contract, as Walter Williams was saying, that there has
to be water in the fields, and the company doesn’t supply it, I'll have a
right to it and I’ll find out that it is enforcible and that the company
can be taken to court. So, if we pass a pretty good health sanitation
law and there is no inspection, what do you do? I am not arguing
against those laws. We need them, but they’re not the whole answer
and I certainly don’t put all my faith in the government at any level.

I do support the strong movement that we have. It is an important
ingredient. But without the Federal Government, I think the area
couldn’t be covered. And social legislation like the Social Security Act
where you're getting down to welfare, where there is no one that can
help, and where there is no access to private resources, perhaps Federal
programs can serve the people’s interests.

I’d like to point out two crew leader acts that we propose, one
Federal and one State. And again I°d like to focus the responsibility
on the guy who needs it to be regulated. He needs to be regulated out
of existence, in my opinion. And that is the crew leader, because T
don’t think the system really can work otherwise.

And, the law is, where you can focus responsibility on the crew
leader as anv person who contracts with any farm labor contract as
defined in 7 U.8.C. chapter 2042(c) for the emnloyment of agricultnral
labor shall be primarily responsible for compliance with the provisions
of those acts as they relate to agricultural labor. So, if a farm leader
emplovs a crew leader who isn’t registered. he is subject to the same
penalties of the act as the crew leader. And, T think we only have about
40 crew leaders registered under the act in Florida, and obviously
there must be a lot of employers facing penalties. But, T don’t expect to
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seo those penalties enforeed. So, it took 2 years for them to get out
emergency regulations under our Crew Leader Registration Act. And,
I sat down for 3 months trying to get regulations written with the
appropriate individual, and I pointed out a long list of reasons why
regulations were needed, and even made suggestions on how to d.qﬁmo
them. And, only a month or 2 ago they were saying that we didn’t
need them. And, we finally got them through after 2 years of struggle.

So. throwing things back at various levels of government 1s not
entirely the answer. But, I have a suggestion for Federal legislation
which the committee might consider, and that is that you pass a ES
ich involves the presumption in the Social Security Act to the effect
that it would make an employer of a crew leader responsible, thus
oing back to the agribusinessman, the person, making a person pri-
; responsible for complying with the Federal statute. And, in
the time I've had in front of this committee to testify, I haven’t been
able to research the situation to find out who in the Federal Govern-
ment has the power to impose such a regulation upon the States when
they begin to regulate in this field. But, if that is researched and is
feasible, T suggest that also be done. So, what we have under the Fair
Labor Standards Act and similar acts would be required of crew lead-
ers and their employers, and their financial obligations to workers
wonld he required under this law. And, the Federal Government ought
to enforce it. When the Fair Labor Standards Act was reported by
this committee to the floor, it was passed, but subsequently bottled up
nt the end of the session, so then it couldn’t go to conference with the
~enate.

And, T attached an amendment to this act, which was not opposed in
committee and not opposed in principle on the floor, making the em-
plover responsible and liable whether or not a person he was hiring was
1Mlegal or here as an illegal alien. Of course, maybe the reason it didn’t
oet passed is that it’s so very simple people didn’t understand it.

Mr. Foro. T see you're collaborating with some good people. And,
maybhe you can give us specifics on this .

Mr. Seaor. We will try to do so. And T understand the administra-
tion has supported coverage of farm workers under unemployment
ipensation and would certainly urge this committee to do every-
thing it can to get that coverage. I think it’s an important coverage
for farmworkers, because of quirks of nature and the other problems
of agriculture. Farm workers are often subjected to lengthy periods
of nnemployment, and by golly, if there is any group of society that
should have heen covered from the beginning under the Unemploy-
ment Insurance Act, and who need it the most, farmworkers certainly
should be covered. )

You have heard the testimony that they are hardworking people.
And, these various laws are designed to protect the people from things
that they can’t protect themselves from, such as food and drink, and
so forth, to protect the consumer and the farmworkers. They need that
protection very bhadly. )

So, T hope the Members of Congress support that action. And, I
nnderstand it wasn’t passed the last time because, as T understand, the
c of information about the economic effects of such a requirement,
and that information has been compiled, and I’ve had the opportunity
to attend several meetings with people of this State at the University
of Florida who did the study for our State. And I think the conclusion
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is that it is economically feasible both for Florida and for the other
States surveyed. v

Mr. Forp. You've raised the question whether or not Congress could"
justify it, and there is a precedent. The building trades people in the
District of Columbia are covered for Workmen’s Compensation by
the Longshoremen and Harbor Workers Act, because the District of
Columbia, not being a State, has no Workmen’s Compensation law.

S0, last year when we changed the benefits for Longshoremen and
Harbor Workers, we appropriately set up the most generous workmen’s
compensation schedule in the country. While many of my colleagues
weren’t watching it too closely, we automatically blanketed the build-
ing trades into the best deal anybody has in the country.

The precedent is there for having the Federal Government assume
the responsibility. We can understand why a State like Florida should
not be expected to take the burden unfairly for labor resource used by
other States actually more working months of the year than itself.

Mr. Secor. I think it is fair that the National Government do it. I
have urged the State government to do it on its own, because it is eco-
nomically feasible, but it really should be done federally.

But, to digress, you have heard the way the crew leaders used this
publicly funded and operated Housing Authority as if it was their
own camp by controlling dwellings in it. And, if that is against the
official policy of the Authority, I've had many instances that were
referred to me where this has occurred. And, I’ve heard of poor people
being thrown out of a house by a crew leader. And, I have a receipt
for rent in one of the camps by the Housing Authority signed by a
crew leader. And I thought you would like to have a copy of it.

Mr. Forp. I think that is the kind of thing we will follow up on.

Mr. Lanperese. You have made a fine presentation, and you show
your obvious concern in improving the quality of life for the migrant
workers, including the matter of unemployment compensation.

Now, in this day when the headlines and a major concern of most
people is the cost of food on the shelf, can we improve living condi-
tion for the migrant worker? Can we improve his salary ? Can we offer
fringe benefits—which, I submit, are enjoyed by so many that it
almost seems unfair to exclude anyone. But, food prices are already
high. At least, people who should understand the situation seem really
concerned. So, how can we improve the lot of the migrant worker
without increasing the cost of food ? Or should we perhaps increase the
cost of food ¢

Mr. Srcor. That would be a very unpopular thing for me to ad-
vocate. To increase the cost of food in the middle of a meat boycott.
I am not an economist, and Dr. Barry can do this better than I can,
probably. I have read material on this subject, and of course it con-
cerns me. There is not much sense in putting the industry you work
for out of business, and farmworkers certainly don’t want to advocate
putting themselves out of business because that is their jobs too.

But, the percentage of the cost of food that applies at the grower
level, is in the case of the crops like vegetables and citrus, less than
half of the cost at the retail level. And, I think it sometimes is only
20 percent or 80 percent of the cost at the retail level. So, much of the
housewife’s expense is not attributable to the grower and certainly not
to the agricultural laborer who's only a varying percentage of the cost
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to the grower. The grower’s cost of maintenance of equipment and
everything else is a very small part of this. I've heard statements that
vou could double wages of harvest laborers and still not make an
appreciable dent at the retail level. But, T think we either have to do
it there or subsidize it for all the people, because what we're seeing
now is this small group of people picking crops gubsidizing the cost
of food at the retail level. And, that 1s unfair. ) . )

Mr. LanporERE. You are saying that agribusiness is keeping too big
a share for itself? Or are these crew leaders. who are coming under
suspicion here today, taking an unwarranted share of the pie for their
activities? .

Mr. Secor. What T am trying to say is. it's possible to really improve
the lot of the migrant worker without forcing up prices unnecessarily.

I am not talking about if it 1s necessary-—there a man would be
entitled to a living wage, and if we have to push the pricesas a result,
that's the way it has to be. But, if there is siphoning off of what the
worker should have, in terms of profits, T think there certainly should
be adjustments someplace. And, again 1 am not an economist who can
pick apart every segment of the agricultural industry. Because there
is o difference between the guy who’s handling tomatoes and the guy
in a citrus grove, and to analyze that properly. I am not an economist.
T will say that some of the people must siphon off and some of them
might not. But, the issue as 1 see it, whether it is the farmer siphoning
the profits off, and I'm not sure of that either, if the farmer is doing
it, he doesn't control all of the prices. although there are some who
can. But, the independent farmer and particularly the small farmer,
who's fast drawing out, he has a difficult proposition. And the agri-
cultural business is the culprit. I think their legislative policies are
both nnwise and unwarranted. And in some cases they’re very vindic-
tive. Because I think Representative Ford believes that there 1s
really more to gain with farmworkers cooperating than in the strugela
they've had through the years, and strugeling for farmworkers’
benefits.

Mr. Forp. Between 1978 and 1980, about 200,000 migrants and other
seasonal farmworkers will no longer be needed to harvest fruit and
vegetables, according to a detailed study. This came out of Michigan
State University. They have come to this conclusion, and they expect
that the impact will be most severe in Oregon, in Michigan, California,
and Texas. It will involve tomatoes, grapes, cherries, and so on. They
believe 800,000 fewer farmworkers will be needed by 1975 than were
employed in 1968.

What this tells me is, since my State is one mentioned here, that the
cost of this new sophisticated machinery that will replace 800,000 jobs
in that period of time is more likely to have an impact on the cost of
cherries. beans, tomatoes. and so on when they get to the market basket
than anything anybody has proposed in the way of increased benefits
for farmworkers. Increase cost of the farmer is not involved in the
direction of inereased labor costs, but in the bigger capital investment
and all of the expenditures involved in maintaining that capital invest-
ment.

So. if there are farmers that believed for a long time that they’re
@oing to protect their profits by resisting benefits for the labor portion
of this, they’d better take a look where their economics are really going.

57

Mr. Secor. And that leads to another question which I had not
gotten into in my testimony in which I am active in to some degree.

We have publicly been subsidizing the creation of this automatic
equipment without at the same time taking care of the people who are
going to be displaced by that equipment. And who often have no other
Skill other than the ability to pick the crops. And I have gone into that
with our own universities in Florida, which have a very large group of
agricultural individuals. And they have developed the new MHI
tomato for machine harvesting.

And, T said, you have developed that, and what attention have you
given to what happens to those picking those crops down here in south
Dade County? And they passed it by and said that it isn’t their re-
sponsibility.

And, yet these people receive a lot of money from public sources,
and I think they ought to be required to have some responsibility to
pay attention to this, and use that brainpower up there to deal with
these problems.

We have a little community farmworker organization that hasa few
dollars to provide social services to the manpower program and a few
dollars for economic development to get these people into their own
businesses. And yet they have thousands and thousands of people who
cannot handle this. And, if it isn’t handled, I just don’t know. They'll
have to be in it. But, something needs to be applied to these resources,
and they are being misallocated right now. And we can wait 2 while
for the development of the machines until we develop the human re-
sources’ capability, and we are way out in this, and way behind in
human resources. That is all T have, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Foro. Thank you very much. I hope you will stay in contact with
our staff on these other things.

Mr. Szcor. I will.

Mr. Forp. We have Mr. Max Rothman, who is executive director
of the Florida rural legal services program.

STATEMENT OF MAX ROTHMAN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, FLORIDA
RURAL LEGAL SERVICES PROGRAM .

Mr. Roreyan. Mr. Chairman, Congressman Landgrebe, thank you
very much for the invitation to appear before you today.

We have heard some rather incredible testimony here this morning
from Mr. Segor and Mr. Medina and Mr. Juarez and various farm-
workers that have appeared before you, and I will see if I can add a
little more incredible testimony.

[ The statement referred to follows:]

SPATEMENT OF Max B, RoTHMAN, BXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, F1L.OoRIDA RURAL
Leeal SErvIcEs, INc.

“Tt ig g basic tenet of a democratic society that the protection of individual
rights cannot turn on a matter of income or social class, since justice then
becomes a luxury, available to a privileged few.”

Unfortunately, this statement quite accurately reflects the current situation
throughout rural Florida. According to the Tevinson Report on availability of
Legal Services in Florida, 41 counties, heavily rural, are without any existing
legal services or legal aid program whatsoever. The situation is ne better
throughout the United States. Neither federal, state or local governments, nor
the various bar associations, have been willing or able to support programs
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capable of delivering effective legal assistance to the vast majority of farm-
workers and rural poor. In fact, Florida Rural Legal Services, Inc., the only
federally-funded legal services program serving rural Florida, has remained at
the same budgetary level for more than four years, has already closed one of
its branch offices and is faced with the very probability of additional cutbacks
in the near future. This is occurring at a time when the entire Legal Services
Program is under unprecedented attack and the future of independent programs
remains very much in doubt.

The experience of Florida Rural Legal Services, Inc., is indicative of the vast
scope of this problem. The program, with an annual budget of $515,000, main-
tains five offices, 21 attorneys, and 10 para-legals responsible for servicing the
legal needs of farmworkers and the rural poor in a seven-county area of South
Florida. The Florida Department of Commerce estimates there are between
50,000 and 60,000 farmworkers, not to mention other rural poor, in these seven
counties. Most of these farmworkers, according to state and federal statistics,
are eligible for free legal services. Yet, although Florida Rural Legal Services,
inc., has been averaging 5,000 to 6,000 new matters per year, the vast majority
ligible persons remain without available counsel. Obviously, the situation
1ghout the rest of rural Florida, where another 50,000 farmworkers and

»h has been written about the “culture of poverty.” If anything, this phrase
deseribes the condition of so many farmworkers, a condition incapable of
measurement by mere statistical characterization. It is a feeling of hopelessness
instilled in successive generations of those trapped in a circle of economie
degradation and distintegration. This vicious cycle is even further ingrained
in the case of racial minorities. The overt manifestations of this condition—
crime and violence, lack of confidence in government and public officiais-—have
heen witnessed in ghetto after ghetto throughout urban America as millions have
abandoned the farm in a futile quest of economic gain and security.

The systematic attempt to provide legal services to the victims and also-rans
of modern technological America is of quite recent origin. Until creation of the
national Legal Services Program, the response of the formal legal system and
the rural bar was essentially one of neglect. Cost of private attorneys has typi-
cally been prohibitive; furthermore, private attorneys simply do not exist in
many isolated pockets of rural poverty. If attorneys are located in rural areas,
they are not untypically objects of cultural distrust. They are quite accurately
perceived as pillars of the establishment, counsel for farmers, landlords, busi-
nesses and the state. For whatever reasons, it is clear that farmworkers and the
rural poor remain essentially without access to lawyers or the legal tools nec-
essary to function effectively within their environment.

Indeed, it has been one of the great failures of the American system of justice

that most farmworkers and other poor people do not view the law as an instru-
mentality for the orderly regulation of social conduct. For them, the law has
consistently been a negative experience: a policeman, a criminal charge, a judge
in black robe. The law has been a garnishment writ, a bill collection letter or
a repossession of goods. The law is always on the other side, a tool of the ruling
class and a pressure that must be resisted one way or another. In a word, farm-
worlkers have typically participated in the legal system only when absolutely
foreed to by some outside party.
It is virtually impossible to determine whether and to what extent legal
S0 es programs have helped legitimize courts and other legal institutions in
the minds of the poor. At a minimum, many programs do perform a “safety
valve” function and help minimize the poor’s alienation and distrust of many
establishment institutions. Unquestionably, poverty lawyers, while at times chal-
lenging existing laws and practices, nonetheless are contributing to the overall
stability of society and to confidence in its legal system.

Florida Rural Legal Services, Inc., and other similar programs serve farm-
workers in a wide variety of substantive fields. These workers encounter legal
difficulties in the following areas: divorce and other family problems; housing
(particularly landlord-tenant and housing authority cases): consumer and em-
ployment (particularly wage claims and sales contracts; administrative (includ-
ing welfare, social security and all other government agencies) ; schools (stu-
dent's rights); and penal (misdemeanors, provision of counsel ete.). In fact,
the list is virtually endless. Furthermore, Legal Services Programs help at-
tract other federal and state resources, such as housing and employment projects,
E rural areas. Basically, farmworkers and the rural poor have the same variety
of legal problems as the rest of society but are much more likely to suffer hard-
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ship as a consequence of them. The legal services attormey then becomes the
only link for many poor with the law, the only promise for a satisfactory
resolution of their problems.

Finally, it is important to acknowledge the educational role of the poverty Hmﬂw-
yer. In rural Florida, with a below-poverty-average income for all residents, this
role is basic to the overall success of any particular program. Legal services law-
yers become experts in poverty law, with the same obligation as private attorneys
to educate their clients concerning their rights and obligations. gw.u% potential
problems are avoided through these educational efforts, Legal services lawyers
help remove some of the mystery that has traditionally surrounded the law and
the legal system. The system becomes more available and therefore immensely
more effective.

Gentlemen, programs of Legal Services for farmworkers and the poor through-
out this country are confronted with imminent destruction as a national force.
Refunding applications for programs in rural outputs as well as urban ghettos
are manipulated in Washington with little concern for resulting dislocation and
demoralization. Back-up Centers such as the Migrant Legal Action Program, an
extremely important national force in the struggle to provide minimum legal
safeguards for farmworkers, are being terminated without hearings, forcing them
into unnecessary and time-consuming litigation. The administration ponders &
revenue-sharing scheme for legal services rather than creation of an independent
Legal Services Corporation, a plan designed to introduce local politics into the
programs and relegate them to a constant struggle for survival. In the mean-
time, farmworkers and their families remain victims of typhoid epidemies and
conditions of near-slavery. We simply urge this Sub-Committee to help farm-
workers eliminate lawlessness on the farm and, finally, to provide them with
the legal protections to which all other workers have long been entitled.

Mr. Roraman. I would like to briefly summarize my written state-
ment now. o

I might add when the initial peonage cases broke in Homestead, we
contacted the Department of Labor in Atlanta, and they had knowl-
edge of it. And, this was 2 days after the facts had widespread pub-
licity. And, this indicates to me that the situation would be under
investigation both for purposes of Fair Labor Standards Act and the
Farm Labor Contractor Registration Act, And, I have not heard back
from them to this date, and there probably will be litigation arising
out of this peonage investigation in Homestead. And, there are per-
haps two or three others, in addition to those heard earlier. But, that’s
not for me to state.

The Florida rural legal services program services 5,000 to 6,000 new
matters per year, and still cannot provide services to the poor who
would be eligible for free legal services, This means that not more
than 10 or 15 percent of those requiring such services get it. Farm-
workers are indeed the most tragic vestige of the culture of poverty,
yet traditionally have been shortchanged by the system of justice in
this country for all farmworkers, who see the legal system as a force to
be resisted. But, they are beginning to see how some attorneys can use
the law effectively to solve their problems.

The Florida rural legal services program and other programs help
in divorce and family problems; housing, including landlord-tenant
and housing authority cases; wage claims and sales contracts, domestic
relations, and many other legal problems. They are gradually educat-
ing them about their rights and their obligations. I might mention
that numerous potential problems are avoided through these efforts
to make the legal system more available and therefore more effective.
This contributes significantly to the overall stability of the society in
which we all live. But, legal service programs and other programs
specifically designed to assist farmworkers are under unprecedented
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attack in Washington. If, as reported, legal service programs are to
be revenue shared through block funds to the States, the national effort
to provide farmworkers and other poor with minimum legal protection
will cease. Programs will be sacrificed at the altar of local politics and
forced into constant struggle for survival.

As T mentioned, I would he most willing to assist the subcommittee
ith anything they desire, and I'd like to thank you for the oppor-
tunity to appear here today.

Mr. Forn. I note you make reference to Professor Levinson’s report
on the availability of legal services in Florida.

Mr. RoraMAaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Forp. T conducted hearings almost a year and a half or so ago
at the time he finished that study. Professor Levinson helped us, as
you're no doubt aware, concerning our prime jurisdiction over the legal
services program. My recollection of the entire experience we had here
was that the organized bar of Florida was surprisingly strong in its
support for what was developing here in legal services. We were try-
ing to tell those people here, as well as people from up North in fact.
that we were doing something for the rural people. When you contrast
the reception we've had here with what we encountered in California
with rural legal services, it is quite a difference. So, while you have
been laboring under very difficult circumstances, you have had groups
in other parts of the country that have had it a little tougher.

Can you tell us briefly what your current status is with your legal
service program? What are you now told in terms of your expenses for
this year?

Mr. Roraman. Our present grant terminates as of Sentember 30,

1973, so we weren’t caught in this most recent series of difficulties in
Washington,

However, we were authorized late last fall to close one of our offices
in Fort Myers in Lee County, and also have been forced to reduce the
numbers of positions in this program because of the fact that the pro-
gram stayed at the same budgetary level as it was when it began. And,
all of our costs have skyrocketed.

And, a person in the National Office of Legal Services yesterday in-
formed me that the Director, the Acting Director told the staff the day
hefore that he personally doesn’t have any idea whatsoever what the
Administration’s plans are going to be for legal services.

Our greatest concern at the present time is, as we get closer and
closer to the date that our funds run out, not only does staff begin to
get edgy and look for different employments, but our activities begin
to slow down significantly. And, it is extremely difficult to recruit in
order to prepare our program for the coming season.

So. this is another problem that is currently facing us. Quite frankly,
whether the program will continue as it has in the past. I don’t know.
We are preparing our funding application for the Office of Legal
Services, and when I asked our Regional Office in Atlanta last week
what steps T might take to protect ourselves—since they might be out
of business by this month—they have no idea. And, we are drifting
in the wilderness as it were, without any ideas whatsoever, not only
whether we will be in existence next year, but if we are, who do we
direct our attention to in terms of directing our application.

Mr. Forp. Mr, Towell, a ranking Republican on our subcommittee,
introduced a bill, which I think I am cosponsoring with him, to try
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to get a fail-safe situation during this year while we negotiate further.
That was reported in the Miami Herald yesterday.

So there is bipartisan support at the committee level for main-
taining you until we find out what the administration wants to do.
We have some indication they’re going to support some form of a
legal service corporation. The budget, I think, has $71.5 million in it
for that.

And, counsel points out to me, if we fail to enact that corporation,
1t may be a question whether there is a commitment to spend that
money.

Mr. Roraman. T am sure you are aware the Migrant Legal Act
would be a tremendous assistance to our programs and would
be a help not to have to operate on a month-to-month basis, and have
their effectiveness seriously curtailed. And, our whole network is very
much under attack at the present time.

Mr. LanoereBe. I have listened with interest to your statement
and the dialog. And, I am one of the members of the committee in the
Congress who is supporting the Congress in phasing out this legal
services program, and I am basing it on personal observations and
testimony that we have taken that indicate in some areas of the coun-
try this money was being used to foment revolutions. So, it's pretty
stupid for a country to go in debt to provide legal services to create
ﬁwmﬁ revolution in our country. We have enough problems without
that.

Now, the principle behind this program is good and I have no op-
position to poor people having legal services, of course. But, how much
money was sent back to .Tallahassee, Fla., to the State government
under the Revenue Sharing Act just prior to election last year?

Mr. Roraman. I don’t have the precise figure.

Mr. Lanoerese. The State of Florida received over $40 million.
And, why can’t revenue sharing be considered for some of these hu-
man resource programs? Have you gone to Tallahassee and applied
with your State Representatives for funds to cover some of this?
The President’s reasoning, and Howard Phillips’ reasohing, is that
these programs, if they are good, should be funded by their local and
State government. They can supervise them and make sure the money
goes where it ought to go—that is, to help poor people who ought to
have legal services but don’t have legal services available to them.

I am sorry about making sort of a speech, but I really think you
ought to make a plea for some of this money from the State level.

Mr. Roraman. I'd like to comment on that.

First of all, P'm not sure what you're referring to when you say
legal service program fomenting revolution, but, the general account-
ing office has reported that legal service program spend over 99 per-
cent of their time and their resources representing individual legal
matters. And, in fact, the law reforms are class-action cases—which
Mr. Phillips seems to take some issue with—have, in fact, represented
less than 1 percent of our time and resources across the country.

Mr. Forp. I've always been very critical of those facts as one of
those people who helped put this program together. T expected you to
do a lot more of that than you have done.

Mr. Roraman. We have tried to be more aggressive in handling
these problems, yes.

27-830 O - 74 -5 .
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Mr. Foro. I agree with Mr. Landgrebe that there are some stories
that would lead him to the conclusion he has drawn with respect to
some activities. I have held more hearings on legal services across the
country than anybody in the Congress. I would be less than candid
as supporter of the program if T didn’t say this, hut you have a num-
ber ot highly motivated conscientious young people, and if you turn
them loose with the weapons they got with their education, sometimes
their enthusiasm outweighs what we would consider to be mature
judgment on the part of a lawyer. They get themselves in hot water.
Things have happened. But. now you are covered by a special kind
of Hatch Act. It is a Hateh Act plus. The reason was to insulate
against you people making such a mistake in the future. I think we
ean continue to ferret these specific kinds of instances that happen
that bother people, and tighten it up. ]

Mr. Roriman. Most of those instances, T think, that you’re referring
to, T believe have taken place as long ago as 3 or 4 years. It is difficult
to believe that we are engnging significantly in revolutionary activities.

Mr. Laxocrere. These are rare examples, yes.

Mr. Roruwmax. When the accounting office, the General Accounting
Office, says that we have an 80-percent success rate across the country,
we're just bringing these cases in, and the courts are making the de-
cisions. And, it is extremely difficult to——

Mr. LanporeRE. Assume you're getting 100 percent scoring. You're
not fomenting revolutions. This makes it all the more reasonable for
vou to go up to the State government and say that since the guys in the
Federal Government have sent you millions of dollars in revenue
sharing, why not give a chunk of it to carry out this much needed
program, rather than build a new women’s prison ?

Mr. Roraman. I have two final comments. One, we have gone to
the State of Florida a month ago and set up a new program that at-
tempts to bring legal services. And, we didn’t hear anything. Counties
previonsly without legal services or legal aid programs should have
them. But, T personally appeared before the Broward County Com:
mission in Fort Lauderdale about 3 weeks ago supporting the Broward
C'ounty Bar’s proposal for a legal aid agency, supporting an increase
in the filing fees. While T supported the concept, we took specific
exception to a revision in the ordinance that would have prohibited
attorneys from any legislation directed against any Federal or State or
local entity. And, suffice it to sav that they didn’t let me continue my
presentation and they cut me off in the middle. And, it was strongly
indicated that the local government shonld not get in the business of
funding programs that turn around and sue them. And, this is pre-
cisely the type of thing we face when we go to the local authorities
for funding.

They want to protect the independence of attorneys and not fund
these programs. Now we are engaged in an attempt to secure funding
from the State of Florida to expand the existing programs, but I
certainly believe that a strong national commitment and a strong
national effort is absolutely essential to continue the national struggle
to provide legal protection for the poor. And, T can’t think of any
group more specifically included in this group than the farmworkers
whose problems are move than any other groups in this country. It is
a national problem because of the migrancy conditions involved.
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Mr. Lanperese. Have you taken any action against crew leaders?

Mr. Roraman. We have one case under litigation right now, and
we have intentions to file at least two and possibly more cases. That
is, within the next 2 weeks.

Thank you very much.

Mr. Forn. And I would like to thank you very much.

Without objection, the prepared statement of Dr. Barry will be
placed in the record at this time. You may proceed, Doctor.

[The statement referred to follows:]

STATEMENT OF D. MARSHALL BARRY, PH. D., AsSISTANT PROFESSOR oF HcoNoMICs,
NEw COLLEGE, SARASOTA, FLA.

The legal requirements which must be fulfilled prior to the certification of
foreign agricultural workers for employment in the United States are set forth
in the United States Labor Department directive 35 F.R. 12395, 8/4/70, Section
602.10 through 602.10b. This document contains an explicit definition of the
“reasonable effort” required to find American farm workers prior to the certi-
fication of foreign workers to fill available employment opportunities in the
United States.

Most important in this explicit definition of “reasonable effort” is the require-
ment that full use of local and day haul workers and the interstate clearance
system to find Americans be undertaken. The timing of such efforts is also
prescribed since the growers must file their request for alien workers at least
30 days prior to their recruitment in order to permit the Manpower Administra-
tion to determine the availability of American workers.

In the material supplied by the Department of Labor to the United Farm
Workers (A.F.L—C.1.0O.) containing all proof of “reasonable effort,” there are
clear violations of both the intent and letter of the laws which protect American
workers. Mr. George Sorn for the Florida Fruit and Vegetable Association (let-
ter dated 6/14/72) and Mr. Fred C. Sikes for the Florida Sugar Producers Asso-
ciation (letter dated 6/16/72) wrote to the State of Florida Department of
Commerce requesting certification for alien workers to cut and plant sugar cane
for the 1972-73 season. In neither letter was there any proof of “reasonable
effort” to find and reeruit Americans for the current or past seasons. Documen-
tation consisted entirely of references to the “past experience” of the companies.
The law, of course, requires current and continuing effort. In short, before the
companies had made their first attempt to find Americans to fill American jobs,
they resorted to the request for Aliens and assumed no Americans would be
found.

Scarcely two weeks later, Mr. Samuel Ashdown, Deputy Secretary and Em-
ployment Security Administrator for the Florida Department of Commerce, en-
dorsed these requests in a letter to Mr. William U. Norwood, the Regional Man-
power Administrator for the U.S. Department of Labor in Atflanta. Mr. Ashdown,
(letter dated 6/28/72) apparently quoting from the sugar cane growers’ letters,
also based his request upon “past emperience” without any proof of current at-
tempts to find American workers to fill the positions, the vast majority of which
would not be available for several months. Once again, while the request for
certifieation had cleared the state level and reached Atlanta, no actual attempts
had yvet been made to find Americans.

Finally, Mr. William U. Norwood in a telegram dated July 11, 1972, endorsed
the certification requests of the growers to the Manpower Administration in
Washington, D.C. on the basis of “pasi experience” of the industry, once again
an apparent quote from the original requests of the agribusinesses. Once again
there had been no positive recruitment which could be considered a “reasonable
affort” to find Americans for these jobs. In fact, the first documented recruit-
ment visit by the industry representatives to an office of the Rural Manpower
Service occurred on August 2, 1972, after miniscule publicity in media which
would have little likelihood of reaching American farmworkers. None-the-less,
one week later on August 9, 1972, Mr. Norwood certified the first increment of
Jamaicans (285) to work in the sugar fields of Florida. Since the Labor De-
partment directive requires a minimum of 30 days of effort, this act clearly is a
gross violation. The intent of the immigration laws to protect American jobs
for Americans naturally is thwarted when the agency designated as the protector
of our workers becomes a mechanism for the achievement of the agribusiness’
objective.
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The law also requires a continuing effort to find Americans after the certi-
fication of aliens. The industry documentation of this effort presents the clearest
picture of the facade of recruitment. The story is one of a few poorly placed
ads followed by a few hours of interviewing by industry representatives at Rural
Manpower offices. Prior to the lawsuit last fall, none had occurred outside of
south Florida. Prodded by the suit, they extended their facade to central and
north Florida, but refrained from utilizing the interstate clearance system of
the Rural Manpower Service until late in the trial. Finally, the collusion between
the Department of Labor and the agribusinesses is best proven by the fact that
documentation of even these feeble, one day stands at Rural Manpower Service
offices was nnt sent to the Regional Manpower Adiministrator until August 17,
1972—eight days after his certification of the initial inerement of alien workers.

One can only hope that had he bothered to await the industry’s evidence of
sonable effort” prior to rubber stamping their request, Mr. Norwood would
have noted that newspaper ads for American cane cutters were sandwiched
in hetween ads such as one for an Avon Lady, an exrperienced Front End Loader,
experienced meat wrapper, etc. primarily in classified sections of major news-
papers. He might also have noted that the interviews were scheduled in advance
to last less than one day per Rural Manpower Service office. 1t seems absurd
to expect that approximately 9,000 cane cutters could be hired in so short a
scheduled interview. Once again the spectre of a facade arises. He might also
have noted that the promised use of the interstate clearance system (Mr. Ash-
down in letter dater 6/28/72) had not been utilized. Also, the local crew leaders
who found American workers to cut seed cane were no longer employed when
the aliens arrived.

Rather than continue to raise further proof of the facade, it will suffice to
quote extensively from the Review of the Rural Manpower Service, 1972, a re-
port which was authored and researched by the Special Review Staff of the
Manpower Administration of the U.S. Department of Labor. This quote also
hears on the further requirement for certification that foreign workers not de-
press wages and working conditions of American workers, on which point more
will be said later in this paper.

in evaluating this problem, the Special Review Staff concludes (pp. 35-38) :

“The effect of foreign workers on the earnings in sugar cane is difficult to
ascertain because of the method of computing pay which is on a non-uniform
task rate basis. The system operates as follows: A ‘Scratch Boss’ unilaterally
decides what the rate will be for cutting a particular row of sugar cane. He
determines the rate by sizing up a row of cane and estimating the time it would
take to complete the row hased on its length. width, density and other factors.
Pay is not based on a uniform rate per foot or per ton cut, and may vary he-
tween rows a short distance removed from one another. This method allows for
variations in average hourly earnings. Union and other worker representatives
interviewed in Florida claimed that sugar cane earnings are depressed by the
fact that the work force in this crop is dominated almost exclusivealy by foreign
warkers, The earnings were so ponr, they claimed. that domestic workers would
not take the jobs when offered to them. The claim concerning an adverse effect
on sugar cane workers' earnings cannot be verified finally onc way or the other
due to lack of a standardized pay scale system that allows for comparability.
Regional Office and National Office RMS staff both expressed concern over this
sttwation in that there have been complaints about earnings in sugar cane while
the present pay system does allow for verification of the earnings on any com-
parable basis.

“Efforts at recruiting domestic workers appear to be largely pro forma. The
State farm labor director of one supply State said that interstate ‘eriteria orders’
(orders which must be filed before foreign workers can he certified) were rou-
tinely refused by his agency and were returned to the State where they origi-
nated. The reasons given for returning the orders, he said, were not the real
reasons. While it might be indicated that the employment period was too short,
the distance to the joh was too far., wages or living conditions were unsuitable,
or no workers were available. the more compelling reason was that the orders
were made to satisfv eriteria for certification of foreign workers, and were never
intended to be filled in the first place. He indicated that in the past when such
orders were filled, employers would call his agency and ask why referrals were
made on the orders when obviously thev were only eriteria orders. He added that
in some cases when workers were referred thev would be laid off or would
quit because of low wages or poor working conditions. and then would return
tn his State where their complaints and bitterness at being referred became an
embarrassment bo the State agency.
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“In the same vein, a farm labor contractor interviewed in the same State said
he was relucfant to take crews to areas where foreign workers traditionally have
been employed, because he has found working conditions to be particularly bad
in those areas and he has trouble keeping a crew together. It was reporied to the
review team that workers who have been in thote areas before will not respond
to recruitment efforts because they know they are not wanted.

“Poreign workers can be attracted by an employer, however, in spite of wages
and working conditions that are refused by domestic workers. This is true be-
cause the wages and working condition in the foreign areas where the workers
come from are even less desirable by comparison than those in the U.S. The
1.8. currency is desired by foreign workers because of the relatively greater
purchasing power it has in the worker's home country. Hence, foreign workers,
once they are here and working, tend to avoid complaining or agitating about
conditions on the job, as they fear repatriation. A self-reinforcing cycle is thus
created : foreign ‘workers tend to depress wages; depressed wages discourage
domestic workers from taking the jobs; and inability to recruit domestic work-
ers is used to justify the use of foreign workers. The result is the continuation
and expansion of the use of foreign workers despite an oversupply of domestic
workers.

“Foreign workers now account for only about one percent of the total seasonal
worker employment and are restricted to very few crop activities, primarily
planting and harvesting sugar cane and picking citrus fruit in Florida, harvest-
ing potatoes in Maine, and picking apples in New England, New York, Virginia
and West Virginia. The number of foreign workers used in each State for apple
harvest is insignificant when compared to the total employment within the
State. This crop is not dominated by foreign workers in any area. Sugar cane
harvest in Florida is dominated by foreign workers, and some adjustments
would be required if foreign workers were no longer available,

“Nationally, the unemployment rate is 5.8 percent (September 1971) for all
workers and 8.1 percent for agricultural wage and salary workers. Among the
ten, States in which temporary foreign agricultural workers were employed in
1971, September rates of unemployment for all workers ranged from 3.2 percent
for Virginia up to 8.3 percent for Connecticut. The total unemployed in 1971
for these ten States was over one million persons, while the total number of
foreign workers in 1970 was only 17,500. Florida, largest user of foreign workers
under the program (approximately 9,000) -is now faced with the problem of
oversupply, and has discontinued any interstate recruitment to meet peak season
labor needs for this year.”

Naturally, the rhetorical question is how can the cerification by the Regional
Manpower Administrator be justified under the laws of our nation when even
the U.S. Department of Labor has documented the facade of a “reasonable
effort.” Further, the Department of Labor had admitted its inability to deter-
mine if there is an adverse wage effect. To certify without certainty that there
is no adverse effect in American workers’ wages and working conditions is,
therefore, a further violation by the government. Finally, the facade is certainly
proven by the BRMS admitting that Florida is a farm labor surplus state. It no
longer recruits through the interstate clearance system because it realizes that
there is an excess supply of farm workers in Florida. However, the Manpower
Administrator certified a *reasonable effort” had been made to find Americans
by the RMS and the agribusiness when they were unable to produce even one
American cane cutter, American cook or American burner from the recognized
excess supply of American farm workers in Florida.

Hven were there no farm workers in Florida unemployed at the time of cer-
tification, the existence of under- and unemployed agricultural workers else-
where in this nation is both acknowledged and documented by the Department
of Labor. For example, in the Manpower Administration’s Rural Manpower De-
velopments there are regular articles documenting both the reduction in average
man months of employment per year per farmworker (showing rising underem-
ployment) and the reduction in employment opportunities due to mechanization,
herbicides, and population intrusion into formerly agricultural areas. In fact,
it is the conclusion of the Manpower Administration that unemployment among
farm workers will continue to rise and that the possibility of successful re-
training and resettlement for farm workers is low. Among the migratory element
of the farm labor force, a similar problem exists as there has been a drop in the
peak employment of migrants between 1969 and 1971 of 78,100 according to the
Manpower Administration (Rural Manpower Developments, June, 1972, p. 15).
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Needless to say, this mobile reserve of unemployed farm workers represented
nearly ten times the number needed for work in sugar. While the 78,100 could be
enumerated for an article on the employment crisis, not one could be found or
was located through the interstate clearance system for employment in sugar.

Further documentation by the Labor Department in previous years of this un-
employment problem among farm workers abounds. See, for example, the state-
ment by Secretary of Labor, George P. Shultz in the U.S. Senate Hearings on
Migrant and Seasonal Farmworkers Powerlessness, p. 4268, The existence of
unemployed Americans to do work currently monopolized by aliens is also docu-
niented by the events following the termination of the Bracero Program (P.L.
78). In the year after the end of P.L. 78, several hundred thousand American
farm workers were found by farmers in the southwest who previously had justi-
fied Braceros on the argument that Americans were not available to do the work.
Tt is not surprigsing that the growers “discovered” the American workers when
there was no alternative and cheaper labor supply. Of course, wages and working
conditions had to be upgraded to attract American workers, but this desired re-
sult was the objective of the immigration acts as conceived beginning with the
{"hinese Exclusion Act of the 19th century.

it the exposure of the facade of ‘‘reasonable effect” needs additional data,
the In-Season-Farm Labor Reports of the Rural Manpower Services should
he discussed. These data are recorded in numerous labor market areas in each
and every state in which agricultural employment has any importance. From
these hi-weekly reports, the employment of domestic farm labor varies season-
ally from a peak of more than one million jobs in the summer to a trough of
approximately one quarter million in February. In short, during the peak
employment of alien workers in sugar cane in Florida, the Department of Labor
knows the locaton of nearly 750,000 unemployed American farm workers. In
fact the peak iemployment of tforeign workers regularly oecurs during the peak
unemployment of Americans while there are nn foreign workers certified for
agrieunltural employment during the months of peak employment of domestic
farm workers. Clearly, if the immigration laws were being followed, requests
for foreign workers would he based on a shortage of Americans only during the
months of peak demand for farm labor. Certainly, were law and ovder to prevail,
the interstate recruitment system would have been able to find less than 10,000
ont of the identified 750,000 (+) unemployed American farm workers during
the winter. Given the level of funding of the RMS, it is certainly not an exces-
sive demand to expect it to locate only 1.19% of those seasonally unemployed
during the sugar season. And yet, the RMS supported the agribusinesses’ asser-
tion that no Americans could be found before the first recruitment attempt in
Florida and without any attempt to use the interstate clearance system.

Olearly, “FACADE” is not an inappropriate term to desecribe this lamentable
situation. The only place they looked, even superficially, for farm workers prior
to the arrival of the first aliens was in South Florida. Due fo climatic considera-
tions, this was obviously the least likely pldee to find farm workers in need
of work in August. Given the proven superiority of American business, the fact
that they ehose the poorest prospeet for their search is strong evidence of what
the Special Review Staff of the Manpower Administration indicated as pro-
forma, or what is referred to in this paper as a facade.
within the State of Florida, the RMS In-Season Farm Labor Reports
nsed to locate under- and unemployed farm workers available for work
sngar. Given the Rural Manpower Service's own estimate of 150,000 farm
workers in Florida, these In-Season Farm Labor Reports evidence an under-

indusrry alone is using at a peak several thousand fewer farm workers, even
given the record crop, this vear than last. However, the certification for alien
sugar workers still stands and nearly one-fourth of the jobs for farm work-

ers in sonth Florida are held by aliens.

Finally, in 1971 the Secretavy of Labor announced a new Migrant Manpower
ram with the following comuinent -
Phonsands of migratory families are facing a situation which borders on
diraster. The meager pittance rhat many formerly earned for doing farm labor
is no longer an assured source of income. It is the immediacy and pathos of
the migrant problem which has determined the goal of the program that is being
proposed. To assist the vietims of mechanization. to end forced migration, and
o provide new and more meaningful options that will guarantee greater oppor-

P
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tunities for migrant workers and their families—these are the overriding
considerations.”

The $20.2 million program he proposed would have assisted only 5,800 migrant
workers. Certainly, the acknowledgement of a facade and decertification of
aliens would help many more farm workers at no cost to the taxpayers. From
a cost: benefit perspective, no other action could possibly have a higher yield.

The second major requirement of our national law relating to certification
of foreign agricultural workers is the requirement that the Regional Manpower
Administrator determine that the employment of temporary foreign labor “. . .,
will not adversely affect the wages and working conditions of domestic workers."”
It is beyond the power of my imagination to understand how trained, profes-
sional labor economists in the Manpower Administration ean honestly believe
that the wages and working conditions of South Florida farm workers would not
be adversely affected by reducing their available employment by approximately
25 percent of the maximum employment reported for this area in the In-Season
Farm Labor Reports.

It is an elementary problem in Economic theory to predict the impact of a
259% job reduction in a labor area on the wages and working conditions of the
farm labor force. The last time the U.S.A. experienced a 259 reduction in jobs
was during the great depression, a time unanimously viewed as one in which
wages and working conditions were seriously eroded.

Using the following diagram, this common sense conclusion is presented:
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Where 8 = Supply of labor. .
D = Demand for domestic labor in Sugar and other South Florida crops.
D= Demand for domestic labor with 10,000 jobs filled by foreign workers.
W,= Bquilibrinm wage with all jobs available to domestic farm workers.
W.= Equilibrium wage for domestic workers with 10.000 jobs restricted
to foreign workers.

In short, not only are wages and employment reduced for domestic éozmﬁ..m_
but the number of domestic workers who are involuntarily :mmEEowmm. is
increased. Whenever there is a large supply of unemployed workers m.mmEu.um
employment, working conditions deteriorate simply because a farmer will E.m.
charge any worker who complains about eroding working conditions and s:.:
be able to replace him easily with a hungry and desperate farm worker. Hﬁum
situation accounts for the U.S.D.A. statistics which show a continued mmo:.um
in the average number of days worked per farm workers in our ooﬁbaﬁﬂ. With
rising surplus of labor, each man works fewer days with a resulting fall in real
income. As mechanization accelerates, the problem becomes more severe.

Further, from data taken from the actual paychecks of British West .Hzmmm_m
cane cutters, it is clear that the daily rate of pay to these alien workers is less
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than the rate of pay in farm work for Americans in South Florida. For exam-
ple, average data for one producer’s organization shows an average daily wage
per worker, after deductions for meals, of approximately $10 per day. This
amount is considerably less than the daily rate or piecerate pay in South
Florida vegetables. In fact, it is below the minimum hourly wage for an eight
hour day in agriculture ($1.30 per hour) as set by the Federal Government. Need-
less to say, this fact further discriminates against a successful reeruitment of
Americans in these jobs. Once again, the intent and letter of the law are vio-
lated and the aliens have a twofold impact in the depression of wages and work-
ing conditions for Americans. First, by taking nearly 259 of the South Florida
agricultural employment opportunities, the foreign workers depress the wages
and working conditions for the domestic work forces. Second, by being hired
for less than the alternative wage level in other crops in South Florida but for
more than the alternative wage in their homeland, the West Indians insure
the continued lack of a reasonable effort by the profit-oriented sugar agribusi-
nesses. In direct violation of the law, the sugar interests are annually generating
their recruitment facade which as planned, does not find American workers to
work in employment which pays less than the prevailing wage in the area of
employment. While the wage in non-sugar employment is depressed by the pres-
ence of the alien workers, it is still higher than in sugar employment. Of course,
if the growers had received from the pool of 750-000 unemployed Americans out-
side of South Florida during the winter, the workers would have been found
and the facade clearly destroyed.

Another impediment to the suecessful recruitment of American farm workers
is the absence of family housing in the offer of employment by the sugar cane
growers. The fact that family housing is a basic requirement for successtul
recruiting, i.e., where it is not intended to be a facade, is accepted by most of
the sugar producers. For example, A. Duda has family trailers for the Texas-
based workers whom he employs in vegetables in the Belle Glade area. The
United States Sugar Corporation provides family housing for tractor drivers,
all of which must be American workers. It is a striking fact that only barracks
are supplied for the sugar cane jobs which are filled by aliens, especially given
the acknowledgement by these growers that successful recruiting of American
workers requires family housing.

In conclusion, an example of a successful replacement of foreign farm work-
ers by a Florida industry will evidence immediate success where a “reasonable
effort” is exerted. During the 1960’s the Florida citrus industry was certified for
a large number of West Indian pickers on the basis of a claim that Americans
were not available. During the decade according to Mr. Clark M. Ghiselin,
Executive Direetor of the Citrus Industrial Council, the industry realized that
there were large pockets of unemployed Americas in the South East who would
provide a less expensive supply of labor. The first superficial attempts to utilize
the interstate clearance system of the RMS met with no success at all. The citrus
industry, since it really wanted American workers, visited the RMS offices in
other states to discover why there was no success. When it was discovered that
there were negative images about working conditions in Florida, the industry
flew to Florida officials from the state agencies to overcome this problem. As a re-
sult of this reasonable effort, the citrus industry was able to replace all of its
alien workers. To ensure continued success, they flew down state agency per-
somnel to interview workers they had referred to Florida to see that conditions
were satisfactory.

However. at the same time at which this suceess was being recorded in citrus.
the sugar interests—Department of Tabor collusion was generating the facade and
myth of the nonavailability of American workers, As a result of superficial re-
cruitment which was restricted to the worst possible labor areas, the drop in de-
mand for alien employment in citrus was offset by the increasing use of foreign
workers in sugar. To date the sugar industry has never been required to dupli-
cate the success blueprint of action which has been provided by the Florida
citrus industry. Law and order would seem to demand such performance.

STATEMENT OF DR. MARSHALL BARRY, ECONOMIST, ASSISTANT
PROFESSOR, NEW COLLEGE, SARASOTA, FLA.

Dr. Barry. Thank you.
T come before you today as a scholar of farmworkers’ problems in
Florida with approximately 4 years of work involving research inta
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the economics of farmworkers for the United Farm Workers. For the
past several years my students, who number over 350 by now, have
been in every county in Florida with more than 500 workers employed
in agricultural activities. And, I appreciate the opportunity to sub-
mit more information, and I would like to go through some case-by-
case studies of information we discovered of subverting of Federal
moneys and laws in the State, and often with the collusion of Govern-
ment employees.

I would like first to begin by commenting on other testimony and
questions from the panel. And, in the case of Rural Legal Services,
which was mentioned as having programs which should be somewhat
curtailed in operation because of revolutionary activities; it appears
to me any organization that could have prevented by legal operation
the outbreak of typhoid and outbreak of slavery by class actions
against Government agencies who are not protecting health and other
services, should certainly be applauded by all citizens as reducing
hardship of these people and other problems involved with these
people. o

Just to give you an example here, I have here a newspaper clipping
from the Tampa Tribune of March 16 of this year headed : U.S. Dollar
Gyrations laid to Swiss Food Firm.

It reads:

The dollar weakened yesterday after strengthening earlier in the week, but
the reason for these gyrations had less to do with the monetary crisis than
with the needs of a single company for dollars.

The company was Nestle, the giant multinational food corporation of Vevey,
Switzerland, which had just made an American investment and had to pay for it.

A company spokesman confirmed that Nestle had just acquired the Stouffer’s
frozen foods division of Litton Industries and said that payment was due
“around this time.”

The activities of Nestle demonstrate the power of multinational companies to
influence the currency markets. In addition, small central banks from oil-rich
Arab countries, from Communist countries and from other nations deal in the
markets along with private banks and other investor-speculators.

As you can see, in the State of Florida we have other giant multi-
national corporations such as Libby’s and there are many others, which
operate on the European dollar market with sufficient force to cause
a depression of the U.S. dollar.

So, we have people from the United States using workers and pay-
ing workers at a poverty level but with a firm large enough to control
the U.S. dollar internationally.

So, that is an unfair match.

Mr. Forp. What is the other?

Dr. Barry. The other comment is who is gaining profits from the
rising price of foodstufls in the recent past.

According to the article in the Tampa Tribune of March, 1972, out
of $102 amount, the middleman accounts for $17. You can see the
increased benefits go to the farmer and it was much greater than to the
middleman. So, the increment of profit is accruing to agribusiness of
the type that control the U.S. dollar. So, what is happening is, since
we know the farmworkers’ wages did not go up at all in the State of
Florida, nor did they nationally, and yet we find that the food prices
are going up and the share of food prices is predominantly to agri-
business—this year we have a 10 percent increase in the cost of food
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prices for the American consumer, and certainly no 10-percent increase
in the wage scale for these people.

I will submit that.

Welfare has been discussed also in today’s hearing. And, here Sec-
retary Schultz recently pointed out in evaluating the distribution of
tarm subsidies and who gets the benefits—he reached the conclusion
the total subsidies range, for farmers, between $9 and fo hillion
compared to the welfare programs, which cost some $9 billion, less
than the aid going to farmers. So. the fact we have agribusiness get-
ting as much as all the Federal and State and local welfare services
together. And yet it’s called a subsidy when it goes to the agribusiness.
It is called welfare for poor people. As an economist, [ can’t distin-
guish hetween those two words. It appears as though the rich are
getting paid for doing nothing just as some of the poor are perhaps
getting paid to do nothing. ]

And, the other comment has to do with the sugar industry in the
State of Florida. According to the reports I have received, they have
received this year from their production, based on growers’ statistics,
mind you, $41 million, which includes some $7 million from the
consumer, because it’s two times higher than the world price. I think
you should know that the sugar price is based on the event that de-
pressed sugar prices in 1917, for an event that occurred around World
War I, and the price of sugar fluctuated wildly in every direction.
And, now housewives are paying twice for sugar, and today they pay
a third again as much as elsewhere for sugar. And the problem is, and
in addition to having paid as much as in the welfare program, the
State of Florida is using Jamaicans to harvest the sugarcane crops.
So. what we have is not only the failure to provide jobs, but also the
failure to provide decent living conditions for farm laborers.

Let me say, if T may, T have heard the enlightened person that says
that Mexicans, Mexican-Americans, the best people to pick lettuce,
hecause they are my size and people from Jamaica are the best people
to pick cane, because they are the size of our other counsel here. And,
this is said not in jest. but in seriousness as an explanation why you
have to bring them n rather than the local people.

Now. what is the impact of that? How many do they bring in here?
One of the companies brought in machines here, but in the past they've
had 10,000 men paying something like $10 million in wages that would
otherwise go to American workers.

Mrp. Forp. Is it an annual in-and-out migration, or what?

Dr. Bagrry. It is an annual in-and-out migration. They have some
resident aliens that have been able to get permanent visas, but basically
most of the workers go back every year.

Mr. Forp. The Labor Department allows them to come in on the
theory you can’t recruit local labor?

Dr. Bagry. They are allowing them in. The word of the agribusiness
people is proof of reasonable effort, or at least accepted as such,
because in testimony under oath at a Federal hearing last fall, the
Federal Administrator said that he had received one letter asking for
Jamaicans to work in sugarcane.

ITe sustained under oath in the transeript of that testimony that
there were only two original letters written in June by the industry
and a submission letter written scarcely 2 weeks later by the State
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agency endorsing the growers’ request. There was no proof whatsoever
of any recruitment effort at all when in July it was decide to let them
come 1n and take these jobs. It was discovered that they claimed they
couldn’t find an American cook to cook the Jamaican food. And the
job description for the cook insisted that the cook be able to cook
Jamaican food. So, if you're trying to find American workers, why are
you looking for a cook who cooks Jamaican food? And, once again,
this is a self-fulfilling prophecy. A person was here testifying in the
Manpower Administration hearing talking about the pro forma effort’
of the Department to get manpower to send in to the fields. When they
got people to go out through some error, they later came out saying,
“What the devil did you send these people out for?” It was a pro forma
certification at best.

Mr. Forp. Is it limited to just the sugar industry, or is it spreading?

Dr. Barry. That is a big thing, too, it used to be utilized by the
citrus industry in Florida, but now it 1s spreading. Incidentally, for
people who’ve never picked oranges before, when you give them an
opportunity to pick oranges, it’s a physically demanding job, because
an average worker can pick oranges for a while while he’s standing
on a ladder with a bag around his neck—he’s going up and down a
ladder, and it is not easy.

The thing that sent me off this morning is an article in this morn-
ing’s Miami Herald which states “Two cane-cutter camps shut; full
automation seen soon.” And, what happened is the Department of
Labor sent down inspectors to these cane growers and found the cane
camps didn’t meet the requirements. And, it was found necessary to
close them down. But, the last certification for farmworkers expired
on the 2d of April, and here it is the 5th of April, and they, on the
5th of April to close the camps for which no workers are certified
anyway. So, that’s great. People will see this and say that is really
enforcing the law. And, if you get that article and read it, they talk
about U.S. Secretary of Labor Brennan shutting down two camps for
Jamacian canecutters, labeling living conditions there “deplorable and
disgusting,” that human beings shouldn't have to live under such
conditions. ,

The Labor Department found floors rotting and eracking under-
neath. Newspapers and rags plugging the big cracks in the walls. Steps
and porches were in similar disrepair.

However, there was no way in the world that camp couldn’t have
been in that condition when the Department of Labor was supposed
to certify that camp as meeting the code as far as living conditions
are concerned. There is no way that camp could deteriorate that much
in 4 months, unless they bring their own termite and wrecking crews—
there’s no way it could.

And, the final thing I wanted to comment on was when those De-
partment of Labor people came into the area, not one of them con-
tacted the people in the area to find out about violations, so, they were
prevented from finding about the surveys that Mr. Medina mentioned
in his testimony.

Mr. Forp. Without objection, the article appearing in the Friday
edition of the Miami Herald, the section entitled “Around Florida,”
will be inserted into the Record. And, I promise you I am going to
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find out about it. I'll communiecate with Mr. Brennan and ask him
about this.
[The document referred to follows:]

[From the Miami Herald, Apr. 6, 1973]
MigrawTs’ EMPLOYERS CLAIM THEY CAN'T PROVIDE HOUSING

(By Jerry Schwartz)

IMMORALEE.—Like the pickers they hire to harvest their crops, the farmers,
of this area. are, in a sense, migrants.

Each year they must look for new flelds in which to grow their tomatoes,
cucumbers, pepper, squash and watermelon in sandy loam that is free of the
weeds and plant bugs produced by previous farming and fertilizing.

And while some giants of Agribusiness, such as A. Duda and son, own thousands
of acres, most farmers rent small plots of 400 to 600 acres for a year at a time
from development and holding companies.

The result is a situation in which the farmers who need the migrants to bring
in their crops have neither the land base nor, they say, the money to build housing
for the 10,600 to 20,000 farmworkers who come here to pick each fall.

“Tt just wouldn't pay,” says Collier County Agriculture Agent Don Landers,
who says that although tomatoes could yield a farmer as much as $1,000
an acre in the best years, most farmers experience three bad years out of every
five. Sometimes he says they lose as much as $2,000 an acre.

And if farmers were forced to provide housing for the workers, says David C.
(Doc) Brown, a veteran farmer and freshman Collier County commissioner,
“it would put them out of business.”

“We're not in the construction business,” says Norman Herren, executive vice
president of the mammoth Collier Development Co. “We don’t have a construc-
tion company. We're in the land management business. We don’t build for
anyone.”

Anyway, says Herren—whose company leases about 7,500 to 8,000 acres a year
for farming—the people ought to live in ITmmokalee, “where they have services
and the stores and where their kids can go to school.”

And indeed, that is where most of the farmworkers in the area live.

The environment treated is one of monumental dinginess. Driving through the

center of Tmmokalee, you get the impression the town has three primary indus-
tries: packing plants, Mexican restaurants and slums.
Marshall Barry, a professor at New College in Sarasota, says figures he
m a Florida Farm Bureau publication show the average annual profit for a
farm in Collier County to be $57,746 and for a farm in Lee County to be $19,665.
(Barry compiled the figures to testify on behalf of the United Farm Workers,
AFI~CIO, against a right-to-work bill in the Florida Legislature.)

And George Lytton, a South Dade grower whose combine farms tomatoes on
2,000 acres of leased land near Homestead, says he feels “morally obligated” to
provide housing for the migrants who harvest his crops—even though he figures
he'll lose about $12,500 this year on the operation of the Far South Migrant Camp
he has leased for that purpose. (The Health Department, meanwhile, has eriti-
cized the camp.)

Around I'mmokalee, however, the farmers generally don't provide housing and
the landowners who lease them the land disclaim any responsibility for doing
S0,

Nof all the farmworkers’ quarters here are substandard. Among the exceptions
is the complex of 20 modern house trailers owned by Capt. Joe Hunter, the
eommander of the sheriff's substation in Immokalee. The trailers rent for $30 a
week,

At the other end of the spectrum are places like the Zanzibar and Red Star
RIS th nwned by Alphonso Campbell. The Zanzibar camp was described in a
letter to Campbell from the County Health Department Oct. 5 of last year as
:cﬁr\ “in deplorable condition with sagging beams and many holes in the outside
walls"”

The letter said the Zanzibar couldn’t get a permit to open as a migrant labor
camp until it was fixed up.

Ruch threats around here generally appear to be taken lightly. however, since
they are seldom backed with action. The Zanzibar wasn't fixed up. Tt didn't get a
license, But it is still operating, although it has now been warned again.
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In most cases, enforcement of hiousing and sanitary codes is Eml.mwmb to the
point that of the 75 or so camps in the Immokalee area, only 44 are licensed by
health officials. B i

“If you close them down,” said James L. King, the county health department’s
sanitarian, ‘“you get criticized.” . ) ) o

The criticism comes in a phrase that has become almost a litany in discussions
of why substandard migrant camps aren’t closed down : “If you close them down,
where will the people live?” ] )

Among the apparently increasing number of persons who .nmuman :u.gm argument
is BEdward Trombetta, the Florida Secretary of OoBEEﬁQ .Pmmmz.m.

“They say, ‘Where do you put the people? I tell you this—in an emergency,
things always seem to get done. There is always a National Guard armory they

could live in.” .
There is, however, not much else—nor any prospect of there being much else.

{From the Miami Herald, Apr. 6, 1378]
Housine LABELED HORRID

(By Tom Smith)

U.S. Secretary of Labor Peter J. Brennan shut down two camps for Jamaican
cane cutters Thursday, Iabeling living conditions there “deplorable and disgust-
ing.”

mww.muumu said the A.F. Saunders Labor Camp, south of Clewiston, .mnm the
Shawnee Camp, east of Clewiston, were ordered closed because of “serious de-
ficiencies in housing conditions for alien workers.”

He ordered the U.8. Manpower Administration to ask the Immigration and
Naturalization Service “to take immediate action to remove all workers from
these camps.” Immigration officials said they would heed the request.

About 500 workers have been housed at the two camps this winter. The
Saunders camp is leased by the Glades Sugar Growers Association also known as
the Moore Haven Sugar Co-op. '

A third camp, operated by Bast Beach Farms near Pahokee, also would have
been declared “unaceceptable,” Brennan said, if any workers had still been there.
The camp, however, already had closed. )

Ironically, the Shawnee Camp, owned by Shawnee Farms Inc., also was in su.m
process of closing down for the season, which is almost over. Some of the Jamai-
cans already had shipped out Wednesday with most of the rest leaving .nomm%. .

The camp closings followed a two-week investigation by a team of six investi-
gators from the Labor Department.

“The eonditions reported to me by my investigative chief were @mmbowm@m and
disgusting,” Brennan said Thursday. “Human beings should not have to live and
work under such conditions.”

The Labor Department found “floors rotting and cracking underneath . ..
newspapers and rags plugging the big cracks in the walls . . . steps and porches
in similar disrepair,” according to information officer Jack Hashian. .

The Labor Department investigators inspected 25 camps in South Florida, most
of them in Palm Beach, Glades and Hendry counties. Camps with correctable de-
ficiencies were ordered 'to shape up their housing for workers immediately.

Dr. Barry. When you communicate with Mr. Brennan, sir, if he’s
outraged and has a deplorable feeling and a disgusted feeling, that is
just the type of situation we have constantly with the farmworkers
in the communities. The worst conditions imaginable. And, the De-
partment of Labor should really get into discussing such violations.

Mr. Foro. We intend to give them an opportunity to educate us on
what they are doing and what reasons they have for the difficulty they
seem to be having in dealing with these problems. When that hap-
pens in Washington, I'm sure there are some people right here who
will be present to ask the proper questions and participate in this
situation. You can be sure we fully intend to do that. It’s our inten-
tion to help the Labor Department. And, if they are not getting money
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or support over there to do it, we'll help them before jumping down
their throats, of course.

Dr. Barry. But, the problem is they have significant help already
from these firms in the agribusiness community. It doesn’t appear to
me when the farm labor office is furnished in every part of this Na-
tion with names and know where the farmworkers are, nearly a mil-
lion during the height of the season in the summertime, they know
how many are transients and how many are interstate and intrastate,
how many are Chicanos and blacks, and everything else throughout
the Nation, and there are about 17 in the State of Florida—these sta-
tions, they know where these workers are in the season in Florida.
So, they know where 750,000 farmworkers are at any time but can’t
even find one to work in the sugarcane industry. All they had to do
was find 1.19 percent that they could identify from their own data, and
they could have filled the quota for the sugarcane cutters in south
Florida. So, that’s not a matter of their not being available. That is a
matter of effort.

Mr. Forn. How about this situation in Jamaica; are there com-
panies that make a business of providing laborers in Florida?

Dr. Bagrry. That is handled through the British West Indies or-
ganization and the Jamaican Government. I think the Jamaican Gov-
ernment 1s involved, yes.

Mr. Forn. Okay.

Dr. Barry. It is not a matter of funding, really. It is a matter of
intent. And, it reeks of the lack of intent.

So, that is basically what I wanted to discuss today for the record,
and make a more detailed analysis of the lack of reasonable effort.
‘This is what T found in the past when dealing with the Labor De-
partment in good faith as a novice, a person who is an academic and
not a union organizer, a person not trylng to cause trouble in the com-
munity, but interested in change. And, when I found out about a spe-
cifie violation, they don’t correct it, they smooth it over, they rational-
ize it and escape from having to do something about it.

Mr. Forn. We have been down this road with them before. When
we eliminated the Bracero program, they told us we were going to
bankrupt all the farmers. So T personally worked to get grants to
puf. together a kind of OEO Crew Leader program to take some
minority unemployed, particularly young people with no poten-
tial of employment at all up in the metropolitan areas, and help out.
We were absolutely assured by every responsible person that we had
destroyed the industry. You would be interested now how that indus-
try has grown since we destroyed it several years ago. There is a great
deal of panic about these things. I've had an experience of seeing
how responsible people and newspaper editors in our State berated us
for our irresponsibility and hasty actions for cutting off this labor
supply, and for some reason, once the Bracero disappeared, somebody
else came in to take his place.

Dr. Barry. In a matter of 2 years, over 200,000 workers were taken
out of the market, and workers presented themselves to take their
places in the Southwest.

Mr. Forp. I think our friends in Congress and in organized labor
are changing their beliefs, and we have friends who are free traders
in this movement now. Now there is some thinking about self-interest
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that is beginning to reflect itself in directions that Congress hasn’t had
in the past. ) o
_:W:% with the employment situation the way it is in most om. our
industrial States, many Congressmen are viewing things like this :M
a much different way than they might have in the past. And, I mﬁu%on
it’s not because of the great concern for this particular problem, . w
because there is an overriding concern in the country that we BM%. M
coming into a period where we can see the hope of doing moﬁ% Wwdq
about foreign exports. I hope we can do something &oows.ﬁ it. \ oﬁm
are in danger of being Wb wmo%ﬂyogmw when you start talking abou
ing off anything of this kind. o
o:wm%amwwswwwv there are known to be around 25,000 Canadians WE Eum
congressional district, and if they wanted to, they oozEw take o%
citizenship papers and deal with any problems that way meH y gommg h.
You cannot change anything much if you crack down on a Hmwmr Smm 1 ; m
in the auto plants in this area. And I always hasten to say m mm , SHQ
95,000 of anybody, you don’t want them too mad at you. n:z S_mo m
have problems there, and there are people now starting to mw M abor
problems with the illegal aliens in a lot different way than .w ore.

We have been emotionally hoisted on the idea, @.@25.53@% w Hmmw. you
look at the way some countries were treated. Our HESHmESoW Wodwﬁom
discriminated so badly against particular kinds of people t pﬁ .umwm
grew up a very strong liberal mind that you should resist res %o
enforcement of the rule that kept people from tulfilling SSHM I %mms
of coming to America, and getting a job. This 1s @H..mgﬁmgm ww
wrestle with. That is the kind of thinking that makes it d1 ozn ﬁw
people to handle when we start talking about strict mz»mwomswmbm. 5m
are faced with really tough decisions these days. We can’t H“EW 0 qmu TM
longer these considerations. I appreciate very much your taking

i :ome here today. )
ﬁ:ﬁwo:wwﬂmamnmza Swmw this means to you on a personal basis SMWQ to
be here, and I hope that we can ask staff to maintain contact wﬁ. .me
to try to build on the work you've already done, in particular, W
respect to the ommmwow.m labor meE.wﬂw happy to help

. Thank you, sir. I will be h: -

Wm. mk\%vmwmmmwm. Uum. W@Emf T'm sorry that I missed most of Wo&w
testimony, but I just mention that we had a mmwzggw .ﬁ%@wﬁ.ﬁ mw” m
this morning who said that he had tried cutting cane, and it’s & ho

irty job, and he didn’t like it. o .
%%&@Md?ﬁma do we do? This isn’t like the situation mn wu%mwww mew
where there is 20-percent unemployment and yet wmoﬁm ¢ owm. /Meﬁm
to work in the cane fields. How do you get them to work in the ci

telds?
rm%w..w>www. The question in Puerto Rico is more complex than »Wmm%ww
not working there. The people are living there; South J mBWamN = W gar
Co. is now the Gulf and émmmmg%%omzﬂ%g, moving from Puerto kv

d ainland, so they're still proaucing.

oﬁmﬁmm @M%ﬂ Uogmwmusom ig that this is a ?.odmoﬁ“ n Sﬁwﬁ mos can wsm
a case in a world as large as ours for mbu&ﬁso.., And Woﬂ @mﬁm@m
personally who believe the world is flat. It doesn’t prove t demym%no mvm
the world is flat by referencing one individual who _omrmﬁwm Mmmﬁb-
the case. I believe with three-quarters of a million :zmsﬁﬁwu\wm farm-
workers, and where they are located is known by the Rural Many
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Service, they have never been contacted until months after this situa-
tion existed that I have documented, and not until a lawsuit was put
in about sending work notices out was anything done about it. So, I
think we have no way of knowing that 10,000 out of 750,000 Americans
wouldn’t eut sugarcane. I think if the working conditions and every-
thing wasn’t so deplorable, it would be different. You can say people
wouldn’t be a college professor if it paid $5 a week, but people would
1f it was commensurate with the demand of their education and it it
were a challenge.

If you go down to the Belle Glades area, you’ll see celery workers
bending up and down by a mule. Now, that is real stiff, very difficult
labor, but they get a lot more than I've been able to see personally
from the pay stubs of Jamaicans. What they’re paid comes out to an
average in these cases of $10 a day below the prevailing wage scale,
Theso people have to live in housing like the ones that have been ex-
posed to the press, so there is no injury to the emplovers by the Govern-
ment at all. You know. you have to drive around in open trucks, and
in most cases there is no drinking water in the fields, or anything.

And, T feel if a decent job was provided that it would be different,
which T think is the purpose of the law for protection of working con-
ditions and to pay people to take these jobs, then you’d easily find
10,000 Americans to do that. Because, if vou have jobs offering regular
employment and good wages and working conditions, decent, things
would be fine,

Mr. Laxpererre. Very frankly, there are a lot of good jobs in
America going begging today.

Dr. Barry. A lot of good jobs, but not for people with an average
of 6 or 7 years of education.

Mr. Lannerese. I am not trying to prove your statements are not
true. Iam trying to develop some thinking here. My honest thinking is
that, and T've mentioned this before, our welfare programs are our
biggest competitor in the area of jobs and employment today.

For example, in the welfare offices of Lafayette, Ind.,—a man by the
name of Jerry Stempo operates a business in Lafayette. He went to the
welfare office. He saw 30 people sitting or standing in the room. He
asked each one of them, “Do you want a job?” Without anyone saying
what does it pay and what are the fringe benefits and what are the re-
tirement benefits, or anything, they said no, we don’t want a job—
each and every one. ,

And, for another example, take my own transportation business. I
have three moving vans. And, at one time we didn’t have one man who
would hustle furniture at union wages, in northern Indiana. So, not
only do we have welfare, but we algo have an expanding economy today
that is giving a great opportunity to lots of marginal workers—or who
would have been marginal in years past.

But. I'm really not debating this with you.

This is just something T wanted to get into the record.

Dr. Bagrry. I wish you were here earlier during the first part of my
testimony. In that testimony T indicated that the welfare in svery
State is equal to the total amount of subsidies to the growers for doing
nothing. And, most of the agribusiness is equal to all the welfare pay-
ments, including medicaid and other benefits. And, T have friends with
pastureland and who have bought pastureland on payments for never
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doing anything with the land when they never planned on doing it in
the first place. There are land developers who are holding land only
unti! the next subdivision catches up, because they can get subsidies
for not doing anything with it. And, I can’t see any functional differ-
ence between the word subsidy and the word welfare.

Mr. Lanperere. I don’t have to squirm at that because I haven’t
been voting the subsidies.

But, for the sake of rebuttal if nothing else, I think the farmer is
able to take care of himself at the present prices. Let me say, again for
the record, say that in April of 1972, the farmers in Indiana were sell-
ing hogs on the hoof for exactly what they were getting in 1954. And,
you were not working as a professor at the same rate, and I wasn’t
hauling freight for the same rate, as in 1954. But today that farmer is
getting 39 cents on the hoot for hogs, but he’s still making money. And,
he doesn’t need the subsidy to keep in business, Subsidies, as I inter-
pret them, are to help stabilize prices in the market. So the Govern-
ment was buying up and storing surpluses. And, it was intended to
hold down surpluses, not to be a welfare program at all. If it was in-
tended to be a welfare program, I would have gladly voted for a $5,000
ceiling on it. But, to put a $20,000 ceiling for subsidy payments—if
we are serious about holding down production, then it’s necessary to
hold down big farmers,

Dr. Barry. T think this is appropriate. The farms have split up in
smaller units, and plenty of effort has been spent on this problem. You
know, one family now can get seven checks rather than one, because
they split their holdings up into seven, and each of them gets the maxi-
mum amount available, which is the same amount as it was last year.

Mr. Lanperese. I am perfectly willing to say at this time in history
that farm subsidies should be eliminated. T am not proposing that we
eliminate all welfare, but we have situations that make not working
more attractive than working. And, we have marginal work that has
to be done. And, I'm interested in the working people and I’m inter-
ested in the migrant workers, in all working people. And, I’'m con-
cerned too about simply making not working so attractive that we
create problems.

Many welfare recipients do not work, and simply make a drain on
the Treasury, putting us further in debt. -

Dr. Barry. I am concerned about welfare payments to poor people
when 70 percent of the budgeted amounts normally go to salaries and
administrative expenses to the nonpoor. Almost none of the benefits
for the programs as we know them get to the people. Most of the
money goes to administration and so forth.

Mr. Lanncrese. That is exactly what we are going to do, strip out
the bureaucracy so that the people that need our help get more than
a bare existence.

And. T submit. there are bureaucrats who would make good cane
cutters.

Dr. Barry. I'm not sure that I'd go so far as your views or Richard
Nixon about cutting out Rural Legal Services, but if you have got
companies that affect the value of the American dollar in Europe
here hiring farmworkers in Florida controlled by Swiss-based firms,
then the only side that can employ lawyers, that can support lawyers,
1s the agribusiness, and not the farmworker. The farmworker is going
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to get whatever lawyer he can. So, this is a revolution of the most
un-American type in America, where agribusiness are installed as
land barons and political czars where there is no attempt to enforce
the rights of people, no attempt is made to protect them at all.

Mr. Tanpereee. With some $40 million of revenue sharing here,
you don’t think your legislature can use this wonderful program?

Dr. Barry. The top three industries in this State are agribusiness.
And, you are a politician and T am not, but I've seen enough from my
trips to Tallahassee to know who controls in this area. But, what hap-
pens when these people start to enforce the particular laws on a local
level 2 The Government here asked for an advisory body. Now, since
when has an advisory body included farmworkers on it? Fifty per-
cent of the membership is appointed by the Governor and the others
are growers in the State. Now, you get people like Wedgeworth and
other growers involved, and Campbell, the vegetable growers—as I
said, you've got a board trying to alleviate legal problems of the
farmworkers in the arena, and it simply doesn’t work. And, you can
see that. There is no way in the world that program is going to func-
tion properly with the people sitting on the board controlling it who
are the targets of the legal action if any such action exists. And, this
is law and order involving human rights. Without Rural Legal Serv-
ices and United Farm Workers involving themselves, this doesn’t
even exist.

Mpr. Lanocrere. I wish we could go on, but if 1 sound belligerent,
M don’t mean to be—I came down looking for the truth, and for the
‘acts.

Mr. Foro. I would like to observe that one of the most dynamic
members of the Education and Labor Committee has told the story
numerous times about the fact that her people, the Japanese, were
brought to Hawaii to cut cane. Representative Patsy Mink was born on
a plantation, a fact she considers very proudly—and the Japanese-
American population of Hawaii is largely there because the sugar in-
terests imported Japanese, not because of their size or some other
factor, but because the native Hawaiian was bigger than the native
Japanese.

Now they are being replaced by Filipinos. I suppose when the
Filipinos get more education and politically sophisticated, they’ll get
the Jamaicans. I smile when I hear about these things about little guys
not being able to do something. Anyway, thank you very much.

I want to tell all the people here, in deference to these people, we've
sent out for cheese sandwiches. And, T am going to eat it in front
of you so that we don’t have to take the time for lunch, because people
have come here and traveled long distances to be here. Our next
speaker 1s Dr. Barry Engebretson.

Without objection, the prepared statement will go in the record.

[The statement referred to follows:]

STATEMENT OF DR. BARRY ENGEBRETSON, ASSISTANT PROFESSOR, DEPARTMENT OF
FamrLy MEDICINE, IJIRECTOR OF (GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION, UNIVERSITY OF
Miawmz

“Widely distributed throughout the world, typhoid is everywhere an index of
the sanitory intelligence of a community.”—Sir William Osler, M.D. 1849-1919.

I would like to outline some of the major health problems of farm laborers in
Dade County and the implications that these health problems have regarding the
general living conditions of the farm people.
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The first health problem I would like to discuss is the recent typhoid epidemic
which occurred in the ‘South Dade Labor Camp. Over two hundred mmﬂB ﬂoﬁm-
ers have been hospitalibed in the epidemic and at present oum&su@amm-mmmﬁn%-mﬁ
have been confirmed as typhoid vietims. To put this in perspective, @B.m is the
largest typhoid epidemie in this country since the very early part of ..S.Em om.baﬂu%.
The epidemic occurred because of poor sanitary and water conditions in the
camp.

E%Uwoa is an illness that reflects the general living conditions of a community.
Despite the implications of some, that this was an accident that could have
occurred in Coral Gables or on Miami Beach, the facts are that this problem
has occurred only in a farm labor camp. It has not occurred in middle class
America. In my tour in Vietnam American troops were scattered in mountains
and jungles throughout the country. We had no epidemies of typhoid. Very bagie
principles of water supply and sanitation were easily applied there.

The epidemic of typhoid here in South Florida is an ongoing monument to the
living conditions of the farm laborer. Its effects will be continuing for months
to come. The economic effects will probably approach one million dollars. The
physical, social and emotional effects are unmeasurable, but many of our families
will continue to suffer for months to come. Future spread out of South Florida
is uncertain at this time, but as with the epidemic, the farm labor people will
bear the brunt of the problems produced.

The second major health problem I wish to discuss briefly is pesticides. I
would like to call your attention to the records of the hearings held before this
committee in October and November of 1971 on H.R. 11007. I will summarize
the testimony of Dr. John Davies of the University of Miami Department of
Hpidemiology. He is out of the eountry at this time, Dr. Daviesy’ studies in South
Florida have shown that the farm labor population have blood pesticide levels
from two to four times greater than middle class urban residents.

For example, in his study the total DDT concentration was an average of 34
parts per million for white upper and middle class men, 68 ppm for black lower
socio-economic class men and 130 to 160 ppm for farm laborers.

The most obvious cause for this at first glance would appear to be the exposure
of the farm people to pesticides in the fields. This undoubtedly plays an important
part, however, Dr. Davies has shown another significant factor is the house-
hold use of pesticides. Housing conditions with abundant fly and roach popula-
tions, poor garbage collection and lack of screens, leads to increased use of house-
hold pesticides and consequent increase in human blood and fat levels of DDT
and other pesticides. The implications of increased levels of pesticides in human
beings over long periods of time is as yet largely unknown, although some ill
effects have been well documented in other animals. It is safe to say we are
watching an ongoing human experiment on the chronic effects of pesticides in
man.

'There are many other health problems of the farm people, but the two I have
mentioned are probably the best documented. In each case, the problems are a
direct reflection of the living conditions of our patients.

The tax dollar pays for the health care provided. The health care is neces-
sary because living conditions are poor. But most importantly, my patients are
suffering today, In a time when it would seem our society is well able to prevent
this suffering.

Typhoid BEpidemiec in South Dade, Florida—Jane Olson and Lynn P. Carmichael,

M.D.—unpublished manuscript.

The Pesticide Problem of the Agricultural Worker—John Davies, M.D., M.P.H.—
unpublished paper.
Hearing before the Subcommitiee on Agricultural Labor. Ninety-second Con-

gress—Oect. 7, 19, 28, Nov. 4, 1971.

STATEMENT OF BARRY ENGEBRETSON, M.D., ASSISTANT PROFES-
SOR, DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY MEDICINE, DIRECTOR OF GRAD-
UATE MEDICAL EDUCATION, UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

Dr. Enxcesrerson. Thank you. What T planned to do was to read;
or go over very briefly this prepared statement and then answer any
questions you have. If you want, I will let you read this. Tt’s only
two pages, and then perhaps I'll answer any questions you might have.
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Mr. Forp. Go ahead with anything you want to add to this.

Dr. Exaesrerson. Il just take a minute and let you read this first.

Mr. Forn. I wondered 1f you could talk with us a little bit. Typhoid
is a thing that you get shots for in the service. At least for most of us.
It has been under control in the society that most of us live in during
most of our life in this country for so long that, even at my age, I have
very little understanding what it isand what it does.

I'have read about instances historically. Could you give us a break-
down on what this disease is and how long it lasts and what it does?

Dr. Enxcrererson. Briefly, typhoid is an infectious illness carried
by a bacterial organism, There are several modes of spread, the most
common one in the country is generally direct personal contact. And,
this would be in a situation where one has the infection and passes
it on through unsanitary conditions at home, not washing their hands,
eating after someone else, with the same dishes, and this kind of
thing.

Mr. Forp. Like drinking out of the same cup ¢

Dr. Excesrerson. Yes. And, this kind of thing would spread only
with people from direct contact. . .

And, only five cases a year generally are spread in this manner here.
And the other form of spread is through contamination of something
like a water supply. But, generally it’s like this case here at the South
Dade labor camp, where the water supply was contaminated, and
everyone drinking the water has the opportunity of getting the
infection, ) )

And, you mentioned that typhoid has not been a problem in this
country, which is correct. The main reason for that is the sanitation
protection in this country are generally in pretty good standing. Water
supplies are chlorinated, which will kill the bacteria, and the sewage
is generally processed hopefully to also kill the bacteria before it gets
into the water supply. ) o

And, you mentioned briefly immunizations, but the immunization is
not an effective one.

In other words, if 100 people get their shots, and I don’t know the
exact percentages, but probably only 75 are protected, and the other
25 can still get the illness even with the injection. But, the reason
typhoid is not a problem in Vietnam was that the Military had well-
established procedures for water and sewage control even in very
remote areas. And, everyone knows this and they have people specif-
ically assigned to water supplies. So, with a minimum amount of effort,
these kinds of procedures can be instituted and typhoid will not be a
problem even in an area like Vietnam, where it is endemic among
peonle.

Mr. Forn. There are a number of societies where it is a regular
sort of thing, and you either die young or you survive a number
of diseases that we are not exposed to anymore. That is why we
get full of shots every time we leave the United mgﬁmm.. This causes
some people to suggest that a typhoid epidemic, if it’s given an
opportunity to spread, could be more devastating than in lesser devel-
oped countries in terms of its virulence and general effect. How long
does it take to get over typhoid ?

Dr. E~xcrererson. Untreated the illness usually runs about 2 weeks
from the time of onset of symptoms. In other words, from when you
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first get sick until you get over the illness, if it’s untreated, it is
about 2 weeks. A small percentage will get various types of com-
plications if untreated again, and some of these will be fatal. If you
get over the 1llness, then you can become a carrier of the illness. And,
you may have it in your system, specifically in your bowel, and not
be ill from it, but pass it on to others.

Mr. Forp. How many confirmed cases of typhoid do you have now
in Dade County?

Dr. Everererson. There were, as of yesterday, 186 confirmed cases.

Mr. Forp. What percentage of people who contract typhoid would
continue to be the kind of carrier you are describing?

Dr. Excesrerson. The carrier rate, interestingly enough, goes up
with treatment while the complication rate goes down. So, in Dade
County we have no deaths or serious complications because we had
treatment. But, for some reason, we don’t understand this, but the
number of carriers goes up with treatment. And, in this past epidemic,
the reported carrier rate is around 15 to 20 percent.

You might expect somewhere between 20 and 40 carriers out of
this epidemic, assuming that the same characteristics hold for this
epidemic.

The public health department, and I believe you'll have someone
speaking tomorrow from the public health department, is in the
process of surveying all of the confirmed cases on a followup basis
to look for carriers, and then, when a carrier is found, treatment is
reinstituted so that hopefully it can eradicate the organism from the
system.

I think we are still too early in the history of this epidemic to say
how many carriers we have, but T am sure it is a fair number.

Mr. Forn. Would it be possible for a carrier or a person to have
relapses ?

Dr. EnceBrETSON. We are seeing relapses, sure.

Mr. Forp. Supposing someone leaves here in the opinion of the local
health people, cured, or over their illness, and he subsequently has a
relapse while he is picking lettuce in Colorado? Could he pass the
disease through that lettuce?

Dr. Enceererson. This question has come up before, and T think the
reality is that we don’t have real good documentation. But, probably
the organism will not be transmissible or not last for any extended pe-
riod of time. So, probably he could not pass it on that way. In theory,
if we found a carrier, and there was another poorly functioning water
system, that type of thing could occur again, but hopefully this same
situation does not take place that way again.

Mr. Forp. What were the estimates on Typhoid Mary?

Dr. E~cesrerson. What do you mean?

Mr. Foro. How many people were infected?

Dr. Ewcerrerson. I think it was 30-some in 1 year, but not this
kind of an epidemic. And, that was back in the days before antibiotics.
And, it was very difficult to eradicate the carriers without treatment.

Mr. Forp. So, these people are not likely to be a danger to the general
public, but could be a danger to people near them in the labor camps?

Dr. Exceererson. That’s right. And. I think again, this is something
we don’t really know for sure. And, the health department is giving
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out a little card—TI don’t know the wording, but being clear of typhoid
as a carrier. And, this is given before one leaves the community.

We have already had at least one relapse, however, of a patient
that was supposedly cleared. So, I think there is possibility, and I
don’t really think anyone can dispute this, but people from this camp
with typhoid could leave this part of the county still carrying the ill-
ness. The chances, though. for this kind of outbreak in the m_?m@::o
depend as T mentioned before on running into the same type of sani-
tary and water problems that existed in the South Dade Tabor camp.

Mr. Forn. As a result of this outbreak here, was there anv special
treatment given to any of the crops that they had been handling, any
steps taken in that direction? . o

Dr. Excerrerson. Not to my knowledge.

Again, the opinion of everyone that was involved, including the
people in Atlanta and so on, was that this probablv was not a ?.07225
_%qxcmo.gm organism would die fairly rapidly if it was left exposed
and if it would be on fruits and vegetables. Of course, as far as we
know. we have had no cases documented that occurred through this
method. -

Mr. Forp. We have heard this morning that when the hrst cases
hoid were identified that it took some time for people to get
I attention. There was clear indication that only those who rwﬁ
: 1ncial resources were able to get it quickly. There are Federal
health funds that we thought would be available for this sort of thing.

To what extent. in your observation, have these resources been put
to work ? .

Dr. Enxcesrerson. Are you speaking specifically of the Migrant
Health Act funds? ‘ . °

Mr. Forp. Yes.

Uﬁ ﬁzﬁwwmﬁ;woz. OK. Well, the Martin Luther Health Center,
which is funded through the Migrant Health Act, was very intimately
involved in the problem from the very beginning, along with the other
major agency in the area, which is the South Dade Community Health
(‘enter. Both of these are currently under a general governing body
called Community Health, Inc. This organization and the two centers
were very intimately involved in the epidemic from the very beginning.

As a matter of fact, much of the things that happened came from
the people in these organizations pushing for action. In other words,
the setting up of the clinic in the camp, the pressure on the hospital
svstem to admit the patients and so on came primarily from people in
these health organizations. I think in reality these funded programs
functioned quite well in the epidemic. . R

T have a document which was prepared for Dr. Paul B. Tallon in
HEW, who is the Director of the Community Services Department
or Division, whatever they call it, of HEW, and it was prepared at
his request documenting the history of these organizations and the
functioning of these organizations in the epidemic. Tt is fairly exten-
sive. The problem is that it is not really ready for distribution or
even publication yet. T just got it last night and in going over it there
are some factual errors in it. k

Mr. Forn. Would you like to submit it after you finish it?

Dr. Exceererson. Yes. T think it documents the chronological
sequence of the epidemic, the funetions of the different owm@:wgmwo:m
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in the epidemic, the problems that you alluded to, and sort of con-
cludes what I was saying. As a matter of fact, I feel personally that
those organizations functioned quite well.

T might add that these two health facilities currently are seelng
between them 7,000 patients a month—7,000 patient visits per month.
So that the whole typhoid epidemic was carried on at the same time
that their routine 7,000 patient visits a month of health care was being
carried out. So that in reality T think under the circumstances that
part of the functioning was quite good.

Mr. Forp. You have talked in your brief summary here about a
second area of farmworker exposure to illness through pesticides.
Would you like to elaborate on that?

Dr. Enceererson. Yes. I referred you to a document in the presen-
tation of Dr. Davies before this committee in 1971. T have reference
to that in the back. I happen to know from reading over the thing—
T don’t think any of you people were on that committee at that time—
at least that is my understanding—so that testimony is in the record,
but probably—

Mr. Forp. We have it as a part of the continued proceedings.

Dr. Encrbrerson. Right. Very briefly, what he found here in his
ctudies here in south Florida was that almost everyone, it seems, has
had some exposure to DDT, and has some levelsof DDT.

As T mentioned, the migrant farmworker has the highest level of
any group of people in this part of the country. Their levels of DDT
were quite high.

Probably there are two reasons for it. One is the use of DDT and
other pesticides in their occupation, but also Dr. Davies feels pretty
strongly that it comes from the household use of pesticides, and he
has got documentation of that in there. One of them is he went to the
Island of Bimini where there is no agricultural use of pesticides on
the small Island of Bimini, and the residents had DDT levels some-
where between the migrants and the urban poor, who also have rela-
tively high levels. This puzzled him, so he began to search for where
could the DDT be coming from. One of the places he found it in
significant levels was in their homes. Trom this he concluded, in ques-
tioning the people, yes, they use a lot of household pesticides,

This kind of problem occurred, as you probably know, in people
who have a lot of problems with insects, flies, and so on, in their houses.
The things that will lead to this are lack of screening and so on to keep
insects out, and garbage that is not disposed of which attracts insects.
You know. in general poor housing conditions lead to big insect pop-
wlations and then to the use of pesticides by the people to control the
insects.

So it appears there are two causes of the exposure to the pesticides
for the migrants, one being occupational and the other being in the
home.

The big unanswered question is what does this mean? We know that
in Eagles and Brown Pelicans that it causes reproductive problems,
and the eggs don’t hatch. This is part of the reason for the decrease
in these two species of birds in this country. We don’t really know
what it means In humans.

The other reference there, which is not yet published, he did some
laboratory studies and found some changes in the blood, primarily
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elevation of cholesterol. He feels this may be because people with a
lot. of cholesterol carry or pick up the pesticide in the cholersterol,
beeanse it is known that pesticides are stored in fat. There is the other
possibility, which is not proven yet. that possibly pesticides could
elevate cholesterol, but that is pure speculation.

So that in general the chronic effect of pesticide poisoning on rela-
tively low levels—in other words. not high enongh to make vou acutely
itl—is really unknown. Everyone is concerned about it. Of course we
have the animal studies, but we don’t really know what it does to
humans, )

Mr. Forp. What were the effects, when you get to the level described
here, found in this study in farmworkers in South Dade County?

Dr. Engesrerson. That level again, as far as we know, nroduces no
acute illness. It takes higher levels than that. And actually the main
problem with acute poisoning is another group of chemicals, organo-
phosphates. parathion, malathion. This causes acute illness.

Most of this kind of illness occurs in people who actually handle the
pesticides, the spravers. It takes a relatively large dose and they can
hecome ill. Tt is not a reportable illness, but there have been 225 cases
of acute poisoning in the last. I think, 5 or 9 years in south Florida,
but only nine of the documented cases have occurred in migrants.
Many of them have occurred in farm laborers, but not the so-called
migrant farm laborer.

The other problem, though, that we do see, which is related to acute
poisoning, is contact dermatitis, essentially inflammation of the skin,
which comes from exposure to the pesticide, and that we do see fairly
commonly in the clinies. Tt is not a serious problem in the sense that
von hecome ill and have to be hospitalized.

Mr. T.anporeBe. Doctor, has the source of this infection been deter-
mined yet?

Dr. Evcrerrerson. It has.

Mr. Lancresr. T mean in this particular case. in this outbreak here.

Dr. Excesrerson. It has not been pinpointed exactly, because to do
that you would have to grow the organism out of the contaminated
source, and that is very difficult to do. But I don’t think that anyone
who has been involved with this—1I think again the health department
could probably elaborate in this—has any question that it was the
water supply. No one really seriously doubts that.

Mr. Lanperese. T wish to point out what I think is a contradiction
in your comments. You state in the beginning this quotation from Sir
William Osler, “Widely distributed throughout the world. typhoid is
everywhere an index of the sanitary intelligence of a community.”

Down in the third paragraph. “Typhoid is an iliness that reflects the
general living conditions of a community.”

And T would like to come to the defense of these migrant workers
who are living in Federal-funded migrant centers. Their habits. their
intelligence. has absolutely nothing to do with the fact that the water
was contaminated. They were intelligent enough to put complete faith
in the people.

Dr. Enaeererson. What the problem is, when T refer to “commu-
nitv.” T was not reallv referring to just the migrant camp. T am re-
ferring. vou know, to the community in general, which T would call
Dade County,
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Mr. Lawpereee. Would there be a typhoid epidemic here and there
from just the low level of intelligence which would be reflected in
filthy living habits?

Dr. Evcerrerson. No, that is not really—Dr. Osler was originally
from England. I think sanitary intelligence did not refer to TQ
necessarily. I think there is more to the quotation. He is referring to—
I don’t even think he really means intelligence. He means the general
sanitary conditions.

Mr. La~porese. Levels and so forth.

Dr. EncerrETsON. Or levels, yes, something like that.

I did not intend this quotation to reflect upon the migrant com-
munity, but rather the community of South Dade.

Mr. Lanperese. All right, I will accept that explanation.

The other is on the matter of screens and screen doors. This, I think,
is a situation where we can look upon the habits of the community. It
has always been a_question to me why, in ghetto areas or low-income
areas, people do not. keep screens. I know that there are landlords who
provide screens and the kids knock the screens out. It seems to me it
would be more comfortable to keep the screens. It certainly would save
the expenditure of money for the pesticides.

Now, I am putting an unfair question to you. I am making an ob-
servation, and you cannot really answer it. I think it is a sorry thing,
though, that people, no matter what their financial status, cannot
appreciate that screens are to keep out things that make life miser-
able. Why don’t they protect the screens rather than destroy them?

Dr. Enceprerson. Well, I think I understand what you are getting
at. T am sure there probably is some, if you want to call it, health
education involved in these kind of things. It would be good if some-
how people could be educated to some of the things that do lead to
good health. However, I think that the lack of health education or lack
of knowledge about what is proper health care is a part of the general
problem of poverty and in a way, you know, when your life is con-
cerned with getting enough to eat and a place to live, I think we some-
times may be expecting too much of people to expect them to be highly
conscious of things that are health related, in which they can maybe
see no relationship.

For instance, T am sure many people don’t know that typhoid could
possibly be carried on the feet of a fly that have been contaminated
from, say, sewage and then flown in and landed in your food. I am
sure there are people who are not aware of this.

Mr. Lanngrese. In other words, you are simply saying that maybe
we need more health education?

Dr. ExcesreTsoN. Yes; health education.

Mr. Lanperese. It is a problem. )

Dr. Exceprerson. Health education certainly or health care in gen-
eral. T have a very strange, very vague, very uncomfortable feeling
that there is developing an attitude in this country that to be poor
means somehow to be ignorant and to be lazy—not to be ignorant, to
be unintelligent and to be lazy. This bothers me a great deal.

T am sure there are people here in this room that can speak much
more on this subject than I can, but I have spent a good deal of my
time in poverty areas or low socioeconomic areas of this country—
most of it here in Dade County. I include all kinds of areas. And I have
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difficnlty in accepting this thesis that poverty automatically equals
laziness and low intelligence.

My opinion is that these people need help, but there are other peo-
ple who seem to say they need to help themselves. Perhaps it i1s a com-
bination. They perhaps need to help themselves and need to know how
to help themselves. I think also, especially as I concluded in my last
statement, that with this general status of our society today it seems
somewhat incongruous to me that these kind of things can happen to
people when, as you mentioned a little earlier, it is really not their
tault. They really were not responsible for their water supply.

Mr. Lanperepe. Obviously you and Walter Lippmann share the
same problem of trying to not only to express the question, but also
find the answer for the problem of the cause of poverty or the lower
income, what are the different things that contribute to poverty.

I have enjoyed your frank discussion here; I really have. Thank
you.

Mr. Forp. Doctor, 1 would appreciate it very much if you could
give us the two articles you mentioned that are in preparation. The
staff is coordinating the previous material that you have cited with
w.,.:_i, is coming out of these hearings so that we can get it in a usable
form.

Dr. Exersrerson. Fine.

Mr. Foro. Thank you very much. As a matter of fact, Senator Harri-
son Williams is working with us so that the Senate committee will not
20 back over the same thing. We are trying to work together.

Dr. Exaesrerson. T talked to a gentleman earlier and I agreed to
furnish him also a copy.

Mr. Forp. Fine. Thank you very much.

Arthur Hallgren, a member of the Joint Legislative Commission
on Migrant Labor, and executive vice-president of the Florida AFL~

CIO.

STATEMENT OF ARTHUR HALLGREN, MEMBER, JOINT LEGISLA-
TIVE COMMISSION ON MIGRANT LABOR, EXECUTIVE VICE
PRESIDENT, FLORIDA AFL-CIO

Mr. Harroren. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is a pleasure to be
here. I want to thank you for the time. I am not going to take a lot
of your time. T know you have a very heavy agenda and I know also
by the camera lights being turned on that undoubtedly Congressman
Pepper will be here shortly. . ,

Mr. Forn. We hope so.

- Mr. Havceren. I am glad T reached the podium prior to the
(longressman.

Mr. Forp. Senator Pepper is a great friend of the programs this com-
mittee has written. We consider it an honor to share any kind of pro-
gram with him.

Mr. HaLigren. I might add that he is my Congressman. Ilive in his
congressional district. .

Mr. Forp. You sric well represented.

Mr. Flantaren. 1 know that, I realize that.

T will not refer to the statement I prepared. T would rather keep, in
general, my remarks and comments on some of the testimony that I
have heard given here this morning.
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Mr. Forp. Without objection, the statement you submitted will be
inserted in the record at this point of the proceedings.

Mr. Havreren. Thank you. )

Now, with reference to some questions raised earlier concerning
welfare as opposed to the subsidies received by farm corporations—I
don’t have it with me, but I will make available to the committee a
quantity of studies made by the AFIL-CIO with reference to welfare,
breaking it down to what we know to be the facts of who are the true
recipients of welfare in this country, and you would be quite astounded
to find out what the facts are. I think you can rest assured that they
are true facts, because they were reprinted just this past Sunday in
most of the major papers in this State. I don’t know if they were
carried in every area of this country, but they were carried in Florida.

Mr. Forp. Yes; I saw the article.

Mr. HarLoren. I refer also to the crew chief situation. I am a mem-
ber of the Joint Legislative Commission in Tlorida, and as such have
had an opportunity to tour the State. As a result of the tour we have
made specific recommendations to the Florida Legislature in reference
to the migrant situation.

As a result of our reports to the legislative bodies, we were able to
effect n crew leader legislation law in the State of Florida in the last
session. However, we found out in a hearing just held on the 26th
that out of a possible—let’s see—there were 1,800, 1 believe, was the
number of crew leaders that were alleged to be in Florida, and they
had only managed to reach 39. And a representative of the citrus
groves got up and stated he didn’t want his people, his constituents
i be in violation of the law, which they are, because the law provides
that the crew leader shall be registered. He said their problem was
they couldn’t locate the crew leaders. A

T submit to you that I don’t understand how a grower or a repre-
sentative of growers could conceivably get up and expect anyone to
believe that they couldn’t locate the crew leaders.

In making our tours around the State we found that in most in-
stances the camps were surrounded by huge barb wire fences. We
questioned the operators of some of these camps why these fences
were erected. We were told that this was to keep the migrant workers
from being annoyed by peddlers and salesmen, insurance people. Which
again, of course, 1S a complete fallacy, because the barb wire, instead
of facing out to keep people out, they were faced in to keep people
in. Indeed, we found the gates were locked even though we were an
authorized legislative commission traveling as a body. There were some
camps where we could not gain access. We were denied admission to
the camp. We had State senators, we had State representatives, but
the growers absolutely refused to let us visit the camp invelved.

They took us to some of the better ones and we did see some pretty
poor ones. You heard testimony concerning them, concerning the rate
of pay.

>sm at this same hearing we had on March 26—last Monday—it
was stated by the chief of the Bureau of Employment Services in the
State of Florida that the average wage being paid for picking oranges
was $3.49 per hour, and for grapefruits $3.69 per hour, or about 40
cents per box.
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When he made this statement he was alluding, of course, that this
was a very good rate of pav. I don’t think anybody could question
that. T did ask him this question, though: I said who gets the money?
Does the crew leader get the money or do the workers get the money ?
And he said—T1 will quote him exactly—*The worker gets the money
nnless the erew leader has made a deal with the grower.”

Now., we know. as a matter of fact. that the grower does not know
in most instances—as [ have made as part of my statement to you—
the grower does not even know who is working for him. The crew
leader recruits the workers. He goes to the slave market, if vou will,
pieks out whatever number of workers he wants, he quotes the price
he is willing to pay them per box or per pound or whatever rate to be
paid. They agree to get aboard his bus and ride to the farms and pick
at that rate of pay. When they get off the bus, they collect from them
the cost of the use of sacks or baskets that they have used during the
day’s work. He pavs them off on the spot. In most instances he deducts
social security, although many witnesses we have heard in Tallahassee,
hefare Jegislative hodies up there. most of the witnesses we have heard
have said that they have never been asked what their social security
number was.

Sa we submit again that this is another way that the migrant worker
is certainly being diseriminated against in the area of true justice
as far as payment is concerned.

So we are very much aware of the problems and, of course, the
camps. you have stories that attest to that. T am sure in your travels
around you will see some conditions that you just won’t believe. We
have visited camps that have been condemned by health officials for
as long as 6 years. This was a yvear ago. They were condemned for as
long as 6 years and they are still in operation. The conditions are
absolutely deplorable and nothing has been done about it. There have
been a few token camps. several of the larger companies have built
model camps. Undoubtedly if you tour the center of the State you will
find a very fine model camp put up by one of the large companies in the
area. It is truly a nice housing situation, bwt it is onlv one out of
thousands of camps or hundreds of camps around the State.

So we feel that the tokenism is there. and the only answer that T
really feel can be found to the situation that the migrant worker finds
himself in is the complete elimination of the crew leader system. T
know of no other industry where the Government recruits the workers.
They don’t recruit them for manufacturers, they don’t reeruit them
for any other industry or any other business. It is up to the supplier to
go out. and find his own people and record their employment record.
their salaries and all of the records necessary to properly take care of
the emplovees.

T have read some articles in recent papers where the growers say.
“We are not in the huilding business, we can’t afford to build this.”
This may be true. Tt may be a problem that the Federal Government
will have to get into. But just to show you how rumors start. during
the hearing we were having in Tallahassee just this past week. Sena-
tor Phil Lewis from Palm Beach County asked one of the gentlemen
who was testifying on behalf of the State government. “Is it true that
the Feds—" those were his words—*“Is it true that the Feds have
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flooded the Imimokalee area with doctors? I hear rumors doctors are
crawling all over Immokalee.”

And the gentleman from the Health Services, Dr. Wilson Sowder,
said this was not true, that there were two doctors in the Tmmokalee
area that had been sent in there, and that there was such a case load
that the only ones they could handle were absolute emergency cases.
They were not even seeing people on any kind of a routine basis what-
soever.

I think the same is true in medical areas as in the legal services. We
hear about the migrant legal services coming in and causing all kinds
of chaos and threatening to overthrow the operation, do all kinds of
things.

?mwmm also interesting to note that we right now are in the center of a
rather intensive legislative battle in preventing the implementation of
the so-called right to work law in the State of Florida. We have the
infamous honor, I suppose, of being the first State to have such a law,
ours being passed as part of the constitution in 1944. But now the
Right-To-Work Committee is in here because of the attempts of the
United Farm Workers to organize the growers and they are trying
now very diligently to implement the right to work law and singling
out specifically the agricultural workers as a target for restrictions. We
teel what they are trying to do there is prevent them from organizing
and thereby improving their own plight. I think this is basically the
problem. )

Mr. Forp. What percentage of farmworkers, migrants, or otherwise,
in Florida, would you say are now organized ¢

Mr. Harreren. I would say—1I don’t have any figures—but a very,
very small percentage are organized because of the intimidation of
the growers. They are not allowed to talk to anyone, and as was pointed
out earlier, I heard someone say that a shotgun has been pointed at
them, he was asked to leave the area. This was even true of a store
that was pointed out to us in one of the migrant areas, and on the
side of the store was a huge sign, “No niggers, Mexicans or dogs al-
lowed.” And the owner had thought about it awhile and he crossed out
dogs. They would allow dogs in the store, but they wouldn’t allow nig-
gers or Mexicans. And this was in a community made up solely,
primarily of migrant workers. And we were advised not even to slow
down the bus in front of that store, because the owner also had a loaded
shotgun, and anybody that tried to take a picture of that sign would
be in danger of being shot at by the owner. This is the kind of situation
we have today in Florida. ) )

Now, we talk about why can’t we solve some of these things legis-
latively. We do not have a minimum wage in the State of Florida.
We as organized labor lobbying for the interests of the working people
in the State have tried in every session to get a minimum wage. In the
last session we introduced a minimum wage of $1 an hour, and when
it went before the committee one of the rural legislators got up and
said, “Mr. Chairman, I don’t have a man working for me worth more
than 40 cents an hour. I move the bill be tabled.” And that was the
end of the dollar minimum wage. )

So we don’t have a minimum wage for anyone who is involved in
just simply intrastate work in Florida. Of course the Federal mini-
mum wages does apply in other areas, but not to people solely em-
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ployed in Florida. This is the kind of legislators we are facing. These
are the problems we are facing. )

Again T got away from my point. I noticed in the latest piece of
right-to-work material that came out, of all names, that Mrs. Wedge-
worth’s name was mentioned as being involved in assisting the Right-
To-Work Committee in their efforts to get implementation of the right
to work. Mrs. Wedgeworth, of course, is the wife of George Wedge-
worth, the president of the Sugar Cane Girowers Association. I have
offered to publicly debate Mr. Wedgeworth about the importation of
farmworkers. He has refused to meet in open debate. Because we feel
there again that there are workers in the United States and Florida
who will cut sugarcane, who are able to cut sugarcane if the wages
and conditions are proper.

T also submit to you it was just, I believe, last year that when the
Jamaicans themselves staged riots. There were 500 to 700 Jamaicans
that were locked up within their camp and finally quelled and then
they were shipped back to Jamaica. This has been going on, as has
been testified earlier, for a number of years.

Mr. Forp. It is my understanding that in Hawaii there is about a
$2.50 minimum for field hands. It 1s just a vague recollection that 1
have. The sugarcane workers, do you have any idea what they pay
these people?

Mr. Harieren. They claim they pay them $1.95 an hour. That Is
their claim. What they actually pay them, I don’t know. Their records
are never available.

Mr. Forp. In a State that can’t get a $1 minimum wage, 1t seems
like $1.95 would be a pretty attractive job.

Mr. Havieren. Actually they don’t even try to recruit workers,
really don’t try to recruit them, because the request went in to the
Federal Government for Jamaican workers long before they made
any attempt, and it was approved long before they made any at-
ternpt to true recruitment. As far as T can ascertain or we can as-
certain the recruitment efforts in the State of Florida were limited
to posting notices in the courthouse, mostly in English. Tt might
have been in Spanish in a few places. I wouldn’t swear that they
were not in Spanish, but they were posted in the courthouse or some
public place where normally these people wouldn’t tend to go any-
way, advising there were jobs available to cut cane and a recruiter
was available in town for 1 day and he sat behind the desk, and then
immediately went back and reported to his superiors that he wasn’t
able to recruit anybody. I think one or two people came in the en-
tire day. He reported the recruitment effort as a failure. It is a com-
plete farce. It does need some real strict conditions. We cannot get
anything done with it at a local level. They will accept all kinds of
Federal assistance as far as recruitment of Jamaican workers, they
will accept the subsidies, the welfare payments to the farms, but they
will not accept any kind of regulations.

Mr. Forp. How are these people transported here from Jamaica®
Are Jamaicans the sole or principal source?

Mr. Harreren. They did have a contract with Pan American World
Airways at one time. T don’ know if Pan American Airways still has
the contract, but Pan Am had the contract of transporting these peo-
ple. T don’t know if Pan Am still has it.
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I happen to have personal knowledge of this as I was the president
of the local union at Pan Am, and when our crews were assigned—
I am going back some 12 years ago, because I have been in this State
job for that length of time—hbut when I was president of that local, the
crews assigned to these particular flights would renege when they were
assigned because they were so overcrowded, and the conditions even
aboard the aircraft were such that they were almost intolerable for the
crews. And if it is permissible for the record, the crews dubbed them,
“The Vomit Comets.” That was how deplorable the conditions were as
far as transporting these people in and out.

Mr. Forp. Are the wages deducted for the air transportation ?

Mr. Harreren. I think that is deducted from their wages. I think
they are charged for travel and I also understand—now, I can’t say
this for a fact, Mr. Chairman—but it is my understanding that they
were only given a portion of their wages earned here in the State and
the rest of 1t sent back to be held in trust until they are returned to the
Jamaican Government and there, ostensibly, they are given their
money on the premise that they don’t know how to spend their money
properly, that it is better to have their money sent over there. What
they truly get in the end, I don’t know. I am at a loss even now how to
ascertain that figure.

I did, in attempting to get Mr. Wedgeworth to debate publicly—I
did manage—anyway, they brought a substitute in, a little Jamaican
lady from a newspaper in Jamaica—and during the course of the de-
bate, she said that this is good for the Jamaican economy. And, I said
we had nothing against helping the Jamaicans, but if they wanted
foreign aid, they should go out and ask for foreign aid and not come
here and displace American workers by bringing in Jamaican workers
instead of Americans.

And, T submit to you there is no more demeaning job than picking
up garbage. It’s very difficult to recruit garbagemen, because it’s not
a very nice job. Yet we can recruit garbagemen all over the country.
We have problems when they are not paid properly, but paid properly
we can recruit them for picking up garbage.

And, T submit, if we can get men to go and pick up garbage, we can
get people to pick up cane. And, maybe it is not the best work in the
world, but if we make it an attractive enough job and the wages
adequate, T am certain we can recruit workers in America and take
some of the people off welfare, particularly in view of the mechaniza-
tion which is going on in the agricultural areas. We know that this is
happening and become a greater problem to all of us at the State level
and the national level.

Mr. Lanperese. What is the alternative to the crew leader system?
Is there an alternative, or is this just strictly tightening up of the
laws? Is there an alternative to it, or is this something we really have
to work on and correct ?

Mr. Harreren. I submit to vou in all other areas of business and
industry, workers are recruited through an employment service of
some type. Tf it happens to be a union, like the building trades opera-
tions, they are recruited through the particular skill or trade, through
their hiring hall. And. T submit to you that this is their answer in the
case of the farmworker. Those that say that you have to belong to a
union in order to be hired through the hiring hall, this is not true. Our
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laws prohibit that. And, there has been a bill here introduced to imple-
ment the so-called Right To Work law——
Mr. Forn. Is that the hiring hall bill? . .
Mr. ITaviarex. His bill prohibits hiring halls in agriculture. )
Mr. Forn. The objections are :OJ to :ﬁ.:wm halls themselves, bu
wther beeausc it is a vehiele for something else ! o
Zw_f,w wvw ww,.m:,xmz. The Attorney General has ruled that a hiring hall
is nondiseriminatory, and nonunion people should be received. And a
hiring hall is that situation where these people can go and the mwodmﬁ
can recruit his workers through the hiring hall, because we know the
crew leader is a very unserupulous person. For example, we have a
situation, and T am not prepared to document it, but 1t was opmﬁmﬁw wm
the press that 2 years ago in the Fort Myers area a crew leac Mw @&
a discussion and an argument, a violent argument with his wife, Jb
shot her. He killed her. Murdered her. He was convicted of murd mm
He was sentenced. And, the agricultural interests in the area Eﬂ&mH
with the judge that he was indispensable as far as the agricu ﬁww
interest in that area were concerned. No one else could do the job.
And. they so convinced the judge, and r_m.mmi_m:nm é&m m..ww% Mwmw B.&w
should go to jail for so many months L,:E:%..Em year—an 18 18 !
convicted murderer—he was released from jall to recruit migran
workers to work the fields. This is a matter of case record. ked
And, this is the kind of problem we have. And, when we mﬂmﬁ talke
about registering the crew leaders in the State of Hﬂoﬂmpw t m_o grow-
ers themselves were up in arms saying that we can’t have ;mm. o
And, in testimony and cross-examination and discussion émm om. H.mo e
from them that the reason they didn’t want the crew lea Smm o be
registered was because most of them cannot stand the test mw :mmw,-
printing or mugging because they had eriminal records. .Hﬁ%% Mﬂ.m ﬁmong
less than the best. These are people we are entrusting the llves anc
finances of the less-informed people who do the 3_).380%..@
Mr. Forp. Has your crew leader registration law in Florida re-
: ice registration? .
?%.A.M %MMWMESH It requires the registration with the @mwp.?a:@:n%m
commerce. T don’t know if they require complete examination on the
int of fingerprinting. I am not sure. A
_gowﬁw the way, mtm m:pwmm, in the State of Florida Wﬁw rwwm @M;.%M%wﬁ
requires every local union man to be m:mg.viimJ MEJ qfwﬁm wow -
pletely clear record, every local union. And, we couldn’t get 1
:w%..ﬂﬂmmﬁwmmm. Let’s go back to something. On your ﬁrwsmwﬁm %MM
working conditions and wages, what they would rmMo. to wmm:ﬁb et
people to do anything. T agree with you up to a cer @.52@ e, Dut
doesn’t the competitive situation on the world markets in .dwm gros ing
of sugarcane confine the sugar grower In E.ojzw wm mm % :.M_ : ::N:u
do in the way of wages and working conditions’ sn ~ ‘.,Wo:m it
to what a company can pay in the way of wages and can do about
i %qﬂ:%ﬁwwwda Not if the figures we've T.mmz.m earlier as M@Mzwm
profits are concerned can be relied upon. Their profits are owﬂ.mwm M.M
high. Their sugar quotas are paid for not growing ﬁmmmmw%ﬁ e s
a vehicle to keep the price of sugar high. So, I might ce y
that they could afford to pay decent wages.
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Mr. Lanporese. 1 hope we agree that anybody carrying on any
respectable operation is entitled to pay, a reasonable profit. But, I am
probing this completely seriously. We are hearing all the time about
situations where the employer pays more money but says that it will
put him out of business. And, we do know there are companies that
move operations to Mexico and different parts of the world to avoid
this situation, the automobile industry included.

Is there any financial point beyond which a company cannot go with
some of the programs we have in our country ¢ Whether the programs
are enjoined by the farmer himself or people who don’t have a real
yen to work, it’s all added into our costs; and our balance of trade
has been destroyed in the last few years. So, I am entirely serious when
I say, is there a limit to what a company can do in the way of wages
and working conditions before they are forced to try to get around the
added expenses?

Mr. Harreren. I submit to you, sir, they are not going outside. They
are going outside the country, but they are not going outside their
company, because we find ourselves faced with multinational corpora-
tions, like Chrysler building cars in Japan and selling them in America
and Buick building cars in Germany and selling cars in America—

and they are not in competition with the German country and Ger-
man operations.

And, our problem is right there.
Hﬁw. Lanperesr. There is something that makes it favorable to do
‘that.

Mr. Harreren. Of course. They can leave the money in the foreign
«countries and not pay taxes in the United States.

This is part of the problem that the A.F. of L. and CIO have been
concerned with, this manipulation of world trade. We are not ih com-
petition with Japan or Germany or Taiwan or anybody. We are in
competition with the companies that move their operations there. And,
you cannot buy an American-made television set. You cannot buy, the
last I checked, you cannot buy an American-made recorder. They all
have a brand name on them, of course.

Mr. Lianperese. I saw where Sony is building television tubes in
California now.

Mr. Havreren. 1 tell you why that may be. Some of these displaced
workers in these foreign countries, like Volkswagen, who for years
led the field in compact automobile sales and was really a threat to the
American automobile industry—the workers there were building a
good product and the company got a lot of men who worked for pea-
nuts. And, they have now demanded a higher wage. And, in fact I
understand right now that Volkswagen has their backs to the wall
because of this type of situation. And, I think we’ll ind the same thing
in Japan. And, I believe honestly, sir, the problems we face are the
problems created by the multinational corporations. And, in the case
of the giant companies—not small farmers, because small farmers for
all intents and purposes don’t exist—they are gone-—if they are small
operators they must join a cooperative and have their crops picked
with the cooperative or they don’t have a market; the citrus mutual in
Florida controls. And, they control the picking up of fruit, actually.
And they decide what they pick and what they let fall to the ground.
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This is fact. I follow the trade journals as well as reading the Wall

Stree g so I know what the operation is doing. .
Street Journal, 89 st 1 m&: be happy to answer them if

Are there any further question i1k . 4
S0 P,mm& T will WE%Q the committee with information on the welfare
situation.
Mr. Forp. Thank you.
1 would like to observ

ine conditions to the point w . . i ..
over for years on this question. 1f we are dealing with the minimum

wage law, we touch somebody. We drive more jobs ﬂoznﬁogm ﬁrm mﬂﬂﬂﬂmwu
and we have problems with Ooo:cmﬁ;osﬁ dm_.w:.r ﬁ:.m sa m< feo SSm
this drives jobs out of the country in all of these M Hw.:mwm. H%%%hoa A Hw-
tampering with labor costs does provide me with H% le am m for mw 0
pathy is the fact that the American taxpayer, even thoug lon't ta ks
sugar in my coffee, I have to pay for everybody else mymzm_p? owmﬂo:mg
have to pay for maintaining artificial prices. It is ¢ oﬂm&% e Em@ ed
production, as closely controlled in production as a v%. Hno Mr@ mum.qﬁ.
von don't get quotas, you can’t grow sugar. T can’t mm in om ﬁomwamm
business myself. T have to have a :amzmm to grow msmmﬁ Nﬁ B oenee
for this sugar anywhere in the world. We have to :mmm e/ HME, Huom.wmm w :
dollar to support a price above what wﬂm.m::égiu\ ree entery .
with or without what labor could produce for us. So, as long as we col
trol it. we can put it a zﬁzw :.JMTS. and put that into increased wages.
Tr. Hariorex. I wounld think so. ) 4
NMM mo,ws. T am alarmed when I hear people aren’t going to ,92 swow ¢
cars. 1f they don't buy cars, my people have no chance to get back to

work.
Mr. HavLogre

e that this argument about improving work-
t where we export jobs 1s one 1 hear over and

. , f_d

x. And. if we keep the wages down, they are no

i ing is pr nt of the so-called
coing to be able to buy things. And, this proponen q

m% oht-to-Work legislation, he 1s a dentist. And he wouldn’t fill ﬁwﬁ%

teoth in his area without having these people’s money available to him.

i ’ vith additional
But, thank you for your time, and T11 supply you wit
information. Thank you very H.EST.
[The statement referred to follows:]
STATEMENT OF ART HALLGREN, BxECcUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT, Frorma AFL-CIO
ENTLEMEN @ T want o thank this committee for granting me z_:w ww.@awmm%%
wi ..:.. 1 \?,:E.? in a brief overview some of the ocmﬂﬁjm:d..gm s,ﬁ% ips a
pasic problems faced by agricultural workers in the State 3. mw.o: .mw.m on the
i :;,__ quatified to come Lhefore you as I have ::a the E.ES w mﬁmﬁo mmmam E
Joint Legislative Commission on Migrant Labor for Eﬁ.:w than ﬁﬁnm w:m H.M,:.B
addirion “to working with many other groups attempting to assis Y
workers and migrants. .
i s ini > large Agri |
1t is my cousidered opinion that :%. -bu : 1 ] e
Iargely responsible for many of the evils 2% mﬂ_w :N quwmwmamwgmw WMWH%OWMMMS&%
i i its » the humans y use
minatory compensation and benefits for the I U L D eats and
felds or groves ; ¢ the small farmer is for all interests ¢
-k the fields or groves. The day of the smd ‘ ner | nt !
o net. Large conglomerate corporations :oﬁ%ﬁa gm:ﬁ,mﬁmwwwm ﬂ% Mwﬂ
. A / i ati in Florida. jus
rms, groves and Processing ogmqm:o:m ir . To na :
[ G::me_.z? Foods, Minute Maid ,Ei_. others, in mi.a_.:o: to farm
atives which are in effect large nssém:?m. in wmﬁmww %%%mwwms.ﬂo -
i (- sort g T V t? TS . 4
e companies have always resorted to :m._s.z.. : ! !
Tahor .::;.3,%_ completely avoiding the ~.mmﬁ5:£‘:.:;< of hiring ﬁm:m properly
m.mm::m the ?ci&sm men and women m:M mm\m: n::.ﬁ.%_w om%w_w.wmiwfsm and the
g workers, , ,
-rew teaders have complete control 0 ﬁ ese v v I !
mcm:q to keep them in complete submission evenl to the point of involuntary

_husiness interests must be held

omr
PUTrPOses ex
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1 know of no other business or industry in which it is possible for the owner o
manager of the plant to actually not be aware of who is doing the work or how
they are paid, or even if they are being paid, but in the case of the migran{
worker-crew chief relationship this is truly tlie case, in almost every instance,
It is fact that one or two enlightened managements have agreed to sign contracts
and do have payroll records for the workers, but they are being ridiculed by
the majority for their progressive actions.

To prove what I am stating is not just “idle talk” or ‘*‘propaganda,” on
March 26, 1973 in Tallahassee the Commission on Migrant Labor held a hearing
at which a State official testified that the “going rate of pay” for oranges was
$3.49 per hour——grapefruit $3.69 per hour or about 40 cents per box. I asked if
the werker actually was paid this amount or the crew leader; his answer was,
“the worker, unless the crew leader made a deal with the grower.” Therefore, I
submit to you that the only way a “crew leader” can get his share, is by making
“deals” and paying the workers only what he can get away with, which as you
have heard is very little if anything. Social Security is deducted from the workers
pay, put no records are kept, transportation to and from the flield is deducted,
as is the use of bags or other picking equipment, and in many instances these
workers end up owing the crew leader money instead of making it.

Housing is another area of the “unbelievable” in modern America. Some campsg
T have visited, have been condemned by hedlth officials for as long as six years
but are still in use in some areas of Florida. There are, according to official
figures 11 camps in Dade County to house 65,000 migrants—S8 in Broward to house
4,000—42 camps in Collier to house 18,000—13 in Hillsborough County {(ne
figure)—95 camps in Palm Beach County (no figure) in all there are camps in
99 counties in Florida. These figures do not count “boarding” houses and other
dwellings which migrants are using in order to have shelter.

The problem of the Migrant is a very real one, not confined to Dade alone, but.
indeed to all the rural areas of our State and Nation. I could go on for hours, but
1 know you have a full agenda, and appreciate the time you have allowed me
today. If ‘any member of the committee has any questions I will be happy te
clarify anything I may have stated or indeed failed to state.

[Mr. Pepper’s prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT oF Hown. CLAUDE PEPPER, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGREss FrOM THE
STATE oF FLORIDA

The recent events in Dade County, Florida, affecting the lives of migrant
workers, namely the typhoid outbreak and the obvious exploitation of the
workers, call for an immediate recognition on the part of the Congress that the
health and welfare of migrant workers and seasonal farmworkers is a Federal
responsibility. The Congress must act to provide for the inclusion of migrants
in the mainstream of the protection of many Federal programs which have heen
enacted and are protecting the rights and providing for the needs of so many
other American citizens, :

Migrants are excluded from the protections of the National Labor Relatinng
Act which would provide for and protect their collective bargaining rights which

« esmrential to their future welfare; migrants are excluded froin the benefits -
of Unemployment Insurance; excluded from participating in Workman’s Cow-
pensation: and they are not even assured of the continuation of the Migrant
Health Act of 1962 which brought hope that communities could start to provide
nrigrant workers and their families with the health care and protection monst
other families in our nation are enjoying. I understand the Administration’s
budget proposes the termination of the Migrant Health Act together with its
built-in program direction and safeguards.

Aecording to the Department of Health, Education and Welfare, there are
approximately 1,000,000 migrants and dependents, and approximately 3,000,006
seasonal farmworkers who are eligible for coverage under Federal proerams.

Yet the migrant and the seasonal farmworker continue to know the daily
tragedy of substandard living conditions in worker camps with primitive facif-
ities. His lifestyle is ignorance, isolation and exploitation. He and his family lack
the benefits of social services which leave him victimized by society and disease.

In 1973 health ecare for the migrant remains among his most critical needg.
According to the Department of Health, Education and Welfare, the BM%.pna
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health program still reaches less than 109 of the eligible population and this is
due largely to the inadeguacy of funding levels. The first eleven years of the
Migrant Health Act have demonstrated that there are ways of developing health
services for the nation’s migrant population. Night family health clinics started
in labor camps; and the first bilingual community health worker started in a
project tor migrant labor in Kern County, California in 1964. Projects in some

states have made impressive strides in developing one-stop comprehensive primary
care s. In other states, the migrant health program has provided financial
ipcentives to existing health facilities seeking to induce them to accept migrant
patients. According to recent hearings held in the Senate Labor and Public Wel-
fare Committee, if we were to try to provide minimum standards for health care
for the migrants, it would cost some $600 million. We must provide for the ex-
tension of the Migrant Health Act and we must provide for more adequate
funding.

In addition to the extension of the Migrant Health Act, H.R. 6622, which I
am co-sponsoring, we must consider other important bills which have been in-
trodneed in this session of the Congress.
include bills to assure equal access for farmworkers to programs and
Jures instituted for the protection of American working men and women;
essive child labor in agriculture; and to make farmworkers eligible
for nnemployment compensation.

The Congress already has amended the Elementary and Secondary Education
Act to include the children of migratory agricultural workers and funds are now
provided to improve education programs and offer supplemental services to these
ehildren. It is time for the Congress to act on providing for the other needs of
migrants.

STATEMENT OF HON. CLAUDE PEPPER, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Mr. Prprer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the com-
mittee. T am sorry I was attending a meeting of the Education and
Lahor Subcommittee at another part of our area and was delayed In
getting here. And. my distinguished colleague, Mr. Lehman, asked me
{o express his regrets and he will be along shortly, as soon as possible.

I appreciate very mueh your being heve in this area to hold hearings
i one of the most eritical problems in our Congress and our country.
It is certainly a critical thing in our owil area.

I just have a few observations to malke, Mr. Chairman. I would not
deal on the specifics of the legislation before you, and the essence of our
problem is not whether o not a specific provision or proposal is more
germane, but whether these people should be abandoned to the Fed-
oral Government. I feel that this thing of migratory labor is primarily
ern of the Federal Government in the sense that the Federal
overnment has jurisdiction over movements in interstate commerce,
migratory workers move from State to State. That is the
very natnre of their work. They don’t have an attachment to any
particular area. They do not vote, as I am aware, in any particular
place. Their children don’t reside long enough in particular areas
to go to school there. And, as Tar as I am aware, we don’t provide
migratory schools for these children. And, the result is that as long
as 1 can remember, the migratory labor situation in this country has
been a shame upon our land.

I remember in my early days in the Senate we began to investigate
this matter of the conditions under which migratory laborers worked.
We visited many areas of Florida and other States in the country to
see the conditions under which they labored.

97

And, in those days the conditions as a whole were very much morg
deplorable than today. There have been many improvements, and I
commend those having a part in those improvements. But, the need for
doing something was never more graphically illustrated than what has
been found in Dade County during the past few weeks.

Of course, while this might be accidental, the contamination of
water, it looks like anybody could have anticipated that the water
would be contaminated when the conditions surrounding the various
supplies of water were known to be what they were.

In addition to that, tales of coercion upon these workers of virtual
slavery were such as to move our local officials here to arrest a number
of people in charge of those work farms or so-called labor camps,
and charge them with serious crimes and lodge them in prison.

But, that is to my mind just symptomatic of the callous disregard
of the rights and interests of those people that the State and Federal
Government has exhibited too long in the past. And, I am delighted
and encouraged to see this distinguished committee here, because L
know you will not gloss over the facts. You will find the truth, and
upon the truth you will make recommendations that you think are
in the best interest of our great country. ,

Now, I realize there is an area here in which the State and Federal
Government could both function. And, if the State government were
doing all needed to be done, there wouldn’t be a reason for the Federal
Government to do anything. No doubt it is an area in which there
should be intimate and cordial cooperation between the Federal and
State and local areas.

And, our Governor has been down in the area where these labor
camps are located, these migratory workers in these various camps,
and he’s indicated publicly according to the press that he didn’t like
what he saw.

Now, the Legislature of Florida is already in session. It started, I
believe, on Tuesday of this week. Now, it may well be that the Gover-
nor will be making recommendations to the Florida Legislature. 1
hope he will and I believe he will, on account of having seen the
sordid conditions he observed In these areas. And, I hope this dis-
tinguished committee will review the Federal part of this program
and its regulations and will see to it that the quality of life that every
American should be able to enjoy is insured to these migratory people.

1 presume most of them are Americans. We do have some laborers
here from offshore, but as usual, they come in here under contract,
and we have specific obligations to them. And, they are probably
better cared for than our own people who are in the migratory system
of our population. But, we must see to it that the benefit and the value
of this labor is acknowledged and that we are willing to pay fair prices
for it and that these people who work get the protection that Ameri-
can workers are generally entitled to enjoy, which would seem to be
to include the right of collective bargaining, and that they have
certain other safeguards which workers in this country generally
enjoy. They should not be separated from protection because they

happen to be working on farms and a deri il
happen to | g re rendering a valuable service
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It would seem to me that we would also—that we should also cer-
tainly assure that health care shall be available to all these people
and that if we cannot afford to give them health care, let’s try to find
other work for them to do, because children of tender age that are in
those homes and farms are in need. And, they are Americans, and that
should mean a lot to be an American in this country. It gives the right
to enjoy certain privileges that should not be taken away by anybody.
8o, they ought to be assured of adequate health care and spared from
the tragedy of a large volume of typhoid.

I have seen the statement issued by the distinguished chairman of
this committee referring to one of the most serious outhreaks of ty-
phoid in the recent history of this country. And, here it is, one of the
richest parts of the country of which we are very proud here and we
must see to it that they have the health care and protection that the
public satety demands as well as our own safety.

And, another thing, Mr. Chairman, I hope you will see to it some
way—and I haven’t looked into the matter and don’t know what the
facts are—that the children of these migratory workers are assured
a@?ﬁﬁg and full educational epportunity.

t have just come from a hearing of another subcommittee of your
distinguished enmmittee dealing with the subject of education and
the Federal programs relative to education. And, we’ve heard witnesses
from several States as well as from our own State here testifying be-
fore that distinguished committee as to what happens to the children
who do not get the advantage of title I of the Elementary and Second-
ary Fdueation Act which vour distinguished committee put on the
statute books of this countrv and which has meant so much.

These authorities, superintendents of education, State and loecal,
testified on the whole that only about one out of three of the eligible
children in their respective areas got the benefit of this title I educa-
ional program. And, I'm speaking of the three witnesses I heard this

morning—1in Tampa. Hillshorough County. one of the great counties
of this State, and Duval County, one of the great counties of this
State, and one of the other great counties of this State—and they were
pointing ont only one out of three cot the benefit of that program.

And, T asked the question, Mr. Chairman, and I was privileged to
part in the hearings of this committee—and T said to those
gentlemen, what happens to the children who are not able to enjoy
this. these chsadvantaged children, and we all know that is what title
I primarily applies to—what happens to these poor children who never
get the benefit of this Federal program? What happens to them? And,
they spoke up nbout it. And, by the way, the other county was
Volusia County—they said, those are the dropouts primarily. In the
school dropouts of the school of this State and country. .

Well, what happened to the dropouts, I asked, as chairman of
the Select Committee on Crime. We have heard witness after wit-
ness right here in this room on this. we've heard various juvenile
judees of this State testify that a dropout is primarily the boy or the
girl who gets into juvenile conrt for the commission of a serious
crime. And. 50 percent of the boys and girls who get into juvenile
court get in the penal institutions of adults after committing more
serious crimes.
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In other words, the school dropout is a potential criminal in the
years head,-and to a very large degree for the reason in the com-
plex society we live in, without education or skills, he gets to the
age where he has desires and sees others in his age group enjoying
certain advantages of life in this country, and he doesn’t get them
because he cannot earn the money. So, what does he do? He goes out
and commits a crime. ) )

And, I heard the other day in preparation for hearings of the com-
mittee, I had lunch with Dr. Wilks of Columbia University. He said
that two-thirds of the erime in this country was committed by young
people in this country, the majority thus were under 28 years of age.

What I am saying is, when we deny these children of migratory
workers or other parents for that matter an opportunity to get a
decent education, to learn reasonably well to read, to learn some of
the fundamentals of education that you need to get along in life,
in all probability we are condemning those youths to be dropouts
because they can’t keep up, so they become embarrassed and frustrated
and disappointed losers. And, dropouts are just a short distance to the
juvenile courts, and from there on to an adult penal institution.

So I am saying, Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee, I
hope we can adopt some system that will assure an adequate and
decent educational opportunity to the children of these migratory

TS, .
So%%ﬁ it, occurs to me that one way it might be done and mavbe it’s
being done, I don’t know, I am not Ewwozdmm about it, would be to
have buses where the teachers go along with them as they migrate from
here to central and then north Florida and up into Georgia and the
Carolinas. Maybe we should let the teacher go along and have classes
in buses, and these studies be maintained. The students can keep up
their attendance and the like. . ) )

Nowr, if that is not being done, I beg of you to give consideration to
some adequate and successful system that will afford an assured edu-
cational opportunity to all the children of these migratory workers.
And T've long felt that the agricultural worker is just as much en-
titled to an assurance of a decent wage as any other worker. And, I
don’t see why he’s not entitled to the benefit of collective bargaining
like other workers of the country. .

And he isentitled to health care and housing. ]

Look at the housing that most of them have. As T said, I remember
very well when I went up around the lake, Lake Okeechobee where we
have great agricultural and horticultural areas in operation, when
we started there, there were areas there that didn’t have running
water. They were a shame upon our country that people have to live
in places like that. They have improved a lot of them now. And, we
must see to it that they have houses where they can live. And they
must have decent pay and protection for their rights to work, decent
health opportunities and decent housing opportunities and adequate
ecdlucational opportunities for their children. Those 1t would seem to
me are the essentials to assure. o

Those people do make a very valuable contribution to our economy,
and without them we would suffer a great loss, and also the food
products that we enjoy.
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And, the last thing, Mr, Chairman, is how the program should be
correlated between the Federal and State governments. That is a
matter to be worked out. I would think it might be that the Federal
Government might assume the primary responsibility, and is their
duty to give it primary consideration. We can let the State formulate
a plan, and if the Federal Government finds the plan to be adequate,
why, of course, we will approve it. And, it may well be that, and T
am inelined to recommend, that the Federal Government and State
government bear correspondingly the cost of decent programs because
1’s not only a matter of concern to Florida that we produce the vegeta-
bles that to a large degree feed the Nation at certain seasons of the
year, but they move up into Georgia and bring a similar contribution
up there, and on up to Maryland and Virginia and then north to Dela-
ware, Pennsylvania, and that is food for America for all of us. All of

s distingnished gentleman here lives in Michigan, and the dis-
> gentleman here lives in Indiana, and I live in Florida, but
were all Americans, and this is food for America that we are talking
ahout.

S0 it seems to me that this is appropriate for the Federal Govern-
ment to bear with the State a fair share of the cost of the conduct of
& program that would not only be decent and fair, but of which we
could be justly proud.

Mr. Forp. Thank you very much, Mr. Pepper.

My first legislative experience when I came to this committee 814
» was the Elementary and Secondary Education Act which I
- pleasure of putting in writing. Because almost 100 years
sedd without anything like that massive Federal aid going
1. there were a lot of sessions to figure out the best strategy
and who would be the hest hired guns to plead our cause. I remember
as a brand new individual, the consensus, including that of President
Johnson, who took a very personal interest in the legislation at that
time, was that you'd hetter get Claude Pepper on the floor to explain
it, because that’s the kind of person you need to sell this thing.

You just demonstrated your continuing enthusiasm for the legis-
lation and for the principles that we were attempting to legislate. So,
on behalf of the committee, I want to take this opportunity here in
your country to tell you as a young Congressman from Michigan that
Iwas very grateful to be able'to follow you and your leadership in that
battle and everything that has taken place.

Mr. Preper, This 1s a distinguished subcommittee of the Congress,
and I commend you for the work you have done and the great work
in the years ahead.

Mr. Lanperese. I am also happy to be here in Claude Pepper coun-
try. And, you were kind enough to cosponsor the first bill T introduced
in the labeling of imported meats.

But, we are running late, and I am sure you have.a busy schedule,
so since I don’t have any sharp arguments ‘with you, we’ll say thank
you for appearing here,

Mr. Prrrer. Thank you very much. We do appreciate your coming
cdown here more than we can tell you.

Mvr. Foro. I just wish I could stay through the weekend. T have to

be back in Michigan, however. You have a little better weather here

than we have this time of year. Thank you.
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GROWERS' PANEL CONSISTING OF RICHARD ALGER, PRESIDENT,
DADE COUNTY FARM BUREAU; GECRGE COOPER, JR., GROWER
AND MEMBER, DADE COUNTY HUMAN RELATIONS BOARD; W. H.
KROME, GROWER; AND EDWARD J. CAMPBELL, ADMINISTRA-
TIVE ASSISTANT, C. C. CARPENTER FARMS, AND PRESIDENT,
DADE COUNTY AGRICULTURAL COUNCIL

We have a panel now of Mr. Richard Alger, president of the Dade
County Farm Bureau; George Cooper, Jr., grower and member of
the Dade County Human Relations Board; W. H. Krome, a grower;
and Edward J. Campbell, administrative assistant, C. C. Carpenter
Farms, and president of the Dade County Agricultural Council.

Gentlemen, we are not set up very well for a panel, but if you gen-
tlemen could come up here and get four chairs, we will shift our oper-
ation around here a hittle bit for you.

Without objection, the prepared statements prepared by you gentle-
men for the panel will be entered on the record at this point. And you
may proceed as you deem best to amplify them and comment on any
other things you wish here today. Educate us in whatever way seems
most appropriate to you.

[ The document referred to follows:]

THE FARM LABOR PROBLEM-—A GROWER'S VIEW

MAJOR PROBLEMS

A. Quality: 1. Alcoholism; 2. Pride in workmanship; 3. Physical condition;
and 4. Poor production per labor.

B. Chronic Shortages Caused by :

1. Labor life style: (a) Pay—$28.75 per 6 hr day or $4.70 per hr., (b) Alco-
holism; (c¢) Cost of living; (d) Day to day attitude; and (e) Welfare pro-
grams (food stamps).

2. Housing Shortage.

Mr. Coorer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I'll lead off here.

I am George Cooper. I am a grower, member of the Dade County
Farm Bureau, and on the board of directors of the Dade County
Farm Bureau; I am a member of the Dade County Community Re-
lations Board where I am otherwise known as the resident bigot or
the token bigot on the labor relations board.

And I want to make it clear that this is probably a different view
of the farm labor or migrant labor problem than you will probably
receive from anybody else,

As you will note, this is an outline. My testimony is here in outline
form because as T write it out, I tend to chicken out on niy convictions.
So I put it in outline form for a candid atmosphere.

But, the farm labor problems here in Dade County are, we grow
35,000 acres of vegetables throughout this county, and it is the second
largest in the State. And, the farm labor problem is both migrant
and local. These people mix and are mixed as a labor crew, so we don’t
distinguish between them, so if we say farm laborers, this is not a ques-
tion of farm labor here in this county for 4 or 5 months, and then
someplace up the road and on into the State of Michigan for apples

and cherries and so forth, but they spend longer times here than any-

where else. This is more home to them than anywhere else in the
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country. They receive more services here and more schooling here than
anywhere else in the country.

And, onr major problem we have in the growers’ view with labor
is the quality of the labor that we get. It has decreased considerably
in this country in the last 10 years. Construction has taken a lot of
people out of the agriculture field. The agricultural industry has de-
lined because we have lost about 10,000 acres of production in the
past 10 vears, and we have lost some 200 farmers here in the past 10
vears. And the other reasons for this loss of quality are chronic alco-

L in the workers we get in the fields. You don’t see it much and
I mneh as a problem. but it is a very serious problem. I think the
( rtration of wine and other beverages of this type in the migrant
workers is probably the highest incidence of anybody in the country.

Pride in workmanship is another problem. What you pay for Is
not necessarily what you get.

The physical condition of the laborers, their health which can be
attributed to a lot of things—their living conditions and living stand-
ards. their life style, alcoholism again creeping up here.

s ther one is the poor production per laborer. The amount of
people that are taken to the fields is usually twice what would actually
red to pick the erop. But, they all don’t pick. They all don’t
at a productive rate. They go back and sit on the bus or walk home
one reason or another, and usually you have to double everything
in arder to get & productive crew.

And, the other problem is a chronic shortage of labor in the fields.

Now, this shortage is basically caused by the farm laborers’ par-
ticular life style. This is the bigeest problem in it and this is the biggest
hassle we get into, the rise in everything and the way the laborers
live.

I have brought with me my pay books. We grow sweet corn, 1,600
acres of sweet corn in Dade County. We pick it all here. We don’t use
a crew leader for this either. We hire our own people and we pay our
people off every day, all our picking erews. And, the first thing that
creeps in everybody’s mind is that the farm laborer is ill paid, and
oven if he is paid properly, the money is paid tothe crew chief, and the
crew chief cheats him.

I would say that we have crew leaders in this county that T would
'k in as responsible citizens that would rival any bankers in this

ty. They handle a tremendous amount of money for the farmer
and for the farmworker. And, the farmworker is a very fickle thing.
e will walk out of the fields on almost any premise. And if the crew
leader cheats him, he just won’t come to the fields if they are not treated
in the way they want to be treated. If this happens, they’re gone. They
won't get on his bus and won’t go to the fields with him.

[ have a sample of this pay book here. This is what we paid from
the 1st of January through the day before yesterday. I believe that’s
the last day we picked on this particular corn harvesting machine. It
is a machine that utilizes 38 people to harvest. And, there was 176 dif-
ferent people working on this machine since the 1st of January, 176
people to fill 38 jobs. In 3 months’ time, 176 different people.

Now, we didn’t start out with one crew and fire that crew, because
yon can look at the first people on this list. This is No. 1, the first man,
and he is here all the way through to the end. He is here on the last
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page, on the 6th of April. And he is still there. These people on the first
page are still there, but they’re only there for 1 or 2 or 3 days a week.

Now, the reason why, if you look at the pay scale, the average picker,
and I have averaged it out on my outline here, the average corn picker
made $28.75 a day, for a 6-hour day. They worked to about 2 in the,
afternoon, and at that time they had picked usually in the neighbor-
hood of 2,500 crates per harvesting machine, and that is all in a day.

Now, it is hard work, but they get paid at the rate of $4.70 an hour.

Now, that is not bad pay.

But, if the pay is not the problem, and the pay is so good, why don’t:
these workers come every day ¢ Why aren’t they in that field every day
making the money ¢ The reason is, and this is strictly my opinion, and
it is an opinion that I have studied for a long time, that these people
make enough 2 or 8 days a week to satisfy their living style.

At $28 a day, they make in the course of a week, they make $86.25 »
week, And, that is all they know how to spend in their life style.

Now, their life style is not mine and not yours, none of the members
of this committee. It is an entirely different life they lead. This is one
of the reasons for the acute alcoholism and this is one of the reasons for
the causes of this chronic shortage and the welfare programs and the
food stamps.
~ We had a crop failure 2 years ago which was a disaster, and this
is when they first started the food stamp program for the farmworkers
here. And they ran it about 4 weeks longer than the shortage of crops
lasted. And at that time they finally cut 1t off, and now it is reinstituted
and it is part of the standard procedure at this time,

Now, the minute they did that, it put food stamps in, and when
they put the crops back 1n, that meant 1 less day that the farm laborers
had to work to fulfill his wants. Now, did we do him a favor by allow-
ing him to work 1 less day, making it 1 less day that he could make the
money he know how to spend? I don’t believe so. I don’t believe by
pouring money into a lot of programs that we have, I don’t believe we
can raise the life style of the migrant worker or the farmworker him-
self. Their cost of living is different.

The two new camps, one of which is where the typhoid epidemic
occurred, South Dade Labor Camp, the rate of rental is considerably
different there than you would find any othér place in the county. A
one-bedroom single rents for $13 a week, and a two-bedroom rents for
$15 a week, and a three-bedroom rents for a little more, and that ig
around $19 a week. That means a single male can make in half a day
his rent for a week. So the next thing is, he has to earn enough to eat
on and enough to perhaps make a payment on a car. And, whatever
other entertainment wants he has he earns. But, past that he does
not save it. e does not go down and open a savings account or invest
it in stocks and bonds or anything else. So he has nothing else to spend
his money on.

Consequently, when he makes $40, he sits. He pays his rent, he eats,
he drinks until that is gone.

This is why it takes 176 people to handle these 38 jobs. It is because
these people live on a day-to-day existence, and until something is
done that breaks that particular life style of that day-to-day existence,
they are never going to get out of this particular stream. As long ag
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there is a way to make a living working for 2 or 3 or 4 days a week,
they won't.
Now, the rest of the country doesn’t operate, and the rest of our

society doesn’t operate on thai particular style. We are just not-al-

lowed to. Most of us work 1 week out of the month to pay our housing
bill. not half a day or 2 days a month to pay just for shelter. We allow
these people to live even cheaper in the substandard housing. There
they pay as low as $8 for a one-bedroom house. So the programs that
the Government puts in have got to be in my opinion slanted toward
the idea of changing these people’s life style to something different,
something where they will frankly desire’to work 5 days a week or
6 days a week like everybody else and enjoy the benefits of this society.

Now, the money is there, the possibility of earning, a living is defi-
nitely there in agriculture. But they don’t know how and don’t know
where to put the money after they make it. So, consequently they don’t
bother to earn it.

In the fields, sometimes we have problems with crop failures, or they
are in areas which is particularly susceptible for freezes. And, they
need aid for the migrants, because there is a 3-week or 4-week period
when he cannot make enough to make ends meet.

But. most of the time there is money for everybody to make it if
he wants to. And the minimum wage to pay for the farmworker is
very xood if he desires to worlk 5 days a week.

And, the other thing that I list on here is the housing shortage in
the area. And, in all farm areas, the availability of decent housing—
I would rather somebody with a good deal more expertise on this such
as Mr. Campbell or one of the others would expound on that—but this
1s hasically my presentation and my thoughts on the subject.

Mr. Foro. I think we can go ahead with the whole panel first be-
fore asking any questions. Please go on now, sir.

[Statement of Mr. Campbell follows:]

Q

Prep. » STATEMENT OF EpWARD J. OAMPBELL, ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT, C. C.
CARPENTER F'ARMS, AND PRESIDENT, DADE COUNTY AGRICULTURAL COUNCIL

My name is Bdward “Jack” Campbell, Homestead, Fla. I am an executive with
the €. T Carpenter Farms, Inc., Homestead, Fla.

I have worked in South Florida agriculture all of my life. At the present time
T am President of the Dade County Agri-Council and Sec't. and Treas. of the
South Fla. Tomato & Vegetable Growers Association.

I have worked for migrant lahor causes for the past 15 years. I was one of
the founders of the Redland Christian Migrant Ass'n. and served as it’'s Presi-
dent for § years. T have also served on other boards, committees ete., County,
State, and Federal over the years in service to our agriculture labor.

I present briefly some components of the agricultural industry
1 Florida and their relationship to the migrant lahor force.

FIRST THE PEOPLE AND THE INDUSTRY

From 7,000 to 10000 migrant agriculture workers come into this area each year

10 W Dade County’s §75,000,000 annval crop production, This generates a
total agri-business of over $250,000,000 in Dade County, a major industry by any-

one’s srandards.
The nt workers supplement local agriculture workers for a total employ-
menf of over 20,000 workers in Dade County.
The migrant force consists of :
1. Mostly Mexican Americans.
2. Mostly large family groups.
3. Poorly educated with some language difficulties,
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4. Controlled to a large degree by crew leaders: . .

5. From. a survey of Dade County Migrant labor by the Univ. of Miami (1966)
we get the following information: (¢) Workers per family, 2.8; (b) Income:per
family $137.00 per wk. Average; and (c¢) Those that favor Dade County ove
all other areas 739. :

The average stay is approx. 5 months each season.

These are self supporting, productive people, independent, and very much de-
serving of our full support. ]
SOME ECONOMIC CONSIDERATIONS IN REFERENCE 70 OUR SOUTH FLORIDA MIGRANT

LABOR

There is an intricate relationship in our Eastern labor migrant stream that
works incredibly well balanced and efficient. South Florida attracts the migrant
workers in the Fall after the last of the crops are picked in the North, They
stay here until early Spring and move up the line with the maturing crops.as
the weather warms, Ruskin, Fi. Piece, Georgia, Carolina, Virginia, and last
N.Y. N.J. and Penn. Our area is in my opinion the key link to the success of
this orderly and necessary chain in the labor movement to meet job requirements.

HOUSING

Housing is the primary problem of the farm migrant worker and his family.
They are in a constant struggle to find shelter much less good living accommoda-
tions,

Much of the problem lies in the nature of the migrant himself and his seasonal
work. These people meet all of the criteria of the unprofitable tenant. A real
landlords nightmare, -

1. They are short term, temporary renters, many are in the area for only a
short time depending on the crops and the area. Some areas for only a few
weeks.

2. They have a tendency to crowd more than one family in a house,

3. They are very fluid in their living style. Families may move from crew to
crew within the same housing center,

4. Large families are the rule. Many families with over 6 children.

5. They are poorly educated, difficult to communicate with.

6. They are destructive of property. This is usunally the case under crowded
conditions where there ig a large number of children.

So the profit motive for buiding houses for these people does not properly
apply. This, I think, is one of the big problems in getting housing for these
people.

Federal and State help is a must for these people in this important area and
it has been sadly inadequate. )

In Dade County in the late 50's there were over 70 migrant labor camps. Today
there are only 13. The economies of farm labor housing was just too much for
farmers, especially in the light of the cost price squeeze and the increasing
Mexican competition. The farmers literally could not afford to house their people
anymore.

Some of the larger farmers have had the courage and the financial ability to

aintain ageing housing despite economic loss and considerable abuse. More
farm labor housing will close down this year in our area. Most of which is long
past due to be replaced. I question, however, closing down what little is left
Lefore replacement housing can be built, .

I am reminded of the late 50’s when hundreds of families were sleeping and
living on canal banks and in trucks. The news media was justifiably brutal in
its national coverage of these events. The huge old B & L (Mexico City Labor
Camp) was reopened to alleviate this situation. This camp was closed 4 yeary
ago.

Gentlemen, we are fast approaching a situation that could be disastrous to
the farmers. the migrants, the community, the State and the Federal government.
We will all have to share some of the blame for these coming events.

CREW LEADERS

The crew leader is an absolutely essential part of an efficient farm labor system.
1. The crew leaders are responsible for the orderly movement of large groups
of workers from one farmer to the next and one crop to the next sometimes all
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{n the same day, giving a full employment situation for his people out of piece
c.wm.,: work situations. There has to be a broker or middleman in this type
gituation.

2 The crew leader arranges for the movement of labor from area to area,
erop to crop, based on supply and demand. He arranges for housing, finances,
tr wortation and all the other little details necessary for the movement of
waps from area to area for the most important work.

s the crew leader that takes the siek child to the hospital in the middle
of the night, helps the families during freeze and crop failure periods, loans
‘moergencies and generally keeps a crew going.

¢ is no way farmers can get this type of work done by regular employees,
c. The system works and no other system will.

much re I would like to say but time is limited.

migrant labor force is among America’s most efficient and valuable labor
We should strive to help them in their profession. More and better hous-
a4 must. The crew leader should be helped in refining his profession. Edu-
nee, day care and emergency aid are all areas where additional
8 i8 necessary.

Thank you.

Mr. Cameprrin. Thank you. My name is Jack Campbell. I am an
executive with C. C. Carpenter Farms. And I have worked in agri-
culture in South Dade all my life.

At the present time I am president of the Dade County Agricultural
Couneil and secretary and treasurer of the South F lorida Tomato and
Vegetable Growers Association.

I have worked in migrant labor causes in and for Florida for the
past 15 years, and T was one of the founders of the Florida Redland
Christian Migrant Association and was president of that association
for 6 years. I've also served on various other boards and committees
and so forth on the county, State and Federal level in this particular
field of service to our agriculture labor.

And, T would like to present briefly just some components of the
agricultural industry in south Florida and its relationship to the mi-
grant labor foree.

First, the people and the industry.

Some 7.000 to 10,000 migrant agricultural workers come into this
area each year to work Dade County’s $75 million annual erop pro-
duction. This generates a total agribusiness of over $250 million in
Dade County, which certainly is a major industry by anybody’s stand-
And. that is not all. We grow tomatoes, but we have all kinds
\r crops with it, so this generates a total business of that $250
m annually.

igrant worker supplement local agricultural workers that we
use, which is approximately 20,000 individuals in the fields in Dade
County.

The migrant force consists mostly of Mexican-Americans. They are
mostly in large family groups. And this is important in consider-
ing these people, because you have to consider what they do and what
constitutes these laborers and who we are talking about. They are
poorly educated and generally have some language difficulties. So, of
course, this limits their field of work. They are controlled to a large
ee T< Cresy _H:D.ln;em.

I might say that T assisted the University of Miami in a survey
they took in our area, I believe in 1966 involving Dade County migrant
lahor. And, they came up with the following information, which I be-
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lieve can be considered unhiased. And, this is just for thier own infor-
mation that they did this.

Workers per family among the migrant force, 2.8. Income per
family, $137 per week average. Now, this is based again on over two
people working in the family, usually the wife works, and maybe one or
two others in the family. And, the significant factor here is that 73 per-
cent of these people surveyed preferred Dade County to any other
county in the entire Nation, including New York State or any other
State supposedly more progressive than Florida. And, we have com-
munity action and good church groups working with these people, and
a very good county health department and other services, especially in
the educational field, which 1 think is the best in the country working
with these people.

These people in my opinion are self-supporting and very productive
as far as our society is concerned, much more so than the average
laborers. They are independent, and they deserve every support we
can give them.

There are some economic considerations that we have to consider
here in this area in reference to our south Florida migrant labor. There
is an intricate relationship in our eastern labor migrant stream that
is incredibly well-balanced and efficient. Each area depends on these
particular workers here to serve their area as their weather warms up.
They go to Ruskin, which comes into production here 1n about 2
weeks. And they will go completely busted if our workers here did not
move into their area when they are through with the crops here. If
our crops run late, they are in trouble to start with. .

And from Ruskin, we have them going north to Fort Pierce, to
Georgia, to Carolina, to Virginia, and lastly to New York, New
Jersey and Pennsylvania. o o

Just like Senator Pepper said, moving upstream, it 1s an intricately
balanced working force. And I think our area is a key link to success.
And our area is in my opinion the key link to the success of this
orderly and necessary chain in the labor movement to meet these job
requirements. )

In other words, they come south, and if they don’t come here, they
wouldn’t have a basis to start back north with. And I don’t know
what would happen to some of the other crop areas then. T really don’t.

Now, my concern mainly with migrants is that I think everybody
has let the migrant force down in the field of housing. You can have
all the education and all the social and welfare programs you want,
but if they don’t have a decent house 1n which to live, he has nothing
to start with at all. ]

T have operated labor camps and I still do operate one. And it
doesn’t belong to me, but I operate it for the sole purpose of people hav-
ing nowhere else to go. If they don’t have these places to go, 1t can
be a real calamity. And this has happened here before. It was a na-
tional diserace. And this could happen again this coming year. And, in
the late fifties hundreds of families were sleeping and living on canal
banks and in trucks. And this made such an impression on me that I
have been after this housing ever since. I haven’t been successful, I
will admit. but T’m always in the battle for better housing. ,

Now, why is this housing such a problem? You say, why couldn’t
there be more housing furnished ? Let’s look at the people themselves
first.




